# The determinants of dispersal and

# migratory movements of long-lived birds

Marta Acácio



Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Environmental Sciences

University of East Anglia

2021

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived therefrom must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

## Abstract

Individual movement is influenced by many factors, from intrinsic individual traits to extrinsic environmental conditions. These can determine the onset, duration, and direction of movements, with potential consequences for individual fitness, adaptation to on-going environmental change and, ultimately, species conservation. In this thesis, I combine GPS tracking technology and accelerometery, with remote sensing and weather data, aiming to explore the drivers and mechanisms underlying the movement behaviour of long-lived bird species. The detailed study of individual movement has highly profited from technological advances in GPS tracking equipment, and, here, I show that the accuracy of these devices is not negatively affected by their deployment on large birds. In the first study of the movement ecology of Shoebills Balaeniceps rex, I show that their movements are determined by changes in surface water, suggesting different habitat use between adult and immature Shoebills. By exploring the long-distance autumn migrations of White Storks Ciconia ciconia travelling over a three-month period, I show that the timing of migration determines the weather conditions storks find en route, with implications for migratory performance, energy expenditure, and migration destination. Finally, I describe the ontogeny of migratory strategies of White Storks, to further increase our understanding on the mechanisms underlying this species recent loss of migratory behaviour. I show that the use of anthropogenic food subsidies does not influence the migratory strategy of immature storks, instead storks with lower flight and migratory performance are more likely to decrease migratory distance and become resident. Overall, this research adds to the understanding of how birds respond to the environmental conditions and emphasizes the importance of long-term tracking to study individuals throughout their lives. Additionally, it provides new insights on the mechanisms through which species are adapting to environmental change and highlights the role of individual experience on the loss of migratory behaviour.

#### **Access Condition and Agreement**

Each deposit in UEA Digital Repository is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the Data Collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission from the copyright holder, usually the author, for any other use. Exceptions only apply where a deposit may be explicitly provided under a stated licence, such as a Creative Commons licence or Open Government licence.

Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone, unless explicitly stated under a Creative Commons or Open Government license. Unauthorised reproduction, editing or reformatting for resale purposes is explicitly prohibited (except where approved by the copyright holder themselves) and UEA reserves the right to take immediate 'take down' action on behalf of the copyright and/or rights holder if this Access condition of the UEA Digital Repository is breached. Any material in this database has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the material may be published without proper acknowledgement.

# Table of contents

Abstract	2
List of figures	4
List of tables	6
Acknowledgements	8
Chapter 1	
General introduction	10
Chapter 2	
Performance of GPS/GPRS tracking devices improves with increased fix	
interval and is not affected by animal deployment	59
Chapter 3	
Changes in surface water drive the movements of Shoebills	86
Chapter 4	
Timing of migration influences the performance and destination of a	
long-distance migrant	118
Chapter 5	
Individual experience facilitates changes in migratory behaviour and	
adaptation to environmental change	157
Chapter 6	
General conclusion	181
Appendix 1	200
Appendix 2	209

# List of figures

# Chapter 1

Figure 1.1	World distribution of Shoebills	30
Figure 1.2	World distribution of White Storks	32
Figure 1.3	Different methodologies to identify the start of migration of White	
	Storks	35
Figure 1.4	Accelerometer calibration tests for 3 GPS-tracking device models	37
Figure 1.5	White Stork behaviour observations	38
Figure 1.6	Overall Dynamic Body Acceleration (ODBA) of several White Stork	
	behaviours	39

# Chapter 2

Figure 2.1	Horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision of devices	
	programmed in different GPS fix intervals	70
Figure 2.2	Horizontal and vertical accuracy variability of devices programmed	
	on a 20 and 60 min GPS fix interval	71
Figure 2.3	Identification of inaccurate positions in different GPS fix intervals	73
Figure 2.4	Cumulative frequency of horizontal and vertical accuracy before	
	and after deployment on White Storks	74
Figure 2.5	Position of the tracking devices on the back of pre-fledging White	
	Storks	77

Figure 3.1	Description of the study area	96
Figure 3.2	Map of Shoebill home ranges	99
Figure 3.3	Frequency of the maximum daily distance moved by Shoebills	100
Figure 3.4	Boxplots of the mean maximum daily distance per month, for	
	individual immature and adult Shoebills, between 2011 and 2018	101
Figure 3.5	Diagram describing the analysed spatial and temporal relationships	
	of Shoebill movements	104

Figure 4.1	White Stork autumn migration routes, timing, and migration	
	destination	127
Figure 4.2	Influence of timing of start leg 1, leg 2 and leg 3 on White Stork	
	migratory performance	133
Figure 4.3	Influence of timing of start leg 3 (crossing the Sahara Desert) on the	
	destination of autumn migration	136
Figure 4.4	Influence of timing of starting leg 1, leg 2 and leg 3 on the weather	
	conditions experienced by White Storks	138
Figure 4.5	Wind conditions experienced by White Storks crossing each	
	migratory leg on the 1st (early birds) and 3rd (late birds) quartile of	
	the migration period	139
Figure 4.6	Influence of zonal wind speed (m/s) on White Stork longitudinal	
	speed (m/s) when crossing migratory leg 3 (from the Atlas	
	Mountains until south of the Sahara Desert), with a significant	
	interaction with timing of start migratory leg 3	141

## Chapter 5

Figure 5.1	Plasticity of migratory behaviour during White Stork development	162
Figure 5.2	Influence of autumn migration timing and flight efficiency on	
	subsequent year's migratory distance	170
Figure 5.3	Influence of White Stork flight efficiency during spring and pre-	
	migratory period on subsequent year's migration distance	171
Figure S5.1	Location of landfills and rubbish dumps in Portugal, Spain, and	
	Morocco	179

Figure 6.1	Different migratory phenotypes of adult White Storks from the	
	Portuguese population	191

# List of tables

# Chapter 2

Table 2.1	Number of devices and locations collected during stationary and	
	deployment tests	69

## Chapter 3

Table 3.1	Information of the tracked Shoebills	93
Table 3.2	Description of Shoebill home ranges	98
Table 3.3	Results of the GLMM models	103

Table 4.1	Summary of adult and juvenile White Stork migration	
	characteristics for the whole migration and for the three different	
	migration legs	132
Table 4.2	Results of the LMMs, testing the influence of timing of White Stork	
	migration and age on migration duration and on the number of	
	migratory and stopover days	134
Table 4.3	Results of the LMMs (and GLMM, for route straightness), testing	
	the influence of timing of White Stork migration and age on	
	migration beeline distance, route straightness and flight ODBA	135
Table 4.4	Results of LMMs, testing the relationship between the latitude and	
	longitude of the migration destination of White Storks, and the date	
	of start each leg and age of the bird	137
Table 4.5	Results of LMMs, testing the relationship between weather	
	conditions White Stork's experienced (mean boundary layer height,	
	mean wind support, and mean zonal wind speed) and timing of	
	migration and age	140
Table 4.6	Results of LMM, testing the relationship between White Stork	
	longitudinal speed and age, timing of migration, zonal wind speed,	
	and an interaction between these two fixed effects	142

Table 5.1	Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous	
	year arrival date at the wintering area and flight efficiency (flight	
	ODBA) during autumn migration, on the following year's migration	
	distance	170
Table 5.2	Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous	
	spring flight efficiency (flight ODBA) and landfill use, on the	
	following year's migration distance	171
Table 5.3	Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous	
	pre-migratory period flight efficiency (flight ODBA), on the following	
	year's migration distance	171
Table 5.4	Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous	
	pre-migratory period landfill use, on the following year's migration	
	distance	172
Table S5.1	Correlation between autumn migration performance metrics	180

## Acknowledgements

This PhD was funded by NEXUSS, a Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) Centre for Doctoral Training (CDT).

I am extremely grateful to all my supervisors, for their expertise and invaluable advice. Particularly Aldina Franco, Phil Atkinson and João Paulo Silva, for their guidance and for believing in me even before starting the PhD. I am especially grateful to Aldina, who was always more than a scientific supervisor; she was a mentor and an inspiration, with an infectious optimism that made me smile and boost my self-assurance even in the darkest of times. I will miss those 5-minute meetings that turn into 2-hour long conversations!

I am very fortunate that my PhD was a part of an exciting research project, so I would like to thank all the team members of "Birds on the move", particularly Andrea Soriano-Redondo and Inês Catry. A special thanks to Inês, for the help and laughter when on the field, and for the insightful discussions and revisions when back in the office. Thank you for the patience and encouragement, from my first solo GPS-deployment, to the "send that bloody thesis draft!".

I am very grateful to Arjun Amar for receiving me at the Fitz, in 2018, and for the extremely helpful insights during our meetings. Cape Town was an incredible experience thanks to everyone I met at UCT, and outside of it, so thanks to all!

Fieldwork was the most fantastic period of my PhD, and it was so because of the company of my fieldwork buddies, Bruno Herlander Martins, João Gameiro, and Moamba, of course! A massive thank you to Carlos Pacheco and Luís Venâncio for all the help with the black storks. A big thank you to all master students and volunteers that helped us monitoring and tagging white and black storks over the years. While fieldwork was fun, being in the office was not very far behind, because of everyone in CEEC and ENV. I am very grateful to everyone with whom I've shared SCI 01.09 (and adjacent offices) over my many years at UEA: Ana Cristina, Agatha, Anderson, Babi, Becci, Cristina (and André!), Davi, Jethro, Juliana, Marina, Richard, Rita, Rob, Osgur, Pierre, Valentina and Yoav. I really miss you all! A special thank you to Kate Rogerson, that inspired me to follow the stork path, to John Burnside, for all the coffee breaks and overall fun in and out of UEA, and to Claire Buchan, for the support (technical, but mostly emotional), particularly during this last year.

I am extremely fortunate to have found a second office during my time in Portugal, particularly during COVID. A big thank you to all the office mates in CIBIO, ISA, for warmly taking me under their (bird and bat) wings.

To my FCUL university friends (the gang!) and to all my non-university friends, both in Norwich and in Lisbon. Particularly the oldies (but goldies!): Soraia, Nuno, Tiago, André, Susana, Sara, Joana e Hanne. You are an essential part of my life and I couldn't have finished this thesis without your love and friendship. I know that no matter where I go, or how long I am away for, I will always have your friendship to come home to.

Finally, I would have never made it this far without the unconditional love, care, and encouragement of my family: my parents, Aurélia and Carlos, my sister, Carla, my grandma, Alda, and my extended family, Madalena, Marta, and Lola. I am so extremely grateful for your patience and for staying by my side and believing in me throughout this journey. I love you all! A very special thank you to my sister, Carla, who was always my greatest inspiration in life, from the first day I stepped into this world, to this very day, still. For always visiting me, independently where I've lived, and for taking care of everything and everyone back at home. You are the cornerstone of this family and none of us would make it without you. Surely grandma is now wondering if I'll finally stop studying and get a real job?

# - Chapter 1 -

# **General introduction**



Standing there on the embankment, staring into the current, I realized that

– In spite of all the risks involved –

a thing in motion will always be better than a thing at rest; (...)

that which is static will degenerate and decay, turn to ash,

while that which is in motion is able to last for all eternity.

– Olga Tokarczuk –

General introduction

## 1.1 Animal movement and migration

Movement is ubiquitous across the animal world, from small zooplankton performing diel vertical movements in the ocean water column, to large elephants moving across the savannahs. Animal movement has effects on all ecological levels: it affects the moving individual, promotes or impedes intra and inter-specific interactions, it shapes the distribution of populations, and the flow of nutrients, propagules, and pathogens across ecosystems (Shaw, 2020). Animal movement can be subdivided into four basic mechanistic components: i) why individuals move (which asks questions on the internal state of organisms), ii) how do individuals move (analysing the locomotion of individuals), iii) when and where individuals move (studying the navigational skills), and finally iv) what are the external factors that may determine and influence individual movement (e.g., biotic factors – predators and resources, and abiotic factors – environmental conditions and landscape) (Nathan et al., 2008).

The movement ecology of birds has been widely studied, as they are an excellent group to address these questions: bird movements and migrations are fascinating, most species are easy to visually identify in the field, and, through bird ringing and tracking, it is also possible to identify individual birds (Newton, 2008). Whilst birds are generally referred to being either resident or migratory, there are several types of bird movements, including small everyday movements, mostly related to foraging or intra- and inter-specific interactions, larger dispersive movements, including post-breeding dispersal, erratic nomadic movements, and predictable seasonal round-trip migratory movements, often involving several thousand of kilometres (Mueller & Fagan, 2008; Newton, 2008; Shaw, 2020).

Migration is a fascinating phenomenon due to the large scale of the movements observed and the large number of animals that conduct these periodic movements. These long-distance movements are likely driven by the need to track spatially and temporally

varying food sources (Somveille et al., 2015), while also avoiding harsh climatic conditions (Boyle et al., 2010). Migration has evolved separately in many animal groups and is likely expressed when the benefits outweigh the costs (Alerstam et al., 2003). An obvious and very important benefit of migration is the occupancy of areas when foraging resources are abundant, and avoidance of areas when resource availability is low, reducing intra-specific competition (Furey et al., 2018; Teitelbaum & Mueller, 2019) and increasing winter survival (Newton, 2008; Winger & Pegan, 2021).

To migrate from the breeding to the non-breeding grounds, species have evolved morphological and physiological adaptations which enable efficient energy accumulation and locomotion, as well as behavioural adaptations that allow for the optimal use of environmental factors (e.g., winds and orientation cues) (Åkesson & Hedenström, 2007; Newton, 2008). Moreover, many young birds migrate thousands of kilometres guided by an inherited genetic program (Åkesson & Helm, 2020; Liedvogel et al., 2011), containing information on the time, direction, and distance of the migratory movements (Thorup et al., 2007, 2020). However, within-population variation in migratory routes and timing is common and can derive from genetic variation in the migratory program, but also from individual interactions with social and environmental factors (Åkesson & Helm, 2020).

In the Northern Hemisphere, a large number of bird species is migratory (Somveille et al., 2015) and many perform long-distance migrations across continents. These long, energy expensive migratory journeys can be dangerous, with risks encountered *en route* (e.g., predation, stochastic weather events), or at arrival at the distant and often unknown wintering grounds. It is therefore not surprising that migration is the season of highest mortality for several species (Buechley et al., 2021; Lok et al., 2015), and that many migratory species seem to be declining (Vickery et al., 2014), whilst species with more diverse movement strategies seem to be more resilient to environmental change (Gilroy et al., 2016).

General introduction

## 1.2 The determinants of movement

Individual movement is determined and influenced by many biotic and abiotic factors, such as body condition, competition, environmental factors, amongst others (Nathan et al., 2008). These can establish but also affect the onset, duration, and direction of movements, at small and large spatial scales. For instance, food deprivation can determine the everyday movements of birds (Spiegel et al., 2013) but delay the onset of large migratory movements (Cooper et al., 2015), and the presence of water can govern the short-distance movements of waterfowl (Kleyheeg et al., 2017) but also induce large migratory movements at a continental scale (Roshier et al., 2002).

#### Timing of movements

The timing of movements, particularly long migratory movements, is crucial to ensure the success of the journey. The onset of migratory movements depends on a variety of cues, both internal (e.g., fuel stores, knowledge of the route) and environmental (e.g., day length, wind direction, social factors) (Alerstam et al., 2003; Winkler et al., 2014), and the phenology of migratory movements has been shaped to enable individuals to take advantage of predictable environmental phenomena during migration and in their destinations (Alerstam et al., 2003; Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2017). In fact, when long-distance migrants start their migratory movements, they use local indicators that allow them to anticipate the conditions in distant sites and at later times (Winkler et al., 2014).

The timing of migration determines the conditions birds find on arrival at the wintering and breeding grounds. If birds arrive too early the boom of foraging resources may have not yet occurred, if they arrive too late the environmental conditions may already have

General introduction

deteriorated, and food availability may be decreasing (Samplonius et al., 2021), which can have detrimental consequences for population growth rates (Both et al., 2006). When arriving at the breeding grounds, early birds may have access to better nest sites and mates (Kokko, 1999), leading to higher breeding success (Gilsenan et al., 2020), but may face worse weather conditions *en route*, leading to higher energetic costs during migration (Rotics et al., 2018).

Many bird species show high individual consistency in the timing of migration (e.g., Gill et al., 2014; Gilsenan et al., 2020), evidencing that endogenous cues govern the start of migratory journeys (Åkesson & Helm, 2020). However, there are also species with individuals capable of adjusting the start of migratory movements in response to environmental conditions, for example, by delaying the start of spring migration if the environmental conditions in the wintering areas are poor and there is lower prey availability (Schlaich et al., 2016; Studds & Marra, 2011). Moreover, some species can adjust their migratory timing to the conditions experienced in the previous year, suggesting a mechanism through which long-distance migrants may be able to adjust the migration phenology to environmental change (Amélineau et al., 2021). Additionally, important shifts in population phenology may arise through individual flexibility in migratory timing (Conklin et al., 2021), therefore it is crucial to understand how environmental conditions influence individual migratory timing, routes and overall migratory behaviour.

#### Environmental conditions

The environmental conditions individuals experience can determine their movement behaviour, influencing every-day and dispersal movements, as well as long-distance migratory movements. In fact, environmental conditions are the main architects of long-distance migratory movements: changes in climate and food available formulate the onset of migration

(Somveille et al., 2015), whilst landscape features, such as ecological barriers or resource distribution, and weather *en route* shape the migratory flyways (Kranstauber et al., 2015; Vansteelant et al., 2021; Ventura et al., 2020).

Landscape features, such as the presence of ecological barriers (mountain ranges, oceans, or deserts) can significantly alter the movement behaviour of individuals, particularly during long-distance migration. Ecological barriers can impede movement (Santos et al., 2020), cause birds to create detours in their migratory routes (Vansteelant et al., 2017), but it can also lead to changes in movement behaviour, for example, by increasing the length of time birds fly per day (Efrat et al., 2019), or through the induction of non-stop flight behaviour (Gill Jr et al., 2009). On the other hand, when foraging resources are available in the landscape, birds can change their migratory behaviour, by adopting a "fly-forage" migratory strategy (Klaassen et al., 2008).

Weather is extremely important in determining when, to where and how movement occurs (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2017). Lesser Black-backed Gulls *Larus fuscus* select their foraging habitat according to the weather conditions (Isaksson et al., 2015; Sotillo et al., 2022) and periods of intense rainfall may incite the nomadic movements of waterfowl in semi-arid landscapes (Roshier et al., 2002). Weather conditions can provoke the onset of migration (e.g., daily temperature, Burnside et al., 2021), and enhance migratory performance, by increasing daily speeds and displacements (e.g., tailwinds, Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2003), but it can also hamper migratory progression (Pastorino et al., 2017) and even lead to mortality (Loonstra et al., 2019).

Winds are particularly important during migratory movements, as they can allow birds to fly more efficiently (Bohrer et al., 2012) and minimise energy expenditure (Amélineau et al., 2014; Duriez et al., 2014). Winds can also shape migratory routes (Kranstauber et al., 2015), promote unintended detours (Patchett & Cresswell, 2020) and determine bird's

General introduction

wintering areas, ultimately influencing population migratory connectivity (Norevik et al., 2020; Vansteelant et al., 2017).

In summary, environmental conditions are crucial in determining bird's movement behaviour, yet how these determine the movement strategies of long-lived birds as they age is not fully known. Moreover, how individuals respond to their environment depends on a number of individual traits, from their age (Harel et al., 2016) to their body condition (Cooper et al., 2015). Only by combining individual and environmental features in movement ecology studies, will it be possible to understand how movement patterns emerge and what mechanisms lead to the development of different migratory behaviours (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2017).

#### Individual traits

The internal state of individuals (e.g., health and body condition), or their characteristics (e.g., body size and sex), can have profound effects on their movement behaviour. For example, hunger shapes the individual movement patterns of Griffon Vultures *Gyps fulvus* (Spiegel et al., 2013), and the overall body condition of individuals may influence the migratory decisions of birds (Schmaljohann & Naef-Daenzer, 2011), with lean individuals delaying migration departure (Cooper et al., 2015) or avoiding crossing ecological barriers (Smolinsky et al., 2013). Additionally, individual body size can also impact the movement decisions of the individuals: smaller individuals may be more prone to migrate as a result of their inability to tolerate cold temperatures (Belthoff & Gauthreaux, 1991) or their failure to successfully compete for foraging resources or territories (Smith & Nilsson, 1987).

Individual's sex is often highly correlated with body size and may also determine their movement behaviour. During migration, different sexes may adopt different routes (Deakin

et al., 2019), may migrate at different times of the year (Briedis et al., 2019) and even winter in different areas (Bell et al., 2021). However, having sex-specific movement or foraging strategies may disproportionally expose certain individuals to greater risks (Ferrer & Hiraldo, 1992). For example, female Brown Skuas *Catharacta antarctica lonnbergi* forage more frequently on agricultural fields than males, which makes them more vulnerable to culling by farmers (Schultz et al., 2021).

Overall, individual flexibility in movement and foraging behaviour, may increase species resilience to environmental change, when compared with species with less plastic behaviours (Bell et al., 2021; Gilroy et al., 2016). For long-lived species, this flexibility can occur throughout the individual's life, therefore it is important to understand how individuals interact with their environments as they age, and how past experiences may determine the movement strategies adopted in consecutive years.

## 1.3 The ontogeny of movement

The study of the ontogeny of movement aims to determine how individuals move and interact with their environment as they mature. Overall, older individuals select better foraging locations (Riotte-lambert & Weimerskirch, 2013), have higher foraging efficiency (Fayet et al., 2015; Grecian et al., 2018), better migratory performance (Rotics et al., 2016; Sergio et al., 2014) and are superior at taking advantage of environmental conditions (Harel et al., 2016).

Long-lived birds, in particular, have the ability to learn from past experiences and improve their migratory performance throughout their maturation stage (Campioni et al., 2020; Sergio et al., 2014). Moreover, flock-living birds also have the possibility of learning from conspecifics: Greater Snow Geese *Anser caerulescens atlanticus* select alternative stopover sites, depending on the expected disturbance cause by hunting (Béchet et al., 2003) and

General introduction

younger Whooping Cranes *Grus americana* learn from older individuals new wintering grounds, significantly decreasing the distance they must undertake during migration (Teitelbaum et al., 2016). In some species, juveniles on their first migration are so dependent on the presence of conspecifics that are not able to successfully complete their migration if travelling alone (Chernetsov et al., 2004). Nevertheless, not all species migrate in flocks, and many birds must embark on their first and later migrations without conspecifics.

#### Migratory performance improvements with age

For many species, the period between fledging and the start of their first migration is quite short, occasionally only a few days long (Wynn et al., 2021). In this brief period, birds must learn to forage and fly with enough efficiency that will allow them to survive on their first migration. Thus, it is unsurprising that first year juveniles have worse migratory performance than adults (Mellone et al., 2013), likely as a result of the poorer navigational skills (Åkesson et al., 2005), slower migratory speeds (Sergio et al., 2014) and poorer flight performance (Harel et al., 2016), with lower soaring/flapping ratios and thus higher flight energetic costs (Rotics et al., 2016).

The first migration is of particular importance as it can establish routes and stopover areas used in subsequent migrations (Åkesson & Weimerskirch, 2005). During their first year, juveniles seem to quickly improve their overall flight performance: White Storks *Ciconia ciconia* on their first autumn migration gradually decrease the amount of energy they spend when flying until resembling adults when arriving at the wintering grounds (Rotics et al., 2016). Likewise, young Wandering Albatrosses *Diomedea exulans* achieve the same daily movement speeds as adults approximately 6 months after fledging (Weimerskirch et al., 2006).

Despite this fast development, it can take several years before birds reach their full migratory performance (Campioni et al., 2020). Few studies manage to track individuals throughout their whole maturation stage, but Sergio et al., 2014 showed an improvement in migratory skills of Black Kites *Milvus migrans* on birds between 1-27 years of age. However, this gradual improvement was slower than previously expected, as it took 7 years for kites to become highly repeatable and efficient in their migratory journeys. Additionally, at the population level, this overall improvement was a combination of individuals enhancing their migratory skills and the selective mortality of the birds with worse performance, mainly in the early life stages (Sergio et al., 2014).

#### Handling environmental conditions in different life stages

On the first post-breeding migration, birds are likely driven by a strong endogenous program (Wynn et al., 2021) which can lead young birds along similar routes as adults (Thorup et al., 2020). However, this is not always the case, and juvenile birds can show a more diverse range of migration orientations than adults (Åkesson et al., 2005). For example, juvenile Honey Buzzards *Pernis apivorus* migrate independently and display a higher variety of routes than adult birds, including in the crossing of water bodies (Hake et al., 2003). Moreover, for juvenile Honey Buzzards, their wintering area is strongly dependent on the winds experienced on migration (Vansteelant et al., 2017), which can be partially explained by the worse ability of juvenile birds to compensate for wind drift (Thorup et al., 2003).

Nonetheless, juvenile birds seem to have an innate ability to cope with the environmental conditions. For instance, juvenile Wandering Albatrosses select the departure dates in relation to the suitable winds (Åkesson & Weimerskirch, 2005). In fact, when faced with suitable environmental conditions, inexperienced birds can perform nearly as well as

adults when foraging (e.g., day-light foraging in albatrosses, Pajot et al., 2021) and flying (e.g., Griffon Vultures climbing rates in thermals in low wind shear, Harel et al., 2016). It is only when the environmental conditions are more challenging (e.g., night-time foraging or stronger wind shears) that the differences between these two age groups are exacerbated (Harel et al., 2016; Pajot et al., 2021), which may constrain juvenile's adaptation to new and tougher environments. Studying long-lived species and analysing their age-related and individual responses to diverse environmental conditions, can thus help understand the mechanisms that enable species' adaptation to global environmental change.

# 1.4 Understanding recent shifts in movement behaviour in response to global environmental change

Human-induced change in climate and distribution and quality of habitats can severely impact the avifauna around the world, culminating in losses of over 500 million of individual birds since the 1980s in the European Union alone (Burns et al., 2021). Long-distance migrants are disproportionally affected by environmental change (Vickery et al., 2014), particularly those species that are not being able to adjust their migratory behaviour (Møller et al., 2008). However, species that can retain some migratory diversity (i.e., within-population diversity in migratory movements and destinations) are less vulnerable to environmental change when compared to full migrants or residents (Gilroy et al., 2016).

Birds have the ability to rapidly adapt to new environmental conditions, and species have been changing their migratory behaviour, phenology, and distance (Gordo, 2007; Wilcove & Wikelski, 2008). Spectacular examples include drastic shifts in breeding grounds (e.g., over 8,000km shift in the range of Cliff Swallows *Petrochelidon pyrrhonota*, Areta et al.,

2021), or even the loss of migratory behaviour altogether, with the establishment of resident populations in previously fully migratory species (e.g., White Storks in Iberia Catry et al., 2017).

Species migratory behaviour can constrain their phenological response to environmental change, as long-distance migrants seem to be slower at advancing their migratory and breeding phenology than short-distance migrants or residents (Rubolini et al., 2010; Samplonius et al., 2018). Long-distance migrants are also more vulnerable to the loss of critical stopover sites while on migration, and the disappearance or degradation of these sites can induce population declines in migratory birds (Xu et al., 2019). Nonetheless, environmental changes that improves climate suitability and food availability in the breeding areas during the non-breeding season, allowing for the year-round settlement of individuals in the breeding grounds and creating partial migratory populations, may lead to the increase of population size in otherwise endangered species (Catry et al., 2017).

#### Predictable anthropogenic food subsidies

Another example of how human activities have been shaping communities and ecosystems is through the provisioning of predictable anthropogenic food subsidies (PAFS) to animals (Oro et al., 2013). These PAFS can take a variety of forms and can be deliberate (e.g., bird feeders or animal feeding in public parks) or incidental (e.g., landfills and fishery discards), but all influence individuals, communities, and ecosystems by changing processes such as competition, predator-prey interactions, and nutrient and disease transfer between biomes (Oro et al., 2013). These food subsidies can also buffer opportunistic species from natural variation in resource availability (Sotillo et al., 2022), allowing these species to increase and/or maintain large population sizes.

General introduction

Globally, humans waste 30-40% of the produced food (Oro et al., 2013; Parfitt et al., 2010), which may become available for birds and other animals in open air landfills and rubbish dumps. Species are taking advantage of this abundant food resource, leading to changes in species distribution (Tauler-Ametller et al., 2017) as well as in their movement and foraging behaviours (Gilbert et al., 2016). Despite the risks of foraging on landfills (e.g., increased mortality risk by collision with powerlines (Marcelino et al., 2021), there are several advantages in relying on landfills. There, the food is abundant and predictable, thus foraging on landfills can be an energy-saving strategy: White Storks feeding in these areas spend less time foraging and spend less energy overall, even when accounting for the extra distance they must travel to access the landfills (Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021). Consequently, birds relying on landfills have increased body mass (Plaza & Lambertucci, 2018) and experience fewer food shortages (Tauler-ametlller et al., 2019) than birds foraging on natural areas.

However, the regulations on waste management are changing, with the aim of reducing the amount of waste that is being deposited on open air landfills in Europe. In May 2018, the European Commission adopted a new target to reduce landfill deposits to a maximum of 10% of municipal waste by 2030 (EU Directive 2018/851). This change in food availability will surely impact the species that have become reliant on this resource, and species will have to alter their foraging habits (Zorrozua et al., 2020). Although Katzenberger et al., 2019 did not find a negative effect of landfill closure on Egyptian vulture *Neophron percnopterus* breeding success a year after closure, other studies have found that landfill closure decreased the breeding success and adult body mass in Yellow-legged Gulls *Larus michahelis* (Steigerwald et al., 2015) and increased the foraging effort of Lesser Black-backed Gulls (Langley et al., 2021). Therefore, it is critical to understand how individuals and populations are adapting to these rapid changes in environmental conditions.

#### Mechanisms of adaptation to environmental change

Birds are adapting their migratory behaviour in response to environmental change. At the population level, these adaptations can occur through evolutionary processes, which is generally a slow mechanism as it is driven by the consequences of individual actions, or through phenotypic plasticity, which can be a fast mechanism of adaptation to rapid environmental change (Charmantier et al., 2008; Charmantier & Gienapp, 2014; Winkler et al., 2014).

In general, the mechanisms through which changes in migratory behaviour can occur have been combined in 3 different processes: i) inherited genetic or epigenetic changes that influence migratory behaviour (e.g., Pulido & Berthold, 2010); ii) adult phenotypic flexibility, in which matured individuals can adapt the migratory behaviour to environmental conditions (e.g., Conklin et al., 2021); iii) and developmental plasticity, in which individuals adapt their behaviour irreversibly during the maturation stage (e.g., Gill et al., 2013; Verhoeven et al., 2018).

Quantifying the heritability of migratory traits is not easily accomplished, in the wild or in captivity, but for many nocturnal migratory birds, nocturnal restlessness (*Zugunruhe*) has been used to estimate the heritability of the onset, end, and duration of migratory movements, as well as of migratory propensity (Fudickar et al., 2021; Merlin & Liedvogel, 2019; Pulido & Berthold, 2010). For example, through the selective breeding of Blackcaps *Sylvia atricapilla* in captivity, Pulido & Berthold, 2010 showed a genetic reduction in migratory activity and found that, if the fitness of the residents is high enough, a fully migratory population can thus become fully resident. However, if a resident population retains substantial genetic variation related to the migratory behaviour, subsequent reversals could occur as well (de Zoeten & Pulido, 2020).

When the conditions in the environment change over short periods of time, some species reversibly adapt their migratory behaviour or phenology to the new conditions, which is referred to as phenotypic flexibility (Piersma & Drent, 2003). For example, individual American Redstarts *Setophaga ruticilla* can adjust the timing of spring migration on a year-to-year basis, according to the food availability at the wintering sites, which varies with rainfall (Studds & Marra, 2011). Adult birds can also use previously experienced conditions to adapt their migratory decisions (Sergio et al., 2014), and, for social migratory species, this experience may be passed on to others by social interactions (Mueller et al., 2013). This individual flexibility in the migratory behaviour can be enough to drive long-term and directional changes in population behaviour (Conklin et al., 2021).

Nonetheless, many species seem to be consistent in their migratory behaviour at the individual level (Gill et al., 2014; Gilsenan et al., 2020). In such cases, changes in migratory behaviour at the population level can derive from an inter-generational shift in migratory traits, resulting from the environmental conditions juveniles experience during maturation (Gill et al., 2014). This mechanism may be particularly important for long-lived species with long developmental stages, during which drastic changes in environmental conditions during the maturation process may occur. For example, in two sub-species of Black-tailed godwits *Limosa limosa islandica* and *Limosa limosa limosa*, the staging sites used during migration and the timing of arrival at the breeding grounds have been changing during the past decades, despite individual consistency in migration phenology and route (Gill et al., 2014; Verhoeven et al., 2018, 2021). Instead, these population changes seem to derive from changes in migration timing and staging site used by younger individuals. However, the individual mechanisms or environmental cues that lead juvenile birds to change their migratory behaviour are still unclear.

In summary, different species seem to respond differently to similar environmental challenges, and the role of these three processes in shaping species adaptations is still unclear. Studying how bird movement behaviour varies throughout the lives of individuals during periods of environmental change is fundamental to understand how species are adapting to these new challenges. Recent developments in tracking technology, which allows researchers to follow birds for long periods of time or even throughout their lifetimes, can therefore become an essential tool to help address this challenge.

## 1.5 Technology to study animal movement

The study of animal movement, and in particular bird migration, has long been a fascinating topic for researchers, yet until the late 19<sup>th</sup> century, the migration of birds was mostly understood from the perspective of seasonal patterns of appearance and disappearance of bird species (Newton, 2008). Nowadays, field observations in migratory bottlenecks, such as the Strait of Gibraltar, are still used to monitor a large number of soaring bird species and their population trends in a cost-efficient way (Martín et al., 2016). However, some birds migrate during the night or at too high altitudes to be observed from the ground. These can be detected in the network of operational weather radar, which has become an incredibly useful tool to monitor biodiversity (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2021) and to study bird migration at a continental scale (Dokter et al., 2011).

Whilst field observations can tell us a great deal about bird migration at a larger scale, individual marking of birds is fundamental to truly understand movement. Since 1899, bird ringing has been the most commonly used technique to understand bird migration (Newton, 2008). Independently of the individual mark used to identify the animal, the rule of thumb states that it should not weigh more than 3-5% of the body weight of the animal, thus for

General introduction

small passerines, bird ringing is still the only methodology available today to study their movements. For large-bodied birds, however, the use of tracking technology has remarkably changed how we perceive animal movement and migration.

Since the first radio animal tracking device developed in 1959 (LeMunyan et al., 1959), many other methods have emerged that do not require the recapture of the animal to retrieve the data, all of which have in common a transmitter (that is attached to the bird which collects and sends data) and a receiver (a station that retrieves the data and delivers it to the researcher) (Cooke et al., 2004). This data transmission can occur via satellite (e.g., Berthold et al., 2004), via short-range wireless transceivers (e.g., Bouten et al., 2013) or through the Global System for Mobile communications / General Packet Radio Service (GSM/GPRS) (e.g., Gilbert et al., 2016). Recently, the efforts to miniaturize tracking devices have culminated in the launch of the International Cooperation for Animal Research Using Space (ICARUS) (Wikelski et al., 2007), which promises smaller and highly efficient GPS-tracking devices, increasing the range of species that can be tracked, while also reducing the impact of the loggers on the animals, improving animal well-being and the study results (Kays et al., 2015).

The emerging field of biologging (i.e., a logging device attached to an animal to collect biological data) has revealed incredible feats performed by birds, from the 100,000km migratory journeys of Arctic Terns *Sterna paradisaea* (Egevang et al., 2010) to the 11,000km non-stop migratory flights of Bar-tailed Godwits *Limosa lapponica* (Gill Jr et al., 2009). With higher resolution data, researchers have started asking questions not only about habitat use and large-scale migration patterns, but also on how birds navigate and how they relate to finescale environments. Advancements in global atmospheric reanalysis tools (e.g., European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts ERA5) and in satellite imagery (e.g., Copernicus Sentinel-2) have complemented GPS-tracking technology, and it is now possible to analyse animal habitat suitability in 10 meters spatial scale (Valerio et al., 2020) and how weather

phenomena influence bird movement at an hourly resolution (Vansteelant et al., 2015). Moreover, using high-resolution GPS-tracks of soaring birds it is also possible to estimate the wind speed and direction birds were experiencing, both in marine and terrestrial environments (Nagy et al., 2018; Treep et al., 2016; Yonehara et al., 2016).

#### Using accelerometery to infer behaviour and energy expenditure

Tri-axial accelerometers are commonly used sensors that allow researchers to have an undisturbed view of animal's movement and behaviour. Accelerometers measure acceleration in three directions (surge, sway, and heave), through which is it possible to infer the posture and body movements of the animals to which the tag is attached to (Brown et al., 2013; Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2012). By combining acceleration information with GPS data (such as ground speed and heading), it is possible to identify behaviours such as resting, flight and terrestrial locomotion (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2016). It is also possible to use accelerometery to detail the type of bird flight, by distinguishing flapping flight through the peaks in acceleration caused by each upstroke and downstroke, and passive flight through the absence of these peaks (Duriez et al., 2014; Nathan et al., 2012; Sur et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2015). Adding magnetometers and barometers, to accurately measure heading and flight altitude, researchers have delved even deeper into the classification of flight behaviour, by distinguishing flapping flight, thermal soaring, slope soaring and gliding (Williams et al., 2015).

With the understanding of how birds behave it is possible to recognise how much energy they use in the different types of locomotion. In 2006, Wilson et al. proposed that, since most of animal activity and energy expenditure is defined in terms of movement, accurate quantification of this movement should correlate with energy expenditure. These

authors measured O<sup>2</sup> consumption and CO<sup>2</sup> production in Great Cormorants *Phalacrocorax carbo* during resting and pedestrian exercise in captivity and compared these with Overall Dynamic Body Acceleration (ODBA) measured with an external tri-axial accelerometer. The measurements were validated in free-living Imperial Cormorants *Phalacrocorax atriceps* in this same study. Further exploration of this method by have since then confirmed the utility of this technique to quantify energy expenditure of moving animals, while reinforcing the importance of calibration and animal attachment methods in order to have meaningful and reliable measurements (Gleiss et al., 2011; Halsey et al., 2011).

With the miniaturisation of electronics, it is now possible to attach a myriad of sensors to GPS loggers and remotely collect animal physiological, behavioural, and social information, challenging the limits of bio- and physiologging. With the use of heart rate sensors (e.g., Bishop et al., 2015), by measuring brain waves (e.g., Rattenborg et al., 2016) and by deploying animal-mounted cameras on free-living birds (e.g., Rutz et al., 2007), researchers have attained an undisturbed and detailed look of animal behaviour and physiology in the wild, describing *what* animals do, *where* they go and also *how* and *why* animals undertake the journeys they do (Hawkes et al., 2021).

## 1.6 Study systems

This thesis investigates the environmental drivers underlying movement decisions of birds, using Shoebills *Balaeniceps rex*, and White Storks as study species. These are two bird species with extraordinarily different movement strategies: Shoebills are thought to be sedentary throughout their range, whereas White Storks are typically a long-distance migrant, although the number of resident individuals in previously wholly migratory populations is increasing (Catry et al., 2017). As long-lived birds, with extensive immature stages (3-4 years), these two

General introduction

species have a long period to improve and potentially adapt their movement strategies. Moreover, due to their large body size, they are able to carry large GPS devices allowing for life-long tracking. Despite being a species of conservation concern (Birdlife International, 2020), the movement ecology of Shoebills is mostly unknown, and the influence of environmental factors on the movement of White Storks with different migratory strategies has not yet been investigated.

#### The Shoebill

The Shoebill is an iconic, yet enigmatic, wetland specialist. It is irregularly distributed across central-eastern Africa, from South Sudan to Zambia (Figure 1.1) and is classified as *Vulnerable* by the IUCN. The global population estimates vary between 5,000-8,000 individuals (Birdlife International, 2020), but the populations are declining, mostly due to habitat degradation and loss, as well as due to conflicts with humans, such as disturbance and illegal egg-stealing for bird trade markets (Dodman, 2013). The Bangweulu Wetlands, in Zambia, harbours the southernmost population of Shoebills, with estimates of the population size ranging between 200 shoebills, on the first census in 1984 (Howard & Aspinwall, 1984), to 1,296 Shoebills (95% confidence interval: 477–2,372) in a more recent study (Roxburgh & Buchanan, 2010). This large uncertainty in estimating the population size of Shoebills derives from the shy and cryptic nature of this species as well as the remoteness of its habitat.



**Figure 1.1 – World distribution of Shoebills.** Orange polygons show the areas in which Shoebills are resident. Map adapted from IUCN, 2021a.

Despite being extremely emblematic, the ecology of Shoebills is mostly unknown, and few existing studies focused on deriving population estimates (Roxburgh & Buchanan, 2010) and understanding Shoebill foraging (Mullers & Amar, 2015b) and breeding ecology (Mullers & Amar, 2015a). Shoebills inhabit permanent swampy wetlands, where they prey on fish in shallow waters or in deeper waters using floating vegetation as platforms (Guillet, 1979; Mullers & Amar, 2015b). This species is believed to be sedentary, remaining in the same wetlands all year long (Birdlife International, 2020), however, no study to date has analysed the movement ecology of Shoebills. Between 2011 and 2014, the first ever effort to deploy GPS-tracking devices on Shoebills was performed, and 10 first-year juveniles and 1 breeding adult were fitted with GPS tracking devices. As a species of high conservation concern, it is critical to improve our knowledge of Shoebill ecology and habitat requirements to implement effective conservation measures. These challenges are tackled in Chapter 3.

#### The White Stork

The White Stork is a large iconic bird and is one of the most well-studied bird species in Europe. The breeding distribution of this species extends throughout the Palearctic, with a small breeding population in South Africa (Figure 1.2). The global conservation status of this species is Least Concern, given its abundance and wide distribution (IUCN, 2021b). Although it is currently an abundant species in Europe, White Stork populations suffered a steep decline until the 1980s, as a result of severe draughts in the Sahel and habitat loss in Iberia due to agricultural changes (Carrascal et al., 1993; Catry et al., 2017; Senra & Ales, 1992). Since then, this species has been the target of several reintroduction programs throughout Europe, which helped in the recovery of the European populations (Schaub et al., 2004). Moreover, this species has also profited from newly available foraging resources: the American Crayfish Procambarus clarkii was introduced in Iberia in the 1970s and is now a highly abundant prey for the White Stork (Ferreira et al., 2019), and small rubbish dumps spread around Iberia were concentrated in large landfills since the 1980s, providing a stable and abundant food resource for storks all year-round (Gilbert et al., 2016). In Portugal, White Stork populations started increasing in the mid-1980s, and this trend continued as evidenced by increasing number of breeding pairs: 1,533 in 1984, 3,302 in 1994, 7,684 in 2004 and 11,691 in the last census of 2014 (Catry et al., 2017).



**Figure 1.2 - World distribution of White Storks.** Shades of yellow to orange show the areas where storks are only present on migration, during the non-breeding period, the breeding period and where storks are resident, respectively. Map adapted from IUCN, 2021b.

The White Stork is a migratory species throughout its distribution range (Figure 1.2). The migratory movements of the populations breeding in the Northern Hemisphere are well known, with the first tracking study with satellite tags going back to 1991 (P. Berthold et al., 2001). The European populations typically overwinter in sub-Saharan Africa, with birds migrating through the Eastern flyway or the Western flyway (Flack et al., 2016). White Storks are social migrants, and juvenile birds require guidance from older individuals to successfully reach their wintering areas (Chernetsov et al., 2004). As a large soaring bird, storks are highly dependent on the weather conditions to fly long-distances (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2003), particularly the thermal uplifts, and thus avoids sea crossings, concentrating in migratory bottlenecks to cross from Europe to the African continent (Blas et al., 2020; Leshem & Yom-Tov, 1996). White Storks have a large migratory season, both during Autumn and Spring migrations, and storks have been seen crossing the Strait of Gibraltar in large numbers on all months of the year, except June (Onrubia et al., 2019). This high variability in the timing of

migration may influence the environmental conditions experienced by storks during their migration, with potential fitness consequences, which is addressed in Chapter 4.

Until recent decades, White Storks were mostly migratory, but numerous individuals have decreased their migratory distance and started wintering in Iberia and Morocco (Cheng et al., 2019; Rotics et al., 2017), while many Iberian individuals have stopped migrating altogether (Catry et al., 2017; Gilbert et al., 2016). For storks migrating from northern European countries, wintering in southern Europe instead of sub-Saharan Africa reduces overall energy expenditure and foraging effort and increases juvenile survival (Cheng et al., 2019; Flack et al., 2016; Rotics et al., 2017). Residency for White Storks also seems to be beneficial, with sedentary birds showing higher breeding performance, laying a larger number of eggs (Massemin-Challet et al., 2006) and defending and maintaining the nest all year long (Gilbert et al., 2016). In Portugal, the number of resident individuals has dramatically increased since the first wintering census in the 1990s. In the last 25 years, the number of resident storks increased from 1,187 in 1995 to 19,295 in 2020, which corresponds to a maximum of 83% of the population becoming non-migratory in only 30 years (Andrade et al., submit.). Warmer winters in Iberia and the use of landfills in Iberia are known to be the main reasons underlying this change of behaviour (Catry et al., 2017), how this change of behaviour is occurring throughout the lives of individuals is only now being explored.

Since 2016, our team has made a vast effort in deploying GPS-GSM tracking devices on White Storks in Southern Portugal to further increase our knowledge on how environmental change is influencing this species. In total, between 2016 and 2020, we deployed GPS devices on 72 adults and 100 juveniles that provided information on their wintering areas. In our most recent work, we analysed three possible mechanisms that could lead this population to become resident: a) inherited genetic differences between resident and migratory individuals; b) individual flexibility in adult stork migratory behaviour, with

individuals adapting the wintering area choice to the environmental conditions; and c) developmental plasticity, in which the environmental conditions experienced by juveniles during the maturation stage lead to irreversible changes in migratory behaviour (Andrade et al., submit.). We found that the recent loss of migration in white storks is not explained by genetic differences or by adult phenotypical plasticity, but seems to be driven by developmental plasticity, as some juveniles change their migratory behaviour as they age, progressively becoming resident. However, the mechanisms underlying changes in the migratory behaviour of juvenile storks is still unknown and are addressed in Chapter 5.

#### Defining the start and end of White Stork migration

Identifying the start and end of migratory movements is the initial step of all studies analysing bird migration. Current GPS tracking technology allows for the estimation of departure and arrival dates at the individual level and at high temporal and spatial resolution. However, such detailed information has presented new analytical challenges, tackled differently by researchers. In Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020, (Appendix 1) we used data from 18 migratory White Storks to compare 5 different methods to estimate the start and end of migration: establishing a spatial threshold (S) or an absolute displacement threshold (AD), combining spatial, temporal and displacement information (SD), calculating the net-squared displacement (NSD) or performing a change-point analysis (CPA) (Figure 1.3). We found significant differences between these methods in estimating the start, end, and duration of White Stork migration, highlighting the need of carefully considering the right methodology to estimate migration phenology.



**Figure 1.3 – Different methodologies to identify the start of migration of White Storks.** Movements of 18 White Storks classified as migratory (yellow) or non-migratory (red), according to a) spatial threshold, b) absolute displacement, c) spatio-temporal displacement, d) net-squared displacement, e) change-point analysis. Dashed lines show spatial thresholds (36°N – Strait of Gibraltar, and 18°N – south of the Sahara Desert), used in the spatial threshold and absolute displacement methods. Figure extracted from Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020 (Appendix 1).
#### Chapter 1

General introduction

In this thesis, I adopted the spatio-temporal displacement method, which requires the establishment of a spatial, displacement and temporal threshold. For the White Stork, I considered the start of autumn (or spring) migration as the first day a stork moved more than 60km between consecutive roosts, which led to leaving the breeding (or wintering) areas. The displacement threshold (60 km) was calculated based on the frequency of distances moved during migration, and the temporal threshold (3 days) was used as it captured the short stops performed before leaving or after arriving at the breeding and wintering areas, without considering that migration had ended. The breeding and wintering areas were calculated using a 90% kernel of June and October GPS locations, respectively.

Determining White Stork behaviour and energy expenditure with the use of accelerometery

In this thesis, I used tri-axial accelerometers to quantify White Stork behaviour and energy expenditure. Due to the use of different models of GPS-ACC tracking devices, I calibrated the accelerometers axis of the different tags by confirming the positions of each axis in different GPS logger positions (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.4 - Accelerometer calibration tests for 3 GPS-tracking device models.** Raw X, Y and Z acceleration values of Movetech Telemetry V202, Movetech Telemetry TM206-2G and Ornitela Ornitrack-50 devices, in 4 logger positions: upright, left tilt, front tilt and upside down.

In Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021 (Appendix 2), we classified White Stork behaviour using tri-axial accelerometery by manually classifying storks' behaviours and building random forests models. To classify the behaviours, we observed White Storks fitted with GPS devices in different ways. We used video recordings of a captive stork fitted with the GPS logger programmed to take a GPS position and 10 seconds of acceleration at 1Hz every 1 minute. We also deployed cameras in nests where storks had been previously fitted with GPS devices, programmed to take a GPS position and 10 seconds of acceleration at 1Hz every 20 minutes. Moreover, we used data from devices continuously recording GPS and acceleration at 1HZ on wild storks that allowed us to infer the behaviour of the bird (Figure 1.5).



**Figure 1.5 – White Stork behaviour observations.** A) GPS-tracking device recording continuous GPS and accelerometer data at 1Hz, B) cameras deployed on nests of GPS-tracked White Storks and C) captive White Stork walking while wearing a GPS-tracking device. D) Plots showing the GPS (left) and tri-axial acceleration tracks (right) recorded from the captive White Stork while walking.

Due to logger mal-functioning, approximately 10% of the captive White Stork dataset had acceleration bursts smaller than 10 seconds. We calculated the ODBA of the original 10second bursts and compared with the ODBA of the same burst sub-sampled to 9 seconds. The subset was performed by removing the last acceleration point of the 10 second burst. To calculate the ODBA, we subtracted each acceleration point from a running-mean of 4 seconds for each axis and summed the resulting values for all three axes (Gleiss et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2006). We compared the ODBA of bursts of 9 and 10 seconds for all behaviours together and per behaviour using ANOVA's and concluded that there were no significant differences (Figure 1.6).



**Figure 1.6 – Overall Dynamic Body Acceleration (ODBA) of several White Stork behaviours.** ODBA, in G, was calculated using 9 (white) and 10-seconds of acceleration (grey). Boxes show the 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles and whiskers show the 1.5 times the inter-quartile range. Data outside these values are represented as black dots.

Finally, we used the 9-sec acceleration burst at 1Hz for the behaviour classification and defined 2 land behaviours, foraging and resting (which included preening), and 2 flight behaviours, soaring (which included gliding, orographic and thermal soaring) and flapping. We manually classified 1,000 behaviours of each tag type, including juvenile and adult birds in the training dataset. We built two random forests, one for all Movetech Telemetry GPS loggers and one for Ornitela loggers, since these two tags have different accelerometer sensors and housings, which can influence the readings on the birds. In the random forest models, 70% of the data was used to train the algorithm and 30% was used to test it. The final models had 96% accuracy for Movetech Telemetry tags and 97% accuracy for Ornitela tags. These results were published in *Science of Total Environment* (Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021) (Appendix 2).

# 1.7 Thesis structure

This thesis explores how environmental conditions influence the movement decisions of longlived birds. I use GPS-tracking technology to study individual movements in different spatial scales, from short-distance dispersal movements to long-distance migratory journeys, and evaluate how habitat changes, weather conditions and use of newly available food resources, influence the movement decisions of birds in several life stages. This research was funded by the Next Generation Unmanned Systems Science Centre for Doctoral Training (NEXUSS CDT), which aims to tackle environmental challenges through the development of technological tools. Therefore, I start this thesis by describing and analysing the accuracy and precision of recently developed GPS-tracking devices in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, I explore the shortdistance movements of immature and adult Shoebills in relation to changes in surface water, whereas in Chapter 4 I expand the spatial scale to study the influence of timing of migration and weather conditions on the long-distance migration of White Storks. In Chapter 5, I

#### Chapter 1

investigate the ontogeny of migratory behaviour of White Storks from a population that has recently established non-migratory populations in response to environmental change.

The use of GPS-tracking technologies has revolutionised the study of animal movement providing unprecedentedly detailed information, yet the characterisation of GPS accuracy and precision is essential to correctly identify the spatial and temporal resolution at which studies can be conducted. In Chapter 2, I examine the influence of fix acquisition interval and device deployment on the performance of a GPS/GSM solar powered devices. I conduct stationary tests to describe the horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision of the devices and compare these with the accuracy and precision after deployment on pre-fledgling White Storks. I also assess the performance of GPS-Error, a metric provided by the device, at identifying inaccurate locations. This chapter is currently under review in *PLoS ONE*.

The movement of birds is mainly determined by spatial and temporal changes in resource availability, and, for wetland specialists, the seasonal availability of surface water may be a major determinant of their movement patterns. In Chapter 3, I take advantage of a 5-year GPS tracking dataset to analyse the movements of immature and adult Shoebills. I describe their home ranges and distances moved throughout the year and, by combining the GPS information with remotely sensed imagery, I relate their movements at the start of the rainy season with changes in Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI, a proxy for surface water). This chapter is published in *Scientific Reports*.

The timing of migratory movements may determine the conditions individuals encounter, and particularly for species with asynchronous migrations (i.e., with individuals migrating at different times over an extended period), the conditions experienced by different individuals during migration may differ dramatically, with potential fitness consequences. In Chapter 4, I combine GPS-tracking with triaxial accelerometery and assess White Stork juvenile and adult migratory performance over a 5-year period. I evaluate the influence of

#### Chapter 1

General introduction

timing of migration on the weather conditions individuals experienced, on their migratory performance and the arrival destination in the wintering areas. This chapter is currently under review in *Movement Ecology*.

Recent human-driven environmental change has significantly altered migratory behaviour, leading to the emergence of non-migratory individuals in previously fully migratory populations. However, the mechanisms enabling these rapid changes in migratory behaviour to occur at the individual level have yet to be explored. In Chapter 5, I hypothesise that the events experienced by juvenile White Storks during one annual cycle can carry over to the following year, modifying the individual migratory program. I use a 5-year GPS and acceleration dataset and evaluate the importance of individual experience and access to highly abundant food resources on the subsequent migratory strategy of storks.

Lastly, in the general conclusions (Chapter 6), I summarise the main findings of this thesis, discuss how it has contributed to understanding the influence of environmental conditions on the movement behaviour and conservation of long-lived birds, and identify potential future research directions.

All chapters have been presented in the style of a standalone publication, with the references and supplementary material at the end of each chapter.

# References

- Åkesson, S., & Hedenström, A. (2007). How Migrants Get There: Migratory Performance and Orientation. *BioScience*, *57*(2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1641/B570207
- Åkesson, S., & Helm, B. (2020). Endogenous Programs and Flexibility in Bird Migration. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(March), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020.00078
- Åkesson, S., Morin, J., Muheim, R., & Ottosson, U. (2005). Dramatic Orientation Shift of White-Crowned Sparrows Displaced across Longitudes in the High Arctic. *Current Biology*, *15*(17), 1591–1597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.07.027
- Åkesson, S., & Weimerskirch, H. (2005). Albatross Long-Distance Navigation: Comparing Adults And Juveniles. Journal of Navigation, 58(3), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0373463305003401
- Alerstam, T., Hedenström, A., & Åkesson, S. (2003). Long-distance migration: evolution and determinants. *Oikos, 103*(May), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12559.x
- Amélineau, F., Delbart, N., Schwemmer, P., Marja, R., Fort, J., Garthe, S., Elts, J., Delaporte, P.,
  Rousseau, P., Duraffour, F., & Bocher, P. (2021). Timing of spring departure of long distance
  migrants correlates with previous year's conditions at their breeding site. *Biology Letters*, *17*(9).
  https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2021.0331
- Amélineau, F., Péron, C., Lescroël, A., Authier, M., Provost, P., & Grémillet, D. (2014). Windscape and tortuosity shape the flight costs of northern gannets. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(6), 876–885. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.097915
- Andrade, P., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Afonso, S., Marques, C. I., Moreira, F., Carneiro, M., & Catry, I. (submit.). Developmental plasticity drives the loss of migratory behaviour in a long-lived bird.
- Areta, J. I., Salvador, S. A., Gandoy, F. A., Bridge, E. S., Gorleri, F. C., Pegan, T. M., Gulson-Castillo, E. R., Hobson, K. A., & Winkler, D. W. (2021). Rapid adjustments of migration and life history in hemisphere-switching cliff swallows. *Current Biology*, *31*(13), 2914-2919.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.04.019
- Béchet, A., Giroux, J. F., Gauthier, G., Nichols, J. D., & Hines, J. E. (2003). Spring hunting changes the regional movements of migrating greater snow geese. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 40(3), 553– 564. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2003.00812.x
- Bell, F., Bearhop, S., Briedis, M., El Harouchi, M., Bell, S. C., Castello, J., & Burgess, M. (2021).
   Geolocators reveal variation and sex-specific differences in the migratory strategies of a longdistance migrant. *Ibis.* https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.13017

- Belthoff, J. R., & Gauthreaux, S. A. (1991). Partial Migration and Differential Winter Distribution of House Finches in the Eastern United States. *The Condor*, *93*(2), 374–382. https://doi.org/10.2307/1368953
- Berthold, P., Bossche, W., Fiedler, W., Kaatz, C., Kaatz, M., Leshem, Y., Nowak, E., & Querner, U.
  (2001). Detection of a new important staging and wintering area of the White Stork Ciconia ciconia by satellite tracking. *Ibis*, *143*(4), 450–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2001.tb04946.x
- Berthold, Peter, Kaatz, M., & Querner, U. (2004). Long-term satellite tracking of white stork (Ciconia ciconia) migration: Constancy versus variability. *Journal of Ornithology*, *145*(4), 356–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-004-0049-2
- Birdlife International. (2020). Species factsheet: Balaeniceps rex. www.birdlife.org
- Bishop, C. M., Spivey, R. J., Hawkes, L. A., Batbayar, N., Chua, B., Frappell, P. B., Milsom, W. K.,
  Natsagdorj, T., Newman, S. H., Scott, G. R., Takekawa, J. Y., Wikelski, M., & Butler, P. J. (2015).
  The roller coaster flight strategy of bar-headed geese conserves energy during Himalayan
  migrations. *Science*, *347*(6219), 250–254. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1258732
- Blas, J., Salas, R., Flack, A., Torres-Medina, F., Sergio, F., Wikelski, M., & Fiedler, W. (2020). Overland and oversea migration of white storks through the water barriers of the straits of Gibraltar. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77273-x
- Bohrer, G., Brandes, D., Mandel, J. T., Bildstein, K. L., Miller, T. A., Lanzone, M., Katzner, T.,
  Maisonneuve, C., & Tremblay, J. A. (2012). Estimating updraft velocity components over large spatial scales: contrasting migration strategies of golden eagles and turkey vultures. *Ecology Letters*, *15*(2), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01713.x
- Both, C., Bouwhuis, S., Lessells, C. M., & Visser, M. E. (2006). Climate change and population declines in a long-distance migratory bird. *Nature*, 441(1), 81–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04539
- Bouten, W., Baaij, E. W., Shamoun-Baranes, J., & Camphuysen, K. C. J. (2013). A flexible GPS tracking system for studying bird behaviour at multiple scales. *Journal of Ornithology*, 154(2), 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-012-0908-1
- Boyle, W. A., Norris, D. R., & Guglielmo, C. G. (2010). Storms drive altitudinal migration in a tropical bird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1693), 2511–2519. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0344
- Briedis, M., Bauer, S., Adamík, P., Alves, J. A., Costa, J. S., Emmenegger, T., Gustafsson, L., Koleček, J.,
  Liechti, F., Meier, C. M., Procházka, P., & Hahn, S. (2019). A full annual perspective on sexbiased migration timing in long-distance migratory birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1897), 20182821. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2821

- Brown, D. D., Kays, R., Wikelski, M., Wilson, R., & Klimley, A. P. (2013). Observing the unwatchable through acceleration logging of animal behavior. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 1(1), 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-3385-1-20
- Buechley, E. R., Oppel, S., Efrat, R., Phipps, W. L., Carbonell Alanís, I., Álvarez, E., Andreotti, A.,
  Arkumarev, V., Berger-Tal, O., Bermejo Bermejo, A., Bounas, A., Ceccolini, G., Cenerini, A.,
  Dobrev, V., Duriez, O., García, J., García-Ripollés, C., Galán, M., Gil, A., ... Marra, P. P. (2021).
  Differential survival throughout the full annual cycle of a migratory bird presents a life-history
  trade-off. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(5), 1228–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13449
- Burns, F., Eaton, M. A., Burfield, I. J., Klvaňová, A., Šilarová, E., Staneva, A., & Gregory, R. D. (2021).
  Abundance decline in the avifauna of the European Union reveals cross-continental similarities in biodiversity change. *Ecology and Evolution, June*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8282
- Burnside, R. J., Salliss, D., Collar, N. J., & Dolman, P. M. (2021). Birds use individually consistent temperature cues to time their migration departure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(28). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2026378118
- Campioni, L., Dias, M. P., Granadeiro, J. P., & Catry, P. (2020). An ontogenetic perspective on migratory strategy of a long-lived pelagic seabird: Timings and destinations change progressively during maturation. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *89*(1), 29–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13044
- Carrascal, L. M., Bautista, L. M., & Encarnacin, L. (1993). Geographical variation in the density of White Stork Ciconia ciconia in Spain: Influence of habitat structure and climate. *Biological Conservation*, *65*, 83–87.
- Catry, I., Encarnação, V., Pacheco, C., Catry, T., Tenreiro, P., Silva, L. P. da, Leão, F., Bally, F., Roda, S.,
  Lopes, S., Capela, C., Alonso, H., Saldanha, S., Urbano, O., Saraiva, J., Encarnação, P., Sequeira,
  N., Mendes, M., Monteiro, P., ... Moreira, F. (2017). Recent changes on migratory behaviour of
  the White stork (Ciconia ciconia) in Portugal: Towards the end of migration? *Airo*, *24*(January),
  28–35.
- Charmantier, A., & Gienapp, P. (2014). Climate change and timing of avian breeding and migration: Evolutionary versus plastic changes. *Evolutionary Applications*, 7(1), 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12126
- Charmantier, A., McCleery, R. H., Cole, L. R., Perrins, C., Kruuk, L. E. B., & Sheldon, B. C. (2008). Adaptive phenotypic plasticity in response to climate change in a wild bird population. *Science*, *320*(5877), 800–803. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1157174

Cheng, Y., Fiedler, W., Wikelski, M., & Flack, A. (2019). "Closer-to-home" strategy benefits juvenile

survival in a long-distance migratory bird. *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(16), 8945–8952. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5395

- Chernetsov, N., Berthold, P., & Querner, U. (2004). Migratory orientation of first-year white storks (Ciconia ciconia): inherited information and social interactions. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(6), 937–943. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00853
- Conklin, J. R., Lisovski, S., & Battley, P. F. (2021). Advancement in long-distance bird migration through individual plasticity in departure. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25022-7
- Cooke, S. J., Hinch, S. G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R. D., Kuchel, L. J., Wolcott, T. G., & Butler, P. J. (2004). Biotelemetry: A mechanistic approach to ecology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *19*(6), 334–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.003
- Cooper, N. W., Sherry, T. W., Marra, P. P., & Inouye, B. D. (2015). Experimental reduction of winter food decreases body condition and delays migration in a long-distance migratory bird. *Ecology*, 96(7), 1933–1942. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1365.1
- de Zoeten, T., & Pulido, F. (2020). How migratory populations become resident. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 287*(1923). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.3011
- Deakin, Z., Hamer, K., Sherley, R., Bearhop, S., Bodey, T., Clark, B., Grecian, W., Gummery, M., Lane, J.,
   Morgan, G., Morgan, L., Phillips, R., Wakefield, E., & Votier, S. (2019). Sex differences in
   migration and demography of a wide-ranging seabird, the northern gannet. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 622, 191–201. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12986
- Dodman, T. (2013). International single species plan for the conservation of the Shoebill Balaeniceps rex.
- Dokter, A. M., Liechti, F., Stark, H., Delobbe, L., Tabary, P., & Holleman, I. (2011). Bird migration flight altitudes studied by a network of operational weather radars. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 8(54), 30–43. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2010.0116
- Duriez, O., Kato, A., Tromp, C., Dell'Omo, G., Vyssotski, A. L., Sarrazin, F., & Ropert-Coudert, Y. (2014).
   How cheap is soaring flight in raptors? A preliminary investigation in freely-flying vultures. *PLoS* ONE, 9(1), e84887. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084887
- Efrat, R., Hatzofe, O., & Nathan, R. (2019). Landscape-dependent time versus energy optimizations in pelicans migrating through a large ecological barrier. *Functional Ecology*, *33*(11), 2161–2171. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13426
- Egevang, C., Stenhouse, I. J., Phillips, R. A., Petersen, A., Fox, J. W., & Silk, J. R. D. (2010). Tracking of Arctic terns Sterna paradisaea reveals longest animal migration. *Proceedings of the National*

Academy of Sciences, 107(5), 2078–2081. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0909493107

- Fayet, A. L., Freeman, R., Shoji, A., Padget, O., Perrins, C. M., & Guilford, T. (2015). Lower foraging efficiency in immatures drives spatial segregation with breeding adults in a long-lived pelagic seabird. *Animal Behaviour*, *110*, 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.09.008
- Ferreira, E. M., Grilo, F., Mendes, R. C., Lourenço, R., Santos, S. M., & Petrucci-Fonseca, F. (2019). Diet of the White Stork (Ciconia ciconia) in a heterogeneous Mediterranean landscape: the importance of the invasive Red Swamp Crayfish (Procambarus clarkii). *Airo, 26*(July 2013), 33– 47.
- Ferrer, M., & Hiraldo, F. (1992). Man-induced sex-biased mortality in the Spanish imperial eagle. Biological Conservation, 60(1), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(92)90799-S
- Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Blas, J., Pokrovsky, I., Kaatz, M., Mitropolsky, M., Aghababyan, K., Fakriadis, I.,
  Makrigianni, E., Jerzak, L., Azafzaf, H., Feltrup-Azafzaf, C., Rotics, S., Mokotjomela, T. M.,
  Nathan, R., & Wikelski, M. (2016). Costs of migratory decisions: A comparison across eight white stork populations. *Science Advances*, 2(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500931
- Fudickar, A. M., Jahn, A. E., & Ketterson, E. D. (2021). Animal Migration: An Overview of One of Nature's Great Spectacles. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 52(1), 479– 497. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-012021-031035
- Furey, N. B., Armstrong, J. B., Beauchamp, D. A., & Hinch, S. G. (2018). Migratory coupling between predators and prey. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(12), 1846–1853. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0711-3
- Gilbert, N. I., Correia, R. A., Silva, J. P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P. W., Gill, J. A., & Franco, A. M.
  A. (2016). Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. *Movement Ecology*, 4(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0
- Gill, J. A., Alves, J. A., Sutherland, W. J., Appleton, G. F., Potts, P. M., & Gunnarsson, T. G. (2014). Why is timing of bird migration advancing when individuals are not? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1774), 20132161. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2161
- Gill Jr, R. E., Tibbitts, T. L., Douglas, D. C., Handel, C. M., Mulcahy, D. M., Gottschalck, J. C., Warnock,
   N., McCaffery, B. J., Battley, P. F., & Piersma, T. (2009). Extreme endurance flights by landbirds
   crossing the Pacific Ocean: ecological corridor rather than barrier? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276(1656), 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.1142
- Gilroy, J. J., Gill, J. A., Butchart, S. H. M., Jones, V. R., & Franco, A. M. A. (2016). Migratory diversity predicts population declines in birds. *Ecology Letters*, 19(3), 308–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12569

- Gilsenan, C., Valcu, M., & Kempenaers, B. (2020). Timing of arrival in the breeding area is repeatable and affects reproductive success in a non-migratory population of blue tits. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(4), 1017–1031. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13160
- Gleiss, A. C., Wilson, R. P., & Shepard, E. L. C. (2011). Making overall dynamic body acceleration work:
  On the theory of acceleration as a proxy for energy expenditure. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00057.x
- Gordo, O. (2007). Why are bird migration dates shifting? A review of weather and climate effects on avian migratory phenology. *Climate Research*, *35*(1–2), 37–58. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00713
- Grecian, J. W., Lane, J. V., Michelot, T., Wade, H. M., & Hamer, K. C. (2018). Understanding the ontogeny of foraging behaviour: Insights from combining marine predator bio-logging with satellite-derived oceanography in hidden Markov models. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 15(143). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2018.0084
- Guillet, A. (1979). Aspects of the foraging behaviour of the shoebill. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology*, *50*(4), 252–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.1979.9634120
- Hake, M., Kjellén, N., & Alerstam, T. (2003). Age-dependent migration strategy in honey buzzards Pernis apivorus tracked by satellite. *Oikos, 103*(2), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12145.x
- Halsey, L. G., Shepard, E. L. C., & Wilson, R. P. (2011). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A Assessing the development and application of the accelerometry technique for estimating energy expenditure ☆. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A*, *158*(3), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.09.002
- Harel, R., Horvitz, N., & Nathan, R. (2016). Adult vultures outperform juveniles in challenging thermal soaring conditions. *Scientific Reports*, 6(May), 27865. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27865
- Hawkes, L. A., Fahlman, A., & Sato, K. (2021). What is physiologging? Introduction to the theme issue, part 2. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *376*(1831), 39–41. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2021.0028
- Howard, G. W., & Aspinwall, D. R. (1984). Aerial censuses of Shoebills, Saddlebilled Storks and Wattled Cranes at the Bangweulu Swamps and Kafue Flats, Zambia. *Ostrich: Journal of African Ornithology*, *55*(4), 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.1984.9634489
- Isaksson, N., Evans, T. J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., & Åkesson, S. (2015). Land or sea? Foraging area choice during breeding by an omnivorous gull. *Movement Ecology*, *4*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0078-5
- IUCN. (2021a). Shoebill. https://www.iucnredlist.org/fr/species/22697583/133840708

IUCN. (2021b). White Stork. https://www.iucnredlist.org/fr/species/22697691/86248677

- Katzenberger, J., Tabur, E., Sen, B., Ísfendíyaroglu, S., Erkol, I. L., & Oppel, S. (2019). No short-term effect of closing a rubbish dump on reproductive parameters of an Egyptian Vulture population in Turkey. *Bird Conservation International*, *29*(1), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270917000326
- Kays, R., Crofoot, M. C., Jetz, W., & Wikelski, M. (2015). Terrestrial animal tracking as an eye on life and planet. Science, 348(6240). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2478
- Klaassen, R. H. G., Strandberg, R., Hake, M., & Alerstam, T. (2008). Flexibility in daily travel routines causes regional variation in bird migration speed. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 62(9), 1427–1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-008-0572-x
- Kleyheeg, E., Dijk, J. G. B. Van, Tsopoglou-Gkina, D., Woud, T. Y., Boonstra, D. K., Nolet, B. A., & Soons, M. B. (2017). Movement patterns of a keystone waterbird species are highly predictable from landscape configuration. *Movement Ecology*, 5(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0092-7
- Kokko, H. (1999). Competition for early arrival in migratory birds. *Journal of Animal Ecology, 68*(5), 940–950. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2656.1999.00343.x
- Kranstauber, B., Weinzierl, R., Wikelski, M., & Safi, K. (2015). Global aerial flyways allow efficient travelling. *Ecology Letters*, 18(12), 1338–1345. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12528
- Langley, L. P., Bearhop, S., Burton, N. H. K., Banks, A. N., Frayling, T., Thaxter, C. B., Clewley, G. D., Scragg, E., & Votier, S. C. (2021). *GPS tracking reveals landfill closures induce higher foraging effort and habitat switching in gulls*. 1–13.
- LeMunyan, C. D., White, W., Nyberg, E., & Christian, J. J. (1959). Design of a Miniature Radio Transmitter for Use in Animal Studies. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *23*(1), 107. https://doi.org/10.2307/3797755
- Leshem, Y., & Yom-Tov, Y. (1996). The magnitude and timing of migration by soaring raptors, pelicans and storks over Israel. *Ibis*, *138*(2), 188–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919x.1996.tb04328.x
- Liedvogel, M., Åkesson, S., & Bensch, S. (2011). The genetics of migration on the move. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *26*(11), 561–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.07.009
- Lok, T., Overdijk, O., & Piersma, T. (2015). The cost of migration: spoonbills suffer higher mortality during trans-Saharan spring migrations only. *Biology Letters*, 11(1), 20140944. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2014.0944

Loonstra, A. H. J., Verhoeven, M. A., Senner, N. R., Both, C., & Piersma, T. (2019). Adverse wind

conditions during northward Sahara crossings increase the in-flight mortality of Black-tailed Godwits. *Ecology Letters*, *22*(12), 2060–2066. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13387

- Marcelino, J., Moreira, F., Franco, A. M. A., Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Gauld, J., Rego, F. C.,
  Silva, J. P., & Catry, I. (2021). Flight altitudes of a soaring bird suggest landfill sites as power line
  collision hotspots. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *294*, 113149.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113149
- Martín, B., Onrubia, A., de la Cruz, A., & Ferrer, M. (2016). Trends of autumn counts at Iberian migration bottlenecks as a tool for monitoring continental populations of soaring birds in Europe. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 25(2), 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1047-4
- Massemin-Challet, S., Gendner, J. P., Samtmann, S., Pichegru, L., Wulgué, A., & Le Maho, Y. (2006). The effect of migration strategy and food availability on White Stork Ciconia ciconia breeding success. *Ibis*, *148*(3), 503–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2006.00550.x
- Mellone, U., López-López, P., Limiñana, R., Piasevoli, G., & Urios, V. (2013). The trans-equatorial loop migration system of Eleonora's falcon: differences in migration patterns between age classes, regions and seasons. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2013.00139.x
- Merlin, C., & Liedvogel, M. (2019). The genetics and epigenetics of animal migration and orientation:
  Birds, butterflies and beyond. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 222, 1–12.
  https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.191890
- Møller, A. P., Rubolini, D., & Lehikoinen, E. (2008). Populations of migratory bird species that did not show a phenological response to climate change are declining. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(42), 16195–16200.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803825105
- Mueller, T., & Fagan, W. F. (2008). Search and navigation in dynamic environments From individual behaviors to population distributions. *Oikos*, *117*(5), 654–664. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16291.x
- Mueller, T., O'Hara, R. B., Converse, S. J., Urbanek, R. P., & Fagan, W. F. (2013). Social learning of migratory performance. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 341, 999–1002. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1237139
- Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015a). Parental nesting behavior, chick growth and breeding success of Shoebills (Balaeniceps rex) in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. Waterbirds, 38(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.038.0102 BioOne

Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015b). Shoebill Balaeniceps rex foraging behaviour in the Bangweulu

Wetlands, Zambia. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology*, *86*(1–2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2014.977364

- Nagy, M., Couzin, I. D., Fiedler, W., Wikelski, M., & Flack, A. (2018). Synchronization, coordination and collective sensing during thermalling flight of freely migrating white storks. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 373(1746), 20170011.
   https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0011
- Nathan, R., Getz, W. M., Revilla, E., Holyoak, M., Kadmon, R., Saltz, D., & Smouse, P. E. (2008). A movement ecology paradigm for unifying organismal movement research. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(49), 19052–19059. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800375105
- Nathan, R., Spiegel, O., Fortmann-roe, S., Harel, R., Wikelski, M., & Getz, W. M. (2012). Using tri-axial acceleration data to identify behavioral modes of free-ranging animals: general concepts and tools illustrated for griffon vultures. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215, 986–996. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.058602
- Newton, I. (2008). The Migration Ecology of Birds. Academic Press.
- Norevik, G., Åkesson, S., Artois, T., Beenaerts, N., Conway, G., Cresswell, B., Evens, R., Henderson, I., Jiguet, F., & Hedenström, A. (2020). Wind-associated detours promote seasonal migratory connectivity in a flapping flying long-distance avian migrant. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(2), 635–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13112
- Onrubia, A., Torralvo, C., & Martín, B. (2019). Migración de la Cigüena Blanca por el Estrecho de Gibraltar (conteos visuales). In *Monografía no. 4 del programa MigraSEO/BirdLife*. SEO/BirdLife.
- Oro, D., Genovart, M., Tavecchia, G., Fowler, M. S., & Martínez-Abraín, A. (2013). Ecological and evolutionary implications of food subsidies from humans. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(12), 1501–1514. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12187
- Pajot, A., Corbeau, A., Jambon, A., & Weimerskirch, H. (2021). Diel at-sea activity of two species of great albatrosses: the ontogeny of foraging and movement behaviour. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 52(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.02597
- Parfitt, J., Barthel, M., & Macnaughton, S. (2010). Food waste within food supply chains:
  quantification and potential for change to 2050. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1554), 3065–3081. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0126
- Pastorino, A., Roman, J. R., Agostini, N., Dell'omo, G., & Panuccio, M. (2017). Fog and rain lead migrating White storks Ciconia ciconia to perform reverse migration and to land. *Avocetta*, 41(1), 5–12.

- Patchett, R., & Cresswell, W. (2020). Regional wind patterns likely shape a seasonal migration detour. Journal of Avian Biology, 51(11), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.02466
- Piersma, T., & Drent, J. (2003). Phenotypic flexibility and the evolution of organismal design. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *18*(5), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00036-3
- Plaza, P. I., & Lambertucci, S. A. (2018). More massive but potentially less healthy: black vultures feeding in rubbish dumps differed in clinical and biochemical parameters with wild feeding birds. *PeerJ*, 6(4), e4645. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4645
- Pulido, F., & Berthold, P. (2010). Current selection for lower migratory activity will drive the evolution of residency in a migratory bird population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *107*(16), 7341–7346. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910361107
- Rattenborg, N. C., Voirin, B., Cruz, S. M., Tisdale, R., Dell'Omo, G., Lipp, H. P., Wikelski, M., & Vyssotski,
  A. L. (2016). Evidence that birds sleep in mid-flight. *Nature Communications*, *7*, 1–9.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12468
- Riotte-lambert, L., & Weimerskirch, H. (2013). Do naive juvenile seabirds forage differently from adults? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 280*, 20131434. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.1434
- Roshier, D. A., Robertson, A. I., & Kingsford, R. T. (2002). Responses of waterbirds to flooding in an arid region of Australia and implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation*, *106*, 399–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00268-3
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Turjeman, S. F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler,
  W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2016). The challenges of the first migration:
  movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult white storks with insights regarding juvenile
  mortality. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *85*, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12525
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Turjeman, S., Zurell, D., Wikelski, M., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F., & Nathan, R. (2018). Early arrival at breeding grounds: Causes, costs and a trade-off with overwintering latitude. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *87*(6), 1627–1638. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12898
- Rotics, S., Turjeman, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Fiedler, W., Flack, A., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2017). Wintering in Europe instead of Africa enhances juvenile survival in a long-distance migrant. *Animal Behaviour*, *126*, 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.01.016
- Roxburgh, L., & Buchanan, G. M. (2010). Revising estimates of the Shoebill (Balaeniceps rex) population size in the Bangweulu Swamp, Zambia, through a combination of aerial surveys and habitat suitability modelling. *Ostrich: Journal of African Ornithology*, *81*(1), 25–30.

https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2010.455815

Rubolini, D., Saino, N., & Møller, A. P. (2010). Migratory behaviour constrains the phenological response of birds to climate change. *Climate Research*, *42*(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00862

Rutz, C., Bluff, L. A., Weir, A. A. S., & Kacelnik, A. (2007). Video Cameras on Wild Birds. *Science*, *318*(5851), 765–765. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1146788

Samplonius, J. M., Atkinson, A., Hassall, C., Keogan, K., Thackeray, S. J., Assmann, J. J., Burgess, M. D., Johansson, J., Macphie, K. H., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Simmonds, E. G., Varpe, Ø., Weir, J. C., Childs, D. Z., Cole, E. F., Daunt, F., Hart, T., Lewis, O. T., Pettorelli, N., ... Phillimore, A. B. (2021). Strengthening the evidence base for temperature-mediated phenological asynchrony and its impacts. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, *5*(2), 155–164. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-01357-0

- Samplonius, J. M., Bartošová, L., Burgess, M. D., Bushuev, A. V., Eeva, T., Ivankina, E. V., Kerimov, A. B., Krams, I., Laaksonen, T., Mägi, M., Mänd, R., Potti, J., Török, J., Trnka, M., Visser, M. E., Zang, H., & Both, C. (2018). Phenological sensitivity to climate change is higher in resident than in migrant bird populations among European cavity breeders. *Global Change Biology*, *24*(8), 3780–3790. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14160
- Santos, C. D., Silva, J. P., Muñoz, A. R., Onrubia, A., & Wikelski, M. (2020). The gateway to Africa: What determines sea crossing performance of a migratory soaring bird at the Strait of Gibraltar? Journal of Animal Ecology, 89(6), 1317–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13201
- Schaub, M., Pradel, R., & Lebreton, J. D. (2004). Is the reintroduced white stork (Ciconia ciconia) population in Switzerland self-sustainable? *Biological Conservation*, *119*(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2003.11.002
- Schlaich, A. E., Klaassen, R. H. G., Bouten, W., Bretagnolle, V., Koks, B. J., Villers, A., & Both, C. (2016).
   How individual Montagu's Harriers cope with Moreau's Paradox during the Sahelian winter.
   *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 85(6), 1491–1501. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12583
- Schmaljohann, H., & Naef-Daenzer, B. (2011). Body condition and wind support initiate the shift of migratory direction and timing of nocturnal departure in a songbird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(6), 1115–1122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01867.x
- Schultz, H., Chang, K., Bury, S. J., Gaskett, A. C., Dennis, T. E., Ismar-Rebitz, S. M. H., Southey, I.,
  Hohnhold, R. J., & Millar, C. D. (2021). Sex-specific foraging of an apex predator puts females at risk of human–wildlife conflict. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(7), 1776–1786.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13496

Senra, A., & Ales, E. E. (1992). The decline of the white stork Ciconia ciconia population of western

#### Chapter 1

General introduction

Andalusia between 1976 and 1988 : causes and proposals for conservation. *Biological Conservation*, *61*, 51–57.

- Sergio, F., Tanferna, A., Stephanis, R. De, Jimenez, L. L., Blas, J., Tavecchia, G., Preatoni, D., & Hiraldo,
   F. (2014). Individual improvements and selective mortality shape lifelong migratory
   performance. *Nature*, *515*, 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13696
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Bauer, S., Chapman, J. W., Desmet, P., Dokter, A. M., Farnsworth, A., Haest, B.,
  Koistinen, J., Kranstauber, B., Liechti, F., Mason, T. H. E., Nilsson, C., Nussbaumer, R., Schmid, B.,
  Weisshaupt, N., & Leijnse, H. (2021). Weather radars' role in biodiversity monitoring. *Science*, *372*(6539), 248–248. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abi4680
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Bom, R., van Loon, E. E., Ens, B. J., Oosterbeek, K., & Bouten, W. (2012). From Sensor Data to Animal Behaviour: An Oystercatcher Example. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e37997. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037997
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Liechti, F., & Vansteelant, W. M. G. (2017). Atmospheric conditions create freeways, detours and tailbacks for migrating birds. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 203(6), 509–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-017-1181-9
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Yom-Tov, Y., Leshem, Y., Baharad, A., Alpert, P., Berthold, P., & Dvir, Y. (2003).
  The effect of wind, season and latitude on the migration speed of white storks Ciconia ciconia, along the eastern migration route. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *34*(1), 97–104.
  https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-048X.2003.03079.x
- Shaw, A. K. (2020). Causes and consequences of individual variation in animal movement. *Movement Ecology*, 8(12), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-020-0197-x
- Smith, H. G., & Nilsson, J. Å. (1987). Intraspecific Variation in Migratory Pattern of a Partial Migrant, the Blue Tit (Parus caeruleus): An Evaluation of Different Hypotheses. *The Auk*, 104(1), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.2307/4087239
- Smolinsky, J. A., Diehl, R. H., Radzio, T. A., Delaney, D. K., & Moore, F. R. (2013). Factors influencing the movement biology of migrant songbirds confronted with an ecological barrier. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 67(12), 2041–2051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-013-1614-6
- Somveille, M., Rodrigues, A. S. L., & Manica, A. (2015). Why do birds migrate? A macroecological perspective. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 24, 664–674. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12298
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A. M. A., Herlander Martins, B., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K., & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, *162*(2), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809

- Soriano-Redondo, A., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Martins, B. H., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2021). Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird. *Science of The Total Environment, 782*, 146843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843
- Sotillo, A., Baert, J. M., Müller, W., Stienen, E. W. M., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Soares, A. M. V. M., & Lens, L. (2022). Weather- and human-related shifts in feeding conditions promote the use of built-up areas by an avian opportunist. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *217* (September 2020), 104268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104268
- Spiegel, O., Harel, R., Getz, W. M., & Nathan, R. (2013). Mixed strategies of griffon vultures' (Gyps fulvus) response to food deprivation lead to a hump-shaped movement pattern. *Movement Ecology*, 1(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-3933-1-5
- Steigerwald, E. C., Igual, J. M., Payo-Payo, A., & Tavecchia, G. (2015). Effects of decreased anthropogenic food availability on an opportunistic gull: Evidence for a size-mediated response in breeding females. *Ibis*, 157(3), 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12252
- Studds, C. E., & Marra, P. P. (2011). Rainfall-induced changes in food availability modify the spring departure programme of a migratory bird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278, 3437–3443. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.0332
- Sur, M., Suffredini, T., Wessells, S. M., Bloom, P. H., Lanzone, M., Blackshire, S., Sridhar, S., & Katzner, T. (2017). Improved supervised classification of accelerometry data to distinguish behaviors of soaring birds. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(4), e0174785. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174785
- Tauler-Ametller, H., Hernández-Matías, A., Pretus, J. L. L., & Real, J. (2017). Landfills determine the distribution of an expanding breeding population of the endangered Egyptian Vulture Neophron percnopterus. *Ibis*, 159(4), 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12495
- Tauler-ametlller, H., Ll, J., Hernández-matías, A., Ortiz-santaliestra, M. E., Mateo, R., & Real, J. (2019).
  Domestic waste disposal sites secure food availability but diminish plasma antioxidants in
  Egyptian vulture. *Science of the Total Environment*, 650, 1382–1391.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.069
- Teitelbaum, C. S., Converse, S. J., Fagan, W. F., Böhning-Gaese, K., O'Hara, R. B., Lacy, A. E., & Mueller,
  T. (2016). Experience drives innovation of new migration patterns of whooping cranes in
  response to global change. *Nature Communications*, 7, 1–7.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12793
- Teitelbaum, C. S., & Mueller, T. (2019). Beyond Migration: Causes and Consequences of Nomadic Animal Movements. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 34(6), 569–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.02.005

- Thorup, K., Alerstam, T., Hake, M., & Kjellén, N. (2003). Bird orientation: Compensation for wind drift in migrating raptors is age dependent. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 270(SUPPL. 1), 8–11. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2003.0014
- Thorup, K., Bisson, I.-A., Bowlin, M. S., Holland, R. A., Wingfield, J. C., Ramenofsky, M., & Wikelski, M. (2007). Evidence for a navigational map stretching across the continental U.S. in a migratory songbird. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(46), 18115–18119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704734104
- Thorup, K., Vega, M. L., Snell, K. R. S., Lubkovskaia, R., Willemoes, M., Sjöberg, S., Sokolov, L. V., &
  Bulyuk, V. (2020). Flying on their own wings: young and adult cuckoos respond similarly to long-distance displacement during migration. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 7698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64230-x
- Treep, J., Bohrer, G., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Duriez, O., De Moraes Frasson, R. P., & Bouten, W. (2016).
   Using high-resolution GPS tracking data of bird flight for meteorological observations. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, *97*(6), 951–961. https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-14-00234.1
- Valerio, F., Ferreira, E., Godinho, S., Pita, R., Mira, A., Fernandes, N., & Santos, S. M. (2020). Predicting Microhabitat Suitability for an Endangered Small Mammal Using Sentinel-2 Data. *Remote Sensing*, *12*(3), 562. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12030562
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Bouten, W., Klaassen, R. H. G., Koks, B. J., Schlaich, A. E., Diermen, J. van, Loon,
  E. E. van, & Shamoun-Baranes, J. (2015). Regional and seasonal flight speeds of soaring migrants and the role of weather conditions at hourly and daily scales. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 46, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00457
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Kekkonen, J., & Byholm, P. (2017). Wind conditions and geography shape the first outbound migration of juvenile honey buzzards and their distribution across sub-Saharan Africa. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 284*(1855), 20170387. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0387
- Vansteelant, Wouter M.G., Gangoso, L., Bouten, W., Viana, D. S., & Figuerola, J. (2021). Adaptive drift and barrier-avoidance by a fly-forage migrant along a climate-driven flyway. *Movement Ecology*, 9(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-021-00272-8
- Ventura, F., Granadeiro, J. P., Padget, O., & Catry, P. (2020). Gadfly petrels use knowledge of the windscape, not memorized foraging patches, to optimize foraging trips on ocean-wide scales.
   *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 287*(1918).
   https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1775

Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Masero, J. A., Piersma, T., & Senner, N. R.

(2018). Generational shift in spring staging site use by a long-distance migratory bird. *Biology Letters*, 14(2), 2009–2012. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2017.0663

- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., McBride, A. D., Kaspersma, W., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Both, C., Senner, N. R., & Piersma, T. (2021). Age-dependent timing and routes demonstrate developmental plasticity in a long-distance migratory bird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13641
- Vickery, J. A., Ewing, S. R., Smith, K. W., Pain, D. J., Bairlein, F., Škorpilová, J., & Gregory, R. D. (2014). The decline of Afro-Palaearctic migrants and an assessment of potential causes. *Ibis*, *156*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12118
- Weimerskirch, H., Åkesson, S., & Pinaud, D. (2006). Postnatal dispersal of wandering albatrosses Diomedea exulans: Implications for the conservation of the species. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *37*(1), 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0908-8857.2006.03675.x
- Wikelski, M., Kays, R. W., Kasdin, N. J., Thorup, K., Smith, J. A., & Swenson, G. W. (2007). Going wild:
  What a global small-animal tracking system could do for experimental biologists. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 210(2), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02629
- Wilcove, D. S., & Wikelski, M. (2008). Going, going, gone: Is animal migration disappearing? *PLoS Biology*, 6(7), 1361–1364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060188
- Williams, H. J., Shepard, E. L. C., Duriez, O., & Lambertucci, S. A. (2015). Can accelerometry be used to distinguish between flight types in soaring birds ? *Animal Biotelemetry*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-015-0077-0
- Wilson, R. P., White, C. R., Quintana, F., Halsey, L. G., Liebsch, N., Martin, G. R., & Butler, P. J. (2006).
  Moving towards acceleration for estimates of activity-specific metabolic rate in free-living animals: The case of the cormorant. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *75*(5), 1081–1090.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01127.x
- Winger, B. M., & Pegan, T. M. (2021). Migration distance is a fundamental axis of the slow-fast continuum of life history in boreal birds. *Ornithology*, 138(4), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1093/ornithology/ukab043
- Winkler, D. W., Jørgensen, C., Both, C., Houston, A. I., McNamara, J. M., Levey, D. J., Partecke, J.,
  Fudickar, A., Kacelnik, A., Roshier, D., & Piersma, T. (2014). Cues, strategies, and outcomes: How
  migrating vertebrates track environmental change. *Movement Ecology*, 2(1), 1–15.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-3933-2-10
- Wynn, J., Guilford, T., Padget, O., Perrins, C. M., Mckee, N., Gillies, N., Tyson, C., Dean, B., Kirk, H., & Fayet, A. L. (2021). Early-life development of contrasting outbound and return migration routes in a long-lived seabird. *Ibis*, 0–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.13030

- Xu, Y., Si, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Prins, H. H. T., Cao, L., & de Boer, W. F. (2019). Loss of functional connectivity in migration networks induces population decline in migratory birds. *Ecological Applications*, 29(7), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1960
- Yonehara, Y., Goto, Y., Yoda, K., Watanuki, Y., Young, L. C., Weimerskirch, H., Bost, C. A., & Sato, K. (2016). Flight paths of seabirds soaring over the ocean surface enable measurement of finescale wind speed and direction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(32), 9039–9044. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523853113
- Zorrozua, N., Aldalur, A., Herrero, A., Diaz, B., Delgado, S., Sanpera, C., Jover, L., & Arizaga, J. (2020). Breeding Yellow-legged Gulls increase consumption of terrestrial prey after landfill closure. *Ibis*, *162*(1), 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12701

# Performance of GPS/GPRS tracking

# devices improves with

# increased fix interval and

is not affected by animal deployment



# Performance of GPS/GPRS tracking devices improves with increased fix interval and is not affected by animal deployment

Marta Acácio<sup>1\*</sup>, Phil W. Atkinson<sup>2</sup>, João Paulo Silva<sup>3,4</sup>, Aldina M. A. Franco<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, NR2 3RJ United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup> British Trust for Ornithology, The Nunnery, Thetford, IP24 2PU, United Kingdom

<sup>3</sup> CIBIO/InBio, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado, Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>4</sup> BIOPOLIS Program in Genomics, Biodiversity and Land Planning, CIBIO, Campus de Vairão, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

# Author's contributions

All authors developed the concepts and designed the experiment. MA carried out the experiments and the fieldwork, analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. All authors revised and approved the manuscript.

# Revised version published as:

Acácio, M., Atkinson, P.W., Silva, J.P. & Franco, A.M.A (2022) Performance of GPS/GPRS tracking devices improves with increased fix interval and is not affected by animal deployment. *PLoS ONE*, 17(3): e0265541. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265541

# Abstract

The use of GPS tracking technologies has revolutionised the study of animal movement providing unprecedentedly detailed information. The characterisation of GPS accuracy and precision under different conditions is essential to correctly identify the spatial and temporal resolution at which studies can be conducted. Here, we examine the influence of fix acquisition interval and device deployment on the performance of a new GPS/GSM solar powered device. Horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision of locations were obtained under different GPS fix acquisition intervals (1min, 20 min and 60 min) in a stationary test. The test devices were deployed on pre-fledgling White Storks Ciconia ciconia and we quantified accuracy and precision after deployment while controlling for bias caused by variation in habitat, topography, and animal movement. We also assessed the performance of GPS-Error, a metric provided by the device, at identifying inaccurate locations (> 10 m). Average horizontal accuracy varied between 3.4 to 6.5 m, and vertical accuracy varied between 4.9 to 9.7 m, in high (1 min) and low frequency (60 min) GPS fix intervals, these values were similar after the deployment on White Storks. Over 84% of GPS horizontal positions and 71% of vertical positions had less than 10m error in accuracy. Removing 3% of data with highest GPS-Error eliminated over 99% of inaccurate positions in high GPS frequency intervals, but this metric was not effective in the low frequency intervals. We confirmed the suitability of these devices for studies requiring horizontal and vertical accuracies of 5-10m. For higher accuracy data, intensive GPS fix intervals should be used, but this requires more sophisticated battery management, or larger batteries and devices.

# 2.1 Introduction

The collection of animal movement data has substantially benefited from rapid technological advances. New tracking technologies enable researchers to unravel novel patterns of animal behaviour and collect detailed spatial and temporal resolution data that can inform species conservation and management (Katzner & Arlettaz, 2020). High accuracy Global Positioning System (GPS) technology devices are now commonly used to track wildlife across taxa and environments and have improved the study of animal movement and habitat use (Bridge et al., 2011; Tomkiewicz et al., 2010), revolutionizing the field of movement ecology (Nathan et al., 2008).

The GPS location data can be archived or remotely transmitted by the tracking devices. The ability to remotely transmit data is particularly convenient and allows researchers to track animals that are difficult to recapture and to collect data at higher fix intervals, since data is recovered regardless of the animals' movements or the device memory (Bridge et al., 2011). There are several transmission protocols, but Global System for Mobile communications / General Packet Radio Service (GSM/GPRS) has become widely used enabling worldwide transmission of large quantities of GPS data with reduced communications costs (Katzner & Arlettaz, 2020). The combination of affordable remote transmission of data with solar power energy led to an improvement in device longevity and an exponential increase in tracking data collection (Bridge et al., 2011).

The spatial resolution of the location data obtained by GPS tracking devices can vary due to environmental and technical reasons. The main environmental sources of variability in GPS device performance are topography (Cain III et al., 2005; D'Eon et al., 2002) and habitat (Augustine et al., 2011; Belant, 2009; Cargnelutti et al., 2007; Forin-Wiart et al., 2015). GPS accuracy tends to decrease in areas with closed canopy forests (Byrne et al., 2017; DeCesare et al., 2005; Hansen & Riggs, 2008; Jiang et al., 2008; Lewis et al., 2007; Recio et al., 2011; Sager-Fradkin et al., 2007) (but see Fischer et al., 2018), where GPS fix acquisition rates are reduced given the attenuation of GPS signal resulting from poor sky availability (Byrne et al., 2017; Cain III et al., 2005; Cargnelutti et al., 2007; Dussault et al., 2011; Adams et al., 2013; Cain III et al., 2005; D'Eon et al., 2002; Hansen & Riggs, 2008; Jiang et al., 2008; Recio et al., 2011; Sager-Fradkin et al., 2007). Moreover, in solar powered devices, fix acquisition rates can be reduced due to poor charging conditions (Byrne et al., 2017). Accuracy variability can also result from technical aspects related with signal acquisition, for example, the number (Moen et al., 1997) and geometry of satellites in the sky (Dussault et al., 2011), which is quantified by the dilution of precision (DOP) metric. Higher DOP values indicate lower accuracy and can be due to poor satellite configuration, low number of satellites available, or increased triangulation errors due to clustering of satellites (Dussault et al., 2011; Moen et al., 1997; Recio et al., 2011). Both the number of satellites (D'Eon et al., 2002; Ironside et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2007) and DOP (D'Eon & Delparte, 2005; Dussault et al., 2011; Fischer et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2007) are metrics that can be used to identify and eliminate low accuracy locations, but these methods tend to be poor predictors of fix accuracy (Adams et al., 2013; Byrne et al., 2017; Cargnelutti et al., 2007).

After device deployment, the morphology, movement and behaviour of animals can also influence both accuracy (Bouten et al., 2013; Cargnelutti et al., 2007) and fix acquisition success (D'Eon, 2003; Graves & Waller, 2006; Lewis et al., 2007; Mattisson et al., 2010) (but see (Quaglietta et al., 2012)), hence device accuracy should be quantified before and after deployment. Stationary tests can be used to quantify performance before deployment, by comparing the distance between the estimated location given by the tracking device and the true location obtained by an independent method. These tests can provide realistic assessments of location error and determine device accuracy (Adams et al., 2013; Byrne et al., 2017; D'Eon & Delparte, 2005; Lewis et al., 2007). However, it is difficult to assess device performance after deployment, as it requires knowing the exact positions of the animals after deployment (Frair et al., 2010; Quaglietta et al., 2012), thus accuracy after deployment is normally assessed using pets (Cargnelutti et al., 2007; Forin-Wiart et al., 2015).

It is important to quantify the spatial resolution of data obtained from tracking devices and provide accuracy estimates to the locations used in research applied to conservation and policy making (Katzner & Arlettaz, 2020). Low horizontal GPS accuracy can detrimentally affect habitat selection studies, leading to poor model precision (Frair et al., 2004; Montgomery et al., 2011; Morehouse & Boyce, 2013; Webb et al., 2013), while low vertical accuracy can be critical when determining flight altitude (Poessel et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2020), collision risk with human infrastructures (Khosravifard et al., 2020; Schaub et al., 2020; Sheppard et al., 2015), and for determining 3D habitat utilization distributions of airborne animals (Khosravifard et al., 2020; Tracey et al., 2014). Determining ways to identify low accuracy positions would enable researchers to increase the quality of the location datasets obtained and minimize the constraints caused by low accuracy GPS locations.

With an increasing use of GPS tracking technology, new devices are currently being designed and developed. Differences in hardware and software can influence the performance of tracking devices (Cain III et al., 2005; Frair et al., 2004; Hansen & Riggs, 2008; Poessel et al., 2018), therefore it is critical to assess their accuracy and precision in order to understand their applicability in ecological studies. Here, we describe a novel GPS/GPRS wildlife tracking device and quantify its horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision in stationary tests and after deployment on large birds. We examine device variability and assess if GPS-Error, a metric calculated by the GPS device, can be used to identify low-accuracy locations. We assess the performance of the devices in field conditions and discuss their use in ecological and conservation studies.

# 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### GPS/GPRS devices

The Movetech Telemetry Flyways-50 is a compact Quad-band GPS/GPRS unit, a 22% efficiency solar cell, a Lithium-Ion battery, and a nylon plastic 3-D printed housing. The device weight starts at 23g. In this test we used the 50g model suitable for deployment on large birds, such as White Storks *Ciconia ciconia* (Gilbert et al., 2016; Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020, 2021) or Spanish Imperial Eagles *Aquila adalberti* (Ramos et al., 2019). The GPS/GPRS unit contains a GPS module with an on-board chip antenna. The GPS determines the 3D fix coordinates (horizontal and altitude above the ellipsoid) when 4 or more satellites are in view. The device can be programmed to log GPS data from 1 second to 24 hours, allowing for different day and night intervals. The intervals can be updated over the air, permitting an adaptation of the schedule to new environmental conditions.

The GPS unit provides an estimate of the positional error (hereafter *GPS-Error*), which considers the maximum latitude/longitude position displacement in meters with a probability of 67% (i.e., ± 1 standard deviation). This metric is calculated directly by the GPS module and is more reliable than using single metrics of error (e.g. Horizontal Dilution of Precision or number of satellites used to obtain the fix) (Quectel Wireless Solutions Co. Ltd, n.d.). The data can be transferred to Movebank (Wikelski et al., 2020), and then visualized and downloaded for further analysis.

The GSM/GPRS unit, coupled with an agnostic SIM-card, provides global cellular connectivity and there is no external antenna, minimizing drag and interference with animal movements. These are archival devices with a memory for over 60,000 records, reducing the risk of data loss when the animal is in areas without GPRS network.

#### Chapter 2

#### Accuracy and precision in stationary test

To assess the accuracy and precision of the devices, we performed a stationary test with 11 GPS/GPRS tracking devices, fully sealed within a nylon plastic housing of medium thickness (between 1.5-2 mm) and ready for deployment. The stationary test was completed on a triangulation station located in Southern Portugal. The surrounding landscape is characterized by low altitude, slightly undulating plains, with large areas of non-irrigated agricultural land and low density of Cork *Quercus suber* and Holm-oak Trees *Quercus ilex*. We placed the devices on top of a triangulation station, at about 2 m above the ground, with a clear and uninterrupted view of the sky and programmed the devices over the air at three fix intervals: collecting GPS data every 1 min, 20 min and 60 min.

Horizontal accuracy was calculated as the distance between the coordinates obtained by the devices and the precise coordinates of the triangulation station, provided by the Direcção-Geral do Território (DGT) (Direcção Geral do Território, 2021). Vertical accuracy was calculated as the difference between the altitude above the ellipsoid of the top of the triangulation station, and the altitude obtained by the devices. Negative vertical accuracy values are obtained when the GPS device's altitude value is higher than the true altitude, and positive values result from a reading smaller than the true altitude. Hence, we quantified biases in under or overestimation of vertical locations.

The horizontal precision was determined using the mean and standard deviation of the geodesic distance between all locations obtained by the tracking devices, and the vertical precision as the mean absolute difference between all altitude readings of each device.

We performed a Kruskal-Wallis statistical analysis to assess differences in accuracy and precision between devices. We used data from all devices to compare the accuracy and precision of the positions collected at different fix intervals.

#### Chapter 2

### Identification of inaccurate positions

We examined if the *GPS-Error* metric, calculated by the device, could be used to identify horizontal and vertically inaccurate positions (horizontal and vertical locations with more than 10 m error). Location error was classified in three categories: 11-20 m, 21-30 m and larger than 30 m. For each tracking device, we excluded 1%, 3%, 5% and 10% of the positions with highest *GPS-Error* and determined the proportion of locations with above errors remaining in the dataset. We compared the reliability *of GPS-Error* at identifying the locations with the highest vertical and horizontal error for the three device schedules tested.

## Accuracy and precision after deployment on birds

To assess the accuracy and precision of GPS devices before deployment, we performed a stationary test on 17 GPS-GPRS devices, programmed with 20 min fix interval, fully sealed within a reinforced housing (between 3-4 mm thickness ) and ready for deployment on White Storks. The GPS devices were left in the triangulation station for a minimum of 4 days and a maximum of 15 days. We calculated the horizontal and vertical position of the triangulation station by averaging 3 GPS positions and 3 altitude readings collected with a Ashtech ProMark 220 and an Ashtech 660 external antenna, on differential GPS mode (dGPS). The dGPS provided readings with a horizontal accuracy of 0.98 m (± 0.07 m) and vertical accuracy of 0.57 m (±0.42 m). By using the dGPS coordinates instead of the coordinates provided by DGT, we were able to replicate this protocol to calculate the precise location of the White Stork nests and reliably compare the performance of the GPS devices before and after deployment.

After the stationary test, the 17 devices were deployed on pre-fledging White Stork on nests located in the same region as the stationary test (approximately 50 km radius), in order to control for possible GPS sources error, such as different topography or habitat. The White Stork chicks tagged were approximately 50 days old, had a minimum wing length of 400 mm and minimum weight 2.9 kg. The device and harness weighted less than 3% of the storks' body weight. The loggers were back-mounted using a Teflon harness, with a weak link consisting of biodegradable cotton stitches below the sternum (Gilbert et al., 2016; Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021). This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas and the Animal Welfare & Ethical Review Board from the School of Biological Sciences at the University of East Anglia. Licenses to deploy the loggers were granted by the Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas and stureza e das Florestas (license number 364/2020/CAPT to 368/2020/CAPT).

The nests were located on top of trees providing the devices a clear and uninterrupted view of the sky. To calculate the precise horizontal and vertical position of the nest, we averaged 3 GPS coordinates collected with the dGPS on top of the nest. To calculate the tracking device accuracy and precision after deployment we considered the GPS positions collected during the first 7 days after deployment to guarantee the data was obtained prior to fledgling, as White Stork juveniles do not fledge before 65 days. Horizontal and vertical accuracy, and horizontal and vertical precision of the devices before and after deployment were calculated as described above. We performed a Kruskal-Wallis statistical analysis to assess differences in accuracy and precision before and after deployment. All analysis were performed in R software (R Core Team, 2019), and distances calculated using package *geosphere* (Hijmans, 2019).

# 2.3 Results

## Stationary test

During the stationary test, we collected a variable number of GPS fixes per device using three GPS fix collection intervals (1 min, 20 min and 60 min), with a 100% fix acquisition rate (Table 2.1).

 Table 2.1 - Number of devices and locations collected during stationary and deployment tests.
 Mean

 and standard deviation of horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision, in meters, in the different fix

 intervals.

Treatment	Fix interval	Number of devices	Number of locations	Horizontal		Vertical	
				Accuracy Mean (sd)	Precision Mean (sd)	Accuracy Mean (sd)	Precision Mean (sd)
Stationary	1 min	1	1929	3.40 (3.10)	4.93 (4.15)	4.95 (4.12)	3.60 (5.94)
	20 min	10	2203	4.23 (4.28)	6.14 (5.46)	6.56 (6.72)	8.79 (9.17)
	60 min	7	1488	6.50 (8.34)	9.15 (9.46)	9.69 (19.28)	14.31 (24.95)
Before Deployment	20 min	17	7333	4.21 (18.0)	7.10 (23.4)	7.00 (71.0)	11.00 (85.1)
After Deployment	20 min	17	5204	4.10 (15.0)	6.72 (19.7)	6.00 (56.0)	10.00 (66.8)

There was a significant decrease in horizontal ( $\chi 2 = 508.07$ , df = 2, p-value <0.001) and vertical ( $\chi 2 = 168.23$ , df = 2, p-value <0.001) accuracy and horizontal ( $\chi 2 = 108.41$ , df = 2, p-value <0.001) and vertical ( $\chi 2 = 361.90$ , df = 2, p-value <0.001) precision with increasing GPS fix acquisition intervals (Figure 2.1). The horizontal accuracy in the 1 min fix interval was 3.40 m (±3.10 m) and vertical accuracy was 4.95 m (±4.12 m) and decreased to 6.50 m (±8.34 m) and 9.69 m (±19.28 m) horizontal and vertical accuracy, respectively, in the 20 and 60 min fix

interval. Vertical location error was approximately symmetric around zero during the longer fix intervals; during short intervals, the vertical errors were always positive, indicating a consistent underestimation of true altitude. Precision was also influenced by the fix collection interval. In the 1 min interval, the horizontal precision was 4.93 m ( $\pm$  4.15 m) and vertical precision 3.60 m ( $\pm$  5.90 m). In the 60 min interval, the horizontal precision was 9.15 m ( $\pm$  9.46 m) and vertical precision 14.31 m ( $\pm$  24.95 m), with intermediate values in the 20 min interval (horizontal precision = 6.14 m  $\pm$  5.46 m, vertical precision = 8.79 m  $\pm$  9.17 m) (Table 2.1).



**Figure 2.1 – Horizontal and vertical accuracy and precision of devices programmed in different GPS fix intervals.** Horizontal (A) and vertical (B) accuracy, and horizontal (C) and vertical (D) precision in meters of devices programmed with fix intervals of 1 minute, 20 minutes and 60 minutes. The box represents 25, 50 and 75% of the data and the error bar represents 5% and 95% of the data.

There was significant variability in accuracy between devices both in the 20 min ( $\chi$ 2 = 82.46, df = 9, p-value <0.001) and 60 min interval ( $\chi$ 2 = 22.62, df = 6, p-value <0.001), however, all devices consistently increased in accuracy in higher frequency GPS fix collection intervals (Figure 2.2).



**Figure 2.2 – Horizontal and vertical accuracy variability of devices programmed on a 20 and 60 min GPS fix interval.** Horizontal (A) and vertical (B) accuracy of tracking devices programmed to collect GPS locations every 20 and 60 minutes. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

## Identification of inaccurate positions

The proportion of horizontally accurate positions (location error < 10 m) varied according to the device (Figure 2.3). Approximately 98% and 96% of the positions had a horizontal error below 10 m in the high frequency 1 min and 20 min intervals, respectively. The proportion of accurate locations declined to 83%, in the 60 min fix interval. Vertical accuracy also declined from 98% in the high frequency interval to approximately 71% in the 60 min fix intervals. *GPS-Error* provided a good metric to identify the locations that were less accurate in high intensity
fix intervals. Eliminating 3% of the data with the highest *GPS-Error* obtained with the 1min fix interval, reduced 99% of positions with  $\geq$ 10 m horizontal and vertical errors. *GPS-Error* was not effective at identifying the inaccurate locations in the less intensive schedules (Figure 2.3).

## Performance after deployment

In total, across all 16 devices we collected 7,333 positions during the stationary test and 5,204 GPS positions during the deployment test. Horizontal accuracy did not change after deployment of the devices on White Storks ( $\chi$ 2 = 3.80, df = 1, p-value = 0.051), the mean accuracy was 4.21 m (± 18 m) before and 4.10 m (± 15 m) after deployment (Figure 2.4). Vertical accuracy improved after deployment ( $\chi$ 2 = 43.72, df = 1, p-value <0.001), from 7 m (± 71 m) to 6 m (±56 m). Both horizontal and vertical precisions improved after deployment. Horizontal precision was 7.10 m (± 23 m) before and 6.72 m (± 19.7 m) after deployment ( $\chi$ 2 = 4543.2, df = 1, p-value <0.001), and vertical precision improved from 11m (± 85 m) to 10 m (± 67 m) after deployment ( $\chi$ 2 = 6824.0, df = 1, p-value <0.001) (Table 2.1).



**Figure 2.3 – Identification of inaccurate positions in different GPS fix intervals.** Percentage of locations with horizontal and vertical error larger than 10 meters for each device, and after removing the points with largest *GPS-Error* and remaining with 99%, 97%, 93%, 95% and 90% of the original data. The dash line indicates 1% of locations with vertical and horizontal errors larger than 10 meters.



**Figure 2.4 – Cumulative frequency of horizontal and vertical accuracy before and after deployment on White Storks.** Cumulative frequency of **(A)** horizontal and **(B)** vertical errors (in m) of 16 GPS/GPRS devices before deployment (grey dashed line) and after deployment on White Storks (black line). Shaded areas represent the standard deviation of the errors.

# 2.4 Discussion

In this study, we quantify the accuracy and precision of Flyway 50 Movetech Telemetry tracking devices and assess its suitability for studies that require high spatial resolution. Horizontal (3.40 m at 1 min fix interval) and vertical (4.95 m at 1 min fix interval) accuracies improved with decreasing fix intervals and were not negatively affected after deployment on birds. This accurate spatial resolution data enables ecological and behavioural studies that require highly accurate and precise information.

## GPS fix interval

The fix interval influenced the accuracy and precision of the devices, with a loss of 3.10 m and 4.74 m in horizontal and vertical accuracy, respectively, from the 1 min to 60 min interval (6.50 m horizontal and 9.69 m vertical accuracy at 60 min fix interval). These results support

previous findings that longer fix intervals have a negative effect on location accuracy (Augustine et al., 2011; Bouten et al., 2013; Mills et al., 2006). The GPS units store information on the satellite constellation of the previous fix for a period of time (ephemeris retention), which increases the performance of the device when calculating a new location (Augustine et al., 2011), by increasing GPS location acquisition success (Cain III et al., 2005) and providing a fix in a shorter period of time (Jiang et al., 2008), usually designated as a warm start. However, Cain III et al. (Cain III et al., 2005) did not find an effect of fix interval on accuracy and Jiang et al. (Jiang et al., 2008) found that the positions obtained with longer fix intervals (60 min) had lower DOP than in shorter intervals. Forin-Wiart et al. (Forin-Wiart et al., 2015) found higher location errors in the 5 min interval, compared to 15 and 60 min intervals. They proposed that given the high temporal correlation between fixes, a low accuracy location would influence the following GPS position, decreasing the overall accuracy of the device. Our findings do not support this theory, even with similar fix intervals and in similar, open area habitat. This difference in results highlights the importance of testing the GPS units from different manufacturers, as they might produce different results (Cain III et al., 2005; Frair et al., 2004; Hansen & Riggs, 2008). Moreover, with newly developed loggers that collect data in different intervals according to the battery performance (e.g. dynamic fix transmitters (Byrne et al., 2017)), the fix interval should be taken into consideration when accounting for device accuracy.

#### Performance after deployment

After deployment on White Storks, we did not find a decrease in horizontal accuracy. In fact, the devices performed slightly better after deployment than before (increase in 1 m vertical accuracy and 0.38 m in horizontal precision and 1 m in vertical precision).

The performance of GPS devices can be influenced by environmental factors, such as topography (Cain III et al., 2005) and habitat (Adams et al., 2013; Cargnelutti et al., 2007). Vegetation structure and proximity to buildings might also decrease the sky availability and reflect the GPS signal, which increases location error (Adams et al., 2013). In our study design, we avoided topography and habitat bias by performing the stationary tests geographically close to the deployment locations. However, the stationary test before deployment was performed with our tested devices in close proximity to each other (less than 2cm apart) and on the cement structure the triangulation station, which could have decreased the accuracy of the devices before deployment due to the reflection of the GPS signal.

Moreover, after deployment, the storks were on nests located on top of high trees with uninterrupted view of the sky, which could have slightly increased the accuracy and precision of the devices. Other studies have found that animal movement (Cargnelutti et al., 2007; Graves & Waller, 2006; Recio et al., 2011), behaviour (D'Eon, 2003; Mattisson et al., 2010) morphology of the animal (Graves & Waller, 2006) and tag attachment method (Kölzsch et al., 2016) can restrain the signal reception. The angle of the GPS antenna in relation to the sky has been found to influence the performance of the device, with lower fix acquisition success (Belant, 2009; Quaglietta et al., 2012) and lower accuracy (D'Eon & Delparte, 2005; Forin-Wiart et al., 2015; Weaver et al., 2015) when the antenna is not directly facing the sky. When estimating the post-deployment device accuracy and precision, we prevented animal movement and behaviour bias by deploying the devices on birds before fledging. However, device position varied between 0°, when the bird is lying on the nest, and close to 80° when the bird is standing (Figure 2.5). Despite this large variation in antenna position, White Stork chicks spend a large proportion of the time lying on the nest (pers. obs.), therefore the influence of GPS antenna position on device performance was likely negligible.



Figure 2.5 – Position of the tracking devices on the back of pre-fledging White Storks

Finally, although GPS signal travels through leaves, tree trunks and animal's bodies, there is a reduction of the signal strength and the degree of attenuation depends on the material and distance that the signal has to travel (MacGougan, 2003). Our deployed devices were tested within a reinforced housing, with thicker nylon (between 3-4 mm thickness), which might have increased the number of low accuracy positions when compared to the initial stationary test. Nevertheless, after deployment the tested devices proved to be highly accurate, with over 84% and 71% GPS positions with less than 10 m horizontal and vertical error, respectively.

### Elimination of inaccurate positions

Despite slight losses of accuracy with fix interval, the tested devices were still highly accurate. Combining all fix intervals during the stationary test, 95% of the positions were within 11 and 18 m horizontal and vertical error, respectively. Montgomery et al. (Montgomery et al., 2011) found that in small-scale ecological studies (<5 ha size patch), using a 10 m resolution categorical raster, a mean GPS accuracy of <5 m was needed to obtain 90% accurate inferences. An accuracy of <5m could be obtained with the tested devices tested if the fix interval was set between 1 and 20 min intervals.

However, there was a small number of locations with errors above 250 m, both horizontally and vertically. These highly inaccurate positions can lead to a decrease in performance of habitat selection models (Morehouse & Boyce, 2013). For studies requiring very highly accurate GPS locations, such as studies in fragmented landscapes (e.g. urban areas, Adams et al., 2013), or studies of collision with human infrastructures (e.g. wind-farms, Khosravifard et al., 2020; Schaub et al., 2020), it is important to be able to identify and eliminate outlier positions to increase GPS accuracy.

The most commonly used metrics to filter large error in GPS positions are the number of satellites (D'Eon et al., 2002; Ironside et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2007) and DOP (Adams et al., 2013; D'Eon & Delparte, 2005; Dussault et al., 2011; Fischer et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2008; Lewis et al., 2007). However, these can result in the elimination of a large proportion of the dataset, including accurate positions, while not eliminating all inaccurate positions (Bjørneraas et al., 2010; Ironside et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2007; Recio et al., 2011). Estimating the true altitude error and relate it to the horizontal error, produces acceptable results in eliminating poor quality fixes in comparison with single metric models (Laver et al., 2015). This method however is only suitable for broad-scale habitat analysis, and since it relies on knowing the exact altitude of the animal, it is not appropriate for arboreal or flying species.

The devices tested in this study provide a *GPS-Error* estimate that proved to be effective at identifying low accuracy positions in short fix intervals (1 min), but it was not possible to replicate the results with longer fix intervals. Moreover, since the performance of the device is related to the habitat, by excluding locations with large positional errors there

can be a bias in excluding data related to a single habitat (Frair et al., 2004, 2010; Ironside et al., 2017; Laver et al., 2015; Lewis et al., 2007; Webb et al., 2013). Using species-specific GPS metadata, such as unrealistic speed, turning angles or distances travelled between consecutive fixes is effective in eliminating large positional errors (Bjørneraas et al., 2010). However, this method is dependent on the mobility of the species, as well as the fix interval (Laver et al., 2015). Other modelling techniques, such as using sensors (accelerometers and magnetometers) and GPS drift-corrected dead reckoning, have successfully increased the accuracy of animal movement estimates in low intensity GPS schedules (Dewhirst et al., 2016). This is particularly important in non-solar tags in which, in order to maximize the lifespan of the battery, longer fix intervals are used.

### Acknowledgments

The authors give special thanks to Dr. Inês Catry, Bruno Herlander Martins, Carlos Pacheco and Dr. Kate Rogerson for help during fieldwork and deployment of the devices on White Storks, and to Liga para a Proteção da Natureza (LPN) for support during fieldwork. This research was funded by Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) and Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), via the NEXUSS CDT Training in the Smart and Autonomous Observation of the Environment (NE/N012070/1). Funding for this project was also provided by NERC via the EnvEast DTP (NE/ K006312), Norwich Research Park Translational Fund, University of East Anglia Innovation Funds and Earth and Life Systems Alliance funds. This research also benefited from FEDER Funds through the Operational Competitiveness Factors Program - COMPETE and by national funds through Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) within the scope of the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-028176. JPS was funded by the FCT project SFRH/BPD/111084/2015.

# References

- Adams, A. L., Dickinson, K. J. M., Robertson, B. C., & van Heezik, Y. (2013). An evaluation of the accuracy and performance of lightweight GPS collars in a suburban environment. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(7), e68496. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068496
- Augustine, B. C., Crowley, P. H., & Cox, J. J. (2011). A mechanistic model of GPS collar location data: Implications for analysis and bias mitigation. *Ecological Modelling*, *222*(19), 3616–3625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.08.026
- Belant, J. L. (2009). Effects of antenna orientation and vegetation on Global Positioning System telemetry collar performance. *Northeastern Naturalist*, *16*(4), 577–584. https://doi.org/10.1656/045.016.n407
- Bjørneraas, K., Van Moorter, B., Rolandsen, C. M., & Herfindal, I. (2010). Screening Global Positioning System location data for errors using animal movement characteristics. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 74(6), 1361–1366. https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-405
- Bouten, W., Baaij, E. W., Shamoun-Baranes, J., & Camphuysen, K. C. J. (2013). A flexible GPS tracking system for studying bird behaviour at multiple scales. *Journal of Ornithology*, 154(2), 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-012-0908-1
- Bridge, E. S., Thorup, K., Bowlin, M. S., Chilson, P. B., Diehl, R. H., Fléron, R. W., Hartl, P., Kays, R., Kelly, J. F., Robinson, W. D., & Wikelski, M. (2011). Technology on the move: Recent and forthcoming innovations for tracking migratory birds. *BioScience*, *61*(9), 689–698. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.9.7
- Byrne, M. E., Holland, A. E., Bryan, A. L., & Beasley, J. C. (2017). Environmental conditions and animal behavior influence performance of solar-powered GPS-GSM transmitters. *The Condor*, 119(3), 389–404. https://doi.org/10.1650/CONDOR-16-76.1
- Cain III, J. W., Krausman, P. R., Jansen, B. D., & Morgart, J. R. (2005). Influence of topography and GPS fix interval on GPS collar performance. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *33*(3), 926–934. https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2005)33[926:iotagf]2.0.co;2
- Cargnelutti, B., Coulon, A., Hewinson, A. J. M., Goulard, M., Angibault, J.-M., & Morellet, N. (2007).
   Testing Global Positioning System performance for wildlife monitoring using mobile collars and known reference points. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, *71*(4), 1380–1387.
   https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-257
- D'Eon, R. G. (2003). Effects of a stationary GPS fix-rate bias on habitat-selection analyses. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *67*(4), 858–863. https://doi.org/10.2307/3802693

- D'Eon, R. G., & Delparte, D. (2005). Effects of radio-collar position and orientation on GPS radio-collar performance, and the implications of PDOP in data screening. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *42*(2), 383–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01010.x
- D'Eon, R. G., Serrouya, R., Smith, G., & Kochanny, C. O. (2002). GPS radiotelemetry error and bias in mountainous terrain. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *30*(2), 430–439.
- DeCesare, N. J., Squires, J. R., & Kolbe, J. A. (2005). Effect of forest canopy on GPS-based movement data. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *33*(3), 935–941. https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2005)33[935:eofcog]2.0.co;2
- Dewhirst, O. P., Evans, H. K., Roskilly, K., Harvey, R. J., Hubel, T. Y., & Wilson, A. M. (2016). Improving the accuracy of estimates of animal path and travel distance using GPS drift-corrected dead reckoning. *Ecology and Evolution*, *6*(17), 6210–6222. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2359
- Direcção Geral do Território. (2021). *Redes Geodésicas*. https://www.dgterritorio.gov.pt/geodesia/redes-geodesicas
- Dussault, C., Courtois, R., Ouellet, J.-P., & Huot, J. (2011). Influence of satellite geometry and differential correction on GPS location accuracy. *Society*, *29*(1), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.2307/3783995
- Fischer, M., Parkins, K., Maizels, K., Sutherland, D. R., Allan, B. M., Coulson, G., & Stefano, J. Di. (2018). Biotelemetry marches on: A cost-effective GPS device for monitoring terrestrial wildlife. *PLoS* ONE, 13(7), e0199617. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199617
- Forin-Wiart, M.-A., Hubert, P., Sirguey, P., & Poulle, M.-L. (2015). Performance and accuracy of lightweight and low-cost GPS data loggers according to antenna positions, fix intervals, habitats and animal movements. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(6), e0129271.
   https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129271
- Frair, J. L., Fieberg, J., Hebblewhite, M., Cagnacci, F., DeCesare, N. J., & Pedrotti, L. (2010). Resolving issues of imprecise and habitat-biased locations in ecological analyses using GPS telemetry data. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *365*(1550), 2187–2200. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0084
- Frair, J. L., Nielsen, S. E., Merrill, E. H., Lele, S. R., Boyce, M. S., Munro, R. H. M., Stenhouse, G. B., & Beyer, H. L. (2004). Removing GPS collar bias in habitat selection studies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 41, 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8901.2004.00902.x
- Gilbert, N. I., Correia, R. A., Silva, J. P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P. W., Gill, J. A., & Franco, A. M.
  A. (2016). Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. *Movement Ecology*, 4(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0

- Graves, T. A., & Waller, J. S. (2006). Understanding the causes of missed Global Positioning System telemetry fixes. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, *70*(3), 844–851. https://doi.org/10.2193/0022-541x(2006)70[844:utcomg]2.0.co;2
- Hansen, M. C., & Riggs, R. A. (2008). Accuracy, Precision, and Observation Rates of Global Positioning System Telemetry Collars. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 72(2), 518–526. https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-493
- Hijmans, R. J. (2019). *geosphere: Spherical trignometry*. R package version 1.5-10. https://cran.rproject.org/package=geosphere
- Ironside, K. E., Mattson, D. J., Arundel, T. R., & Hansen, J. R. (2017). Is GPS telemetry location error screening beneficial? *Wildlife Biology*, 2017(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.2981/wlb.00229
- Jiang, Z., Sugita, M., Kitahara, M., Takatsuki, S., Goto, T., & Yoshida, Y. (2008). Effects of habitat feature, antenna position, movement, and fix interval on GPS radio collar performance in Mount Fuji, central Japan. *Ecological Research*, 23(3), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-007-0412-x
- Katzner, T. E., & Arlettaz, R. (2020). Evaluating contributions of recent tracking-based animal movement ecology to conservation management. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00519
- Khosravifard, S., Skidmore, A. K., Naimi, B., Venus, V., Muñoz, A. R., & Toxopeus, A. G. (2020).
  Identifying birds' collision risk with wind turbines using a multidimensional utilization distribution method. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 44(1), 191–199.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.1056
- Kölzsch, A., Neefjes, M., Barkway, J., Müskens, G. J. D. M., van Langevelde, F., de Boer, W. F., Prins, H. H. T., Cresswell, B. H., & Nolet, B. A. (2016). Neckband or backpack? Differences in tag design and their effects on GPS/accelerometer tracking results in large waterbirds. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-016-0104-9
- Laver, P. N., Powell, R. A., & Alexander, K. A. (2015). Screening GPS telemetry data for locations having unacceptable error. *Ecological Informatics*, *27*, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2015.02.001
- Lewis, J. S., Rachlow, J. L., Garton, E. O., & Vierling, L. A. (2007). Effects of habitat on GPS collar performance: Using data screening to reduce location error. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44(3), 663–671. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01286.x
- MacGougan, G. D. (2003). High sensitivity GPS performance analysis in degraded signal environments. In *MSc Thesis*. University of Calgary, Canada.

- Mattisson, J., Andrén, H., Persson, J., & Segerström, P. (2010). Effects of species behavior on Global Positioning System collar fix rates. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, *74*(3), 557–563. https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-157
- Mills, K. J., Patterson, B. R., & Murray, D. L. (2006). Effects of variable sampling frequencies on GPS transmitter efficiency and estimated wolf home range size and movement distance. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 34(5), 1463–1469. https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2006)34[1463:eovsfo]2.0.co;2
- Moen, R., Pastor, J., & Cohen, Y. (1997). Accuracy of GPS Telemetry collar locations with differential correction. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *61*(2), 530–539. https://doi.org/10.2307/3802612
- Montgomery, R. A., Roloff, G. J., & Hoef, J. M. V. (2011). Implications of ignoring telemetry error on inference in wildlife resource use models. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, *75*(3), 702–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.96
- Morehouse, A. T., & Boyce, M. S. (2013). Deviance from truth: Telemetry location errors erode both precision and accuracy of habitat-selection models. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *37*(3), 596–602. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.292
- Nathan, R., Getz, W. M., Revilla, E., Holyoak, M., Kadmon, R., Saltz, D., & Smouse, P. E. (2008). A movement ecology paradigm for unifying organismal movement research. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(49), 19052–19059.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800375105
- Poessel, S. A., Duerr, A. E., Hall, J. C., Braham, M. A., & Katzner, T. E. (2018). Improving estimation of flight altitude in wildlife telemetry studies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(4), 2064–2070. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13135
- Quaglietta, L., Martins, B. H., de Jongh, A., Mira, A., & Boitani, L. (2012). A low-cost GPS GSM/GPRS telemetry system: Performance in stationary field tests and preliminary data on wild otters (Lutra lutra). *PLoS ONE*, 7(1), e29235. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029235
- Quectel Wireless Solutions Co. Ltd. Quectel. https://www.quectel.com/
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org/
- Ramos, R. F., Silva, J. P., Carrapato, C., Rocha, P., Marques, P. A. M., & Palmeirim, J. M. (2019). Spatial behaviour of Spanish Imperial Eagle Aquila adalberti juveniles during the dependence period revealed by high-resolution GPS tracking data. *Journal of Ornithology*, *160*(2), 463–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-019-01635-0

- Recio, M. R., Mathieu, R., Denys, P., Sirguey, P., & Seddon, P. J. (2011). Lightweight GPS-tags, one giant leap for wildlife tracking? An assessment approach. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), e28225. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028225
- Sager-Fradkin, K. A., Jenkins, K. J., Hoffman, R. A., Happe, P. J., Beecham, J. J., & Wright, R. G. (2007).
  Fix success and accuracy of Global Positioning System collars in old-growth temperate coniferous forests. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, *71*(4), 1298–1308.
  https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-367
- Santos, C. D., Silva, J. P., Muñoz, A. R., Onrubia, A., & Wikelski, M. (2020). The gateway to Africa: What determines sea crossing performance of a migratory soaring bird at the Strait of Gibraltar? *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(6), 1317–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13201
- Schaub, T., Klaassen, R. H. G., Bouten, W., Schlaich, A. E., & Koks, B. J. (2020). Collision risk of Montagu's Harriers Circus pygargus with wind turbines derived from high-resolution GPS tracking. *Ibis*, *162*(2), 520–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12788
- Sheppard, J. K., McGann, A., Lanzone, M., & Swaisgood, R. R. (2015). An autonomous GPS geofence alert system to curtail avian fatalities at wind farms. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 3(43), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-015-0087-y
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A. M. A., Herlander Martins, B., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K., & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, *162*(2), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Martins, B. H., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2021). Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird. *Science of The Total Environment, 782*, 146843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843
- Tomkiewicz, S. M., Fuller, M. R., Kie, J. G., & Bates, K. K. (2010). Global positioning system and associated technologies in animal behaviour and ecological research. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365, 2163–2176. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0090
- Tracey, J. A., Sheppard, J., Zhu, J., Wei, F., Swaisgood, R. R., & Fisher, R. N. (2014). Movement-based estimation and visualization of space use in 3D for wildlife ecology and conservation. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), e101205. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101205
- Weaver, S. A., Ucar, Z., Bettinger, P., & Merry, K. (2015). How a GNSS receiver is held may affect static horizontal position accuracy. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124696
- Webb, S. L., Dzialak, M. R., Mudd, J. P., & Winstead, J. B. (2013). Developing spatially-explicit

weighting factors to account for bias associated with missed GPS fixes in resource selection studies. *Wildlife Biology*, *19*(3), 257–273. https://doi.org/10.2981/12-038

Wikelski, M., Davidson, S. C., & Kays, R. (2020). *Movebank: Archive, analysis and sharing of animal movement data.* www.movebank.org

– Chapter 3 –

# Changes in surface water

# drive the movements of Shoebills



© Adapted from Frank J. Willems original photograph

# Changes in surface water drive the movements of Shoebills

Marta Acácio<sup>1</sup>, Ralf H. E. Mullers<sup>2,3</sup>, Aldina M. A. Franco<sup>1</sup>, Frank J. Willems<sup>4,5</sup> & Arjun Amar<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, NR4 7TJ Norwich, UK

<sup>2</sup> Animal Management, Van Hall Larenstein, University of Applied Sciences, Agora 1, 8934 CJ Leeuwarden, the Netherlands

<sup>3</sup> FitzPatrick Institute of African Ornithology, DSI-NRF Centre of Excellence, University of Cape Town, Rondebosch, Cape Town, 7701, South Africa

<sup>4</sup> Kigelia Solutions, Chisamba Park, Box 12, Fringilla, Zambia

<sup>5</sup> BirdWatch Zambia, 25 Joseph Mwilwa Rd, Lusaka, Zambia

# Authors' contributions

AA, RHEM, FJW and MA conceptualised the study. AA, RHEM, MA, AMAF and FJW designed the methodology. RHEM conducted the fieldwork and data collection. MA analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. All authors read, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

## Publication

Acácio, M., Mullers, R.H.E, Franco, A.M.A., Willems, F.J. & Amar, A. (2021) Changes in surface water drive the movements of Shoebills. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 15796.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95093-5

# Abstract

Animal movement is mainly determined by spatial and temporal changes in resource availability. For wetland specialists, the seasonal availability of surface water may be a major determinant of their movement patterns. This study is the first to examine the movements of Shoebills Balaeniceps rex, an iconic and vulnerable bird species. Using GPS transmitters deployed on 6 immature and 1 adult Shoebills over a 5-year period, during which 4 immatures matured into adults, we analyse their home ranges and distances moved in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. We relate their movements at the start of the rainy season (October to December) to changes in Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI), a proxy for surface water. We show that Shoebills stay in the Bangweulu Wetlands all year round, moving less than 3 km per day on 81% of days. However, average annual home ranges were large, with high individual variability, but were similar between age classes. Immature and adult Shoebills responded differently to changes in surface water; sites that adults abandoned became drier, while sites abandoned by immatures became wetter. However, there were no differences in NDWI of areas used by Shoebills before abandonment and newly selected sites, suggesting that Shoebills select areas with similar surface water. We hypothesise that the different responses to changes in surface water by immature and adult Shoebills are related to agespecific optimal foraging conditions and fishing techniques. Our study highlights the need to understand the movements of Shoebills throughout their life cycle to design successful conservation actions for this emblematic, yet poorly known, species.

# 3.1 Introduction

One of the key challenges in ecology is to understand how environmental fluctuations drive animal movements. Changes in the environment can alter resource distribution, which consequently determines animal migratory (Shariatinajafabadi et al., 2014; Somveille et al., 2015; Van Der Graaf et al., 2006) and, local, movements (Bennetts & Kitchens, 2000; Trierweiler et al., 2013). In wetlands, the distribution of surface water is one of the main determinants of species' spatial distribution (Donnelly et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2010; Smit, 2011) and individual movements (Bennitt et al., 2014; Kleyheeg et al., 2017). In tropical systems with strongly seasonal environments, prolonged periods of drought followed by extreme floods can lead to striking changes in habitat suitability (Bennitt et al., 2014; Roshier et al., 2008) and drive the large-scale movements of waterfowl (Henry et al., 2016), due to fluctuations in the abundance and availability of foraging resources (Cook et al., 2014).

The way individuals explore the environment can change as they age (Krüger et al., 2014; Weimerskirch et al., 2014), and recent advances in GPS tracking technology and increases in device longevity, have enabled the detailed study of individual movements for several years or even throughout lifetimes. This has unravelled differences between adults and juveniles in space use (Krüger et al., 2014; Wolfson et al., 2019), habitat selection (Péron & Grémillet, 2013; Weimerskirch et al., 2014), and timing (Gschweng et al., 2008; Hake et al., 2003; Miller et al., 2016) and efficiency of movements (Miller et al., 2016; Rotics et al., 2016; Sergio et al., 2014). Understanding the drivers of movement of long-lived birds relies on information on the spatial and temporal dynamics of movement at different ages in relation to environmental variables. Such information has only been available relatively recently, through the integration of data from GPS trackers with remotely sensed environmental data (Howison et al., 2018; Thorup et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). Indices based on satellite imagery have been increasingly used to interpret environmental conditions and infer

ecological processes (Thorup et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). The Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI) proposed by McFeeters (McFeeters, 1996) is an index that uses remotely sensed imagery to map surface water. The NDWI delineates and highlights open water by distinguishing it from vegetation and bare soil, and has mostly been used to map waterscapes in urban settings (Mcfeeters, 2013; Yang et al., 2017). More recently, this index has been used to map surface water for animal movement studies (Henry et al., 2016), and to identify suitable habitat and inform area protection for shorebird species (Choi et al., 2019).

The Shoebill Balaeniceps rex is an iconic wetland specialist, with a patchy distribution in central-eastern Africa, from South Sudan to Zambia (Birdlife International, 2020; Guillet, 1978). The Shoebill is a large long-lived species, categorised as Vulnerable by the IUCN. Shoebills have a declining population trend, due to habitat degradation and loss, illegal bird trade and disturbance by humans (Birdlife International, 2020; Dodman, 2013). The global population estimate for the species is 5,000-8,000 individuals, although large uncertainty around this estimate exists, given that this species is cryptic and found in inaccessible areas (Birdlife International, 2020). Shoebills inhabit permanent swampy wetlands with seasonal flooded grasslands, where they prey on fish in shallow waters or use floating vegetation as fishing sites (Guillet, 1979; Mullers & Amar, 2015b). Despite being a highly emblematic species, there are very few studies on Shoebill ecology, and existing studies have focused on deriving local population estimates (Guillet, 1978; Roxburgh & Buchanan, 2010), and better understanding their foraging (Guillet, 1979; Mullers & Amar, 2015b) and breeding ecology (John et al., 2013; Mullers & Amar, 2015a). This species is believed to be sedentary, staying in the same region all year long (Dodman, 2013; Elliott et al., 2020); however, to date, the movement ecology of the Shoebill is completely unknown, which is unsurprising given that very few birds have ever been ringed and no previous tracking studies have occurred on this species. Being a species of high conservation concern, as well as an important source of tourism revenue (African Parks, 2018), it is critical to improve our knowledge of Shoebill

ecology and habitat requirements to implement effective conservation measures (Dodman, 2013).

Using GPS tracking data collected over 5 years, we characterise the movements of immature and adult Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. In common with many other areas occupied by Shoebills, the Bangweulu Wetlands undergoes dramatic changes in water levels between the dry (breeding season) and the wet season. We therefore hypothesise that changes in surface water drive the movements of Shoebills, and that their selected areas have similar surface water. Using the NDWI as a proxy for surface water, we compare 1) the NDWI of areas while Shoebills were present with the NDWI of the same areas the week after the birds left (to examine how these abandoned areas change), and 2) the NDWI of areas used by Shoebills the last week before abandonment with the NDWI of areas the first week after Shoebill arrival (to examine whether they select for similar habitats in relation to surface water). We explore these questions for both adult and immature birds. By analysing the movements of Shoebills in different life stages, and how these movements relate to available surface water, a key environmental factor for wetlands, our goal is to improve our ecological understanding of Shoebills, to ultimately inform the conservation of this mostly unknown and emblematic species.

# 3.2 Methods

## Study area and data collection

This study was conducted in the Bangweulu Wetlands, a Game Management Area (GMA) located in the Muchinga province in north-eastern Zambia (approximately between 11°40' to 12°34'S and 29°78' to 30°87'E). The Bangweulu Wetlands consist of miombo *Brachystegia* sp.

woodlands, grasslands, floodplains, seasonal swamps, and permanent wetlands (Kamweneshe, 2000). This reserve is classified as an Important Bird Area and the area of Chikuni is classified as a Ramsar Site (BirdLife International, 2020). The climate is characterised by a heavy rainfall season from November to April, with a total annual precipitation of 1,200 mm to 1,400 mm (Ng'onga et al., 2019; Thurlow et al., 2009). The lowest water levels occurs in November, and the mean annual water level difference is 1.4 m (Evans, 1978; Kolding & van Zwieten, 2012). This area harbours the southernmost population of Shoebills (Birdlife International, 2020; Elliott et al., 2020), however the size of this population is largely unknown. In 1984, the first Shoebill census in the Bangweulu Wetlands estimated the population at 200-300 individuals (Howard & Aspinwall, 1984). Nevertheless, a large area of the wetland remained un-surveyed (Kamweneshe, 2000) and, in a more recent survey, Roxburgh and Buchanan (Roxburgh & Buchanan, 2010) provided an estimated population size of 1,296 individuals, although this estimate was based on very few sightings, and there was considerable uncertainty around this estimate (95% confidence interval: 477–2,372).

Between August and September of 2011 to 2014, 10 juvenile and 1 adult Shoebills were fitted with 70g satellite-based GPS-trackers (Solar Argos/GPS PTTs, Microwave Telemetry) (Table 3.1). The transmitters were fitted using the body-loop attachment method, with a Teflon-tube harness. Eight pre-fledging juveniles were tagged on their nests when they were on average 84 days old (range 80 - 89 days). Shoebills fledge at approximately 95-105 days (Elliott et al., 2020). Two juveniles (511 and 521) were raised in a recovery centre after being confiscated from the illegal bird trade, and fitted with the GPS transmitter before being released at unknown ages, but likely older than 80-89 days of the other birds. Only one Shoebill (517) was tagged as an adult, which was caught at its nest site. Tracking devices, including harness, weighted 80g, representing 1.3-1.6% of the body mass of birds at the time of deployment (4,900-6,300g). Licences to catch and deploy the tracking devices were provided by the Zambia Wildlife Authority (now Department of National Parks and Wildlife

(DNPW)), and the work was approved by the University of Cape Town Science Faculty Animal Ethics Committee.

 Table 3.1 – Information of the tracked Shoebills.
 Age of the individual at the time of logger deployment,

 start and end dates of tracking, total number of valid GPS positions, excluding outliers, and total number
 of tracking days as immature and adult.

Bird	٨٩٩	Start of	End of	Number of	Immature	Adult
ID	Age	tracking	tracking	GPS positions	tracking days	tracking days
521	Juvenile	03/12/2011	28/10/2014	10,763	617	-
514		09/09/2012	26/11/2013	2,187	-	-
518		15/09/2012	21/04/2013	2,537	-	-
520		03/08/2013	02/05/2018	19,335	725	623
509		26/08/2013	05/03/2018	18,998	724	634
510		30/08/2013	14/11/2013	962	-	-
515		02/09/2013	15/05/2017	16,138	728	347
512		10/09/2013	29/10/2018	21,224	724	863
516		15/11/2013	05/01/2015	3,480	-	-
511		28/10/2014	08/06/2016	6,769	366	-
517	Adult	29/07/2013	15/08/2017	16,928	-	1,444

### Data processing and spatial analysis

The trackers provided a GPS fix every 1-hour between 6 A.M. and 6 P.M., GMT+2, which corresponds to the activity period of Shoebills. The transmitters provided location (latitude and longitude) with a mean error of 18 m (Microwave Telemetry, 2020). We considered all valid GPS locations until the transmitter failed or when there was no movement for several days, indicating death or loss of the GPS transmitter. GPS data was filtered for outliers based on unrealistic movements or speed (more than 150 km/h between two consecutive hourly locations) and visually inspecting the tracks.

Birds were classified as juveniles until the start of the following breeding season (1<sup>st</sup> of May), as immatures during the second and third year and as adults from the fourth year

onwards, since Shoebills start to breed after three years (Elliott et al., 2020). For this study, we only considered the movements of immature and adult birds, since first year juveniles remained near the nest for a long period after fledging (Mullers & Amar, 2015a). Six individuals provided more than 1 year of data, maturing from juvenile to immature birds, and four immature birds provided more than 3 years of data, becoming adults (Table 3.1).

We estimated the annual home range area of individual immature and adult birds using Kernel Density Estimation, with *h-ref* algorithm and grid size of 500 m, using R package adehabitatHR (Calenge, 2006). The year was defined from the start of the breeding season (May) until the following April. We also calculated cumulative home ranges of immature and adults, across all years and individuals, to visualise the area used by this species in the Bangweulu Wetlands.

We quantified the maximum range of Shoebill individual daily movements by calculating the distance between all GPS locations each day and selecting the maximum value (hereafter maximum daily distance). All distances were calculated using R package *geosphere* (Hijmans, 2019a). To understand how movements changed throughout the year for immature and adult birds, we calculated the mean maximum daily distance per month of each individual. All data processing and analysis were performed in R 3.6.1. (R Core Team, 2019).

## Influence of NDWI on Shoebill movements

We analysed Shoebill movements between 2013 and 2017, in relation to changes in surface water from October to December each year. During this period, the levels of surface water change dramatically in the Bangweulu Wetlands, as the rainy season typically starts in November. This period also encompasses the end of the Shoebill breeding season and birds are less constrained by the location of the nests. We compared the NDWI of areas used by Shoebills prior to and after they abandoned them, and compared the NDWI of used areas the last week before abandonment with the NDWI of the newly selected areas, the first week after arrival.

To understand when Shoebills performed large movements, we analysed the frequency of the maximum daily distances. We defined a size threshold (in km's) which captured 80% of smaller scale movements and considered the remaining 20% as '*Moving Days'*. Here we also accounted for movements performed during the night, by calculating the distance between the first GPS location of the day and the last GPS location of the previous day. Movements performed during the night were allocated to the previous day. We classified as '*Areas*', the regions where birds stayed for a minimum of two days between Moving Days. We computed the 95% minimum convex polygons (MCPs) of these Areas and, to understand if birds moved to a different geographical area or remained in a similar location after a Moving Day, we overlayed the MCPs of two consecutive Areas. If the two MCPs overlapped, we considered the individual to have remained in the same Area; if they did not overlap, we considered that the individual moved to a different Area. MCPs were calculated using R packages *sp* (Bivand et al., 2013; Pebesma & Bivand, 2005) and *adehabitatHR* (Calenge, 2006).

We used the NDWI as a proxy for surface water and calculated this index for the Bangweulu Wetlands for all weeks of October until January. When using satellite imagery there is a trade-off between temporal and spatial resolution. In this study, we favoured imagery with higher temporal resolution, using satellite imagery from MODIS Terra Surface Reflectance with 8-days and 500 m resolution (NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, 2018), since the pixel size of 500 m was still smaller than the analysed range of movements. All images had a minimum of 92% of pixels with good quality and a maximum of 2% of pixels not classified due to cloud cover or other reasons. To calculate the NDWI, we used McFeeters (McFeeters, 1996) formula:

$$NDWI = \frac{(Green - NIR)}{(Green + NIR)}$$

where *Green* is MODIS Band 4 (545-565 nm wavelength) and *NIR* (near infrared) is MODIS Band 2 (841-876 nm). The NDWI varies between 1, indicating open water features, and -1, indicating a dry area, on a gradient of surface water. This index was interpreted comparatively, e.g. an area of NDWI of -0.6 is drier than an area of NDWI -0.5 (Figure 3.1). All satellite imagery manipulation was performed using R packages *raster* (Hijmans, 2019b) and *rgdal* (Bivand et al., 2019) and *rgeos* (Bivand & Rundel, 2019).





To test if Shoebills move due to changes in surface water, we extracted the daily mean NDWI of the GPS positions of Shoebills while they were in a particular Area. We then compared the locations where birds were present, with the locations one week after the birds abandoned the Area. We used binomials Generalised Linear Mixed Models (binomials GLMMs), with presence (0) / abandonment (1) of Shoebills as the response variable, daily mean NDWI as the fixed effect, and year and Area nested within bird ID as random effects, to account for lack of independence of measures within years and within the Areas used by different Shoebills. Due to the non-linearity of the relationship between Shoebill presence/abandonment and NDWI (as areas Shoebills abandoned could have become drier or wetter, *i.e.*, with lower or larger NDWI values), we introduced the NDWI as a second-degree polynomial term in the GLMM. We calculated the marginal and conditional R-squared, to assess the variance explained by the fixed effect of the model (mean daily NDWI), and the fixed and random effects of the model, respectively. We built two models, one for adults and another for immatures, to evaluate if the two age groups responded differently to changes in surface water.

To understand if Shoebills select areas of similar surface water when they move, we compared the Shoebill locations the first week after arrival (1) with the locations the last week before they abandoned an Area (0). We tested this hypothesis for immatures and adults. We used binomials GLMMs, with newly selected area (1) / previously occupied area (0) as the response variable, mean daily NDWI as a fixed effect, and year and Area nested within bird ID as random factors. We assessed the variance explained by the model using marginal and conditional R-squared. GLMMs were computed using R package *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015), and R-squared values computed using the package *MuMIn* (Barton, 2019).

# 3.3 Results

We tracked 11 Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia, between December 2011 and October 2018 and collected 119,321 valid GPS positions (Table 3.1). We obtained 47,134 GPS positions for 6 Shoebills tracked as immatures and 44,985 GPS positions of 5 Shoebills tracked

as adults. All other GPS positions were from juveniles (n=4), which died or disappeared before they became immatures and were thus excluded from this research, also because they remained near the nest for a long period after fledging. From the adult GPS positions, 28,057 locations were from 4 immature Shoebills that matured into adults during the tracking period, and 16,928 GPS locations from the one individual tagged as a breeding adult.

## Spatial analysis

Shoebill annual home range was similar in size for adults and immatures (mean 95% kernel = 1,514 km<sup>2</sup> ( $\pm$  1,172) and 1,547 km<sup>2</sup> ( $\pm$  1.296) for adults and immatures, respectively; Figure 3.2, Table 3.2). There was large individual variation in home range size, both for immatures (range 95% kernel: 233 km<sup>2</sup> and 2,628 km<sup>2</sup>) and adults (range 95% kernel: 304 km<sup>2</sup> and 3,375 km<sup>2</sup>) (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 – Description of Shoebill home ranges. Individual average annual home range area (in  $\text{km}^2 \pm$  standard deviation) and total average home range of immature and adult Shoebills, estimated as the 95% and 50% kernel, based on the GPS tracking periods indicated in Table 3.1.

	lmm	ature	Adult		
ID	95% kernel	EQ9( karnal (km²)	95% kernel	50% kernel	
	(km²)	50% kerner (km²)	(km²)	(km²)	
521	233 (± 318)	46 (± 63)	-	-	
520	1,094 (± 585)	212 (± 129)	1,039 (± 866)	145 (± 124)	
509	2,458 (± 617)	431 (± 59)	2,167 (± 241)	389 (± 85)	
515	2,628 (± 2,309)	403 (± 359)	3,375	652	
512	1,585 (± 360)	257 (± 56)	2,167 (± 474)	343 (± 133)	
511	981	200	-	-	
517	-	-	304 (± 108)	54 (± 15)	
All	1 547 (+ 1 296)	263 (+ 204)	1 514 (+ 1 172)	247 (+ 204)	
individuals	1,347 (± 1,290)	203 (± 204)	1,314 (11,1/2)	247 (± 204)	



**Figure 3.2 – Map of Shoebill home ranges.** Cumulative 95% and 50% kernel density estimations for all tracked (A) immature and (B) adult Shoebills, and cumulative 50% kernel density estimation for each (C) immature and (D) adult individual, based on the GPS tracking periods indicated in Table 3.1. The dashed line indicates the border of the Bangweulu Wetlands Game Management Area. Map tiles by Stamen Design (https://stamen.com/), data by OpenStreetMap (https://www.openstreetmap.org/).

For both adults and immatures, the distribution of the maximum daily distance moved was highly skewed (Figure 3.3). On most days both age classes moved relatively short distances (median values; adults: 0.84 km/day, immatures: 0.73 km/day). For both age classes, on 81% of days, birds moved less than 3 km (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.3 – Frequency of the maximum daily distance moved by Shoebills.** Histograms show the frequency of distances moved (in Km's) of (A) immature and (B) adult Shoebills. The dashed red line indicates the threshold that captures 80% of movements, used to define Shoebills' Moving Days.

The mean maximum daily distances moved varied throughout the year, particularly for adult Shoebills. During the breeding season, from June until October, adults performed shorter movements, with the mean maximum daily distance moved being the lowest in August (1.1 km per day). In October, towards the end of the breeding season, adult mean maximum daily distance started to increase, peaking in December (10.5 km per day). Immature Shoebills show less variation in movement distances over the year. Birds moved least in September (1.9 km per day), while movement distances peaked in May to 5.5 km per day (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 – Boxplots of the mean maximum daily distance per month, for individual immature and adult Shoebills, between 2011 and 2018. Data is organised to start at the beginning of the breeding season (May). The boxes represent the 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles of the mean maximum daily distance. Whiskers the 1.5 times the value of inter-quantile range, with values outside this range plotted as black dots. The dashed line above the plot indicates the dry season (May to October) and the wet season (November to April). The shaded area highlights the period between October and December, with an increase of adult mean maximum daily distances.

# Influence of NDWI on Shoebill movements

On over 80% of the days, Shoebills moved less than 3 km, thus 'Moving Days' were defined as days when Shoebills moved more than 3 km (Figure 3.3) and the regions where birds stayed for a minimum of two days between Moving Days were classified as 'Areas' (further details in the Methods section). Between October and December of 2013-2017, across the 5 adults we located 39 different Areas, and, in 2014 and 2015, across the 6 immatures, we identified 33 Areas. Immature birds stayed on average 14±19 days in Areas, whereas adult birds spent 17±24 days in Areas before moving to another location. These locations always had negative

daily mean NDWI values, indicating that Shoebills were not in open water areas and selected relatively dry regions.

We found that the NDWI of the Areas used by Shoebills between October and December was statistically different from the NDWI of the same Areas the week after the birds abandoned (Table 3.3), both for immature and adult Shoebills. However, these relationships differed between the age classes. Adult Shoebills used Areas with an average NDWI value of -0.52, varying from -0.68 to -0.10. The week after adults left the Area, it became drier with the NDWI decreasing to an average of -0.57 (range -0.79 to -0.18). In contrast, for immatures, the mean NDWI of Areas used was -0.53, with a minimum NDWI value of -0.76 and maximum of -0.10.After abandonment, the average NDWI of these Areas increased to -0.43 (range -0.66 to -0.07), indicating that the Areas became wetter (Figure 3.5 A and B). The variance explained by the immature model was higher (marginal R-squared 0.27) than by the adult model (marginal R-squared 0.14), and in both cases the random factors slightly increased the R-squared (immature conditional R-squared 0.32; adult conditional R-squared 0.15) (Table 3.3).

We did not find a statistical difference between the NDWI of Areas used by Shoebills the week before abandonment, and the NDWI of the newly colonised Areas the first week after Shoebill arrival; this was the case for both adults and immatures (Table 3.3). The mean NDWI of Areas used by adult Shoebills the week before abandonment and the week after arrival was -0.54 (ranging from -0.76 to -0.16). For immatures, the NDWI of Areas before abandonment was -0.49 (varying from -0.76 to -0.07), compared to -0.50 (from -0.66 to -0.09) the week after arrival (Figure 3.5 C and D).

Table 3.3 – Results of the GLMM models. The models compared the values of: a) daily mean NDWI of Areas before Shoebill abandonment, with the values of NDWI after the birds abandoned the Area, using year and Area nested within bird ID as random effects. Daily mean NDWI was transformed as a second-degree polynomial (poly 1 and poly 2); b) daily mean NDWI of used Areas the last week before abandonment, with the daily mean NDWI of used Areas the first week after arrival, using year and Area nested within bird ID as random effects.

	Model	Age	Parameter	Estimate (SE)	Z-value	P-value	Marginal R <sup>2</sup>	Conditional R <sup>2</sup>
a)	a) Comparison of NDWI of Areas before and after Shoebill abandonment	Immature	Intercept	0.17 (0.19)	0.87	0.384	0.270	0.320
			NDWI	33.87	10.02	<0.001		
			(poly1)	(3.38)				
			NDWI	-7.35	-2.72	0.007		
			(poly2)	(2.70)				
		Adult	Intercept	0.06 (0.08)	0.76	0.445		
			NDWI	-23.12	-8.72	<0.001	0.144	0.151
			(poly1)	(2.65)				
			NDWI	15.03	5.50	<0.001		
			(poly2)	(2.73)				
b)	b) Comparison of NDWI of used Areas the last week before abandonment and the first week after	Immature	Intercent	-0.03	-0.05	0.963	<0.001	<0.001
			intercept	(0.54)				
			NDWI	-0.05	-0.05	0.957		
				(1.01)				
			Intercept	-0.50	-1.10	0.272	<0.001	<0.001
		Adult		(0.46)				
			NDWI	-0.95	-1.11	0.268		
	arrival			(0.85)		0.200		





# 3.4 Discussion

We described for the first time the annual home range sizes and variation in distances moved over the year for adult and immature Shoebills, providing evidence of age-related differences in their movement ecology. Furthermore, we show that movement patterns of Shoebills were associated with changes in surface water, but these changes contrasted between age classes, with adult abandoning sites that became drier, whereas immatures abandoned sites that became wetter. Despite the small number of tracked Shoebills, which can make the

generalisation of our results to other Shoebill populations challenging, this species inhabits similar habitats throughout their narrow distribution range (Birdlife International, 2020), and thus their movement ecology is likely influenced by analogous environmental drivers.

Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands were largely sedentary, moving less than 3km on over 80% of days. The main prey of Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands are catfish, which they catch mainly through the tactics of stand and wait on top of floating vegetation (Guillet, 1979; Möller, 1982; Mullers & Amar, 2015b). Indeed, field studies in the Bangweulu Wetlands found that they spent 85% of the time performing low-energy activities, such as standing, sitting and preening (Mullers & Amar, 2015b). Walking and flying behaviours may also be associated with foraging, given that a Shoebill strike may disturb the prey and require a move to a different location (Möller, 1982). Therefore, much of these Shoebill's daily movements were likely related to foraging events or searching for suitable foraging habitat.

The average annual home range of Shoebills was around 1,500 km<sup>2</sup> which is larger than for similar species, such as Abdim's Storks *Ciconia abdimii* in Niger (10–120 km<sup>2</sup> (Christensen et al., 2008)). However, there was large individual variation in home range size, both for adult (304 – 3,375 km<sup>2</sup>) and immature Shoebills (233 – 2,628 km<sup>2</sup>). Other studies have shown large individual variation in home range size of similar wetland species, such as Wattled Cranes *Bugeranus carunculatus*, with 95% kernel density estimates varying between 0.4 and 110.4 km<sup>2</sup> (McCann & Benn, 2006), Mauritanian Spoonbills *Platalea leucorodia balsaci*, with home ranges varying from 23 to 101 km<sup>2</sup> (El-Hacen et al., 2013), or American White Pelicans *Pelecanus erythrorhynchos* summer home range varying between 177 and 4,710 km<sup>2</sup> (King et al., 2016). These variations in individual home range size in the same habitat and within the same species show that animal movement is more complex than a simple reflection of underlying resource distribution (Roshier et al., 2008; Shaw, 2016), and other factors (e.g.

social attraction/repulsion) may also influence individual distribution (Folmer et al., 2012; Folmer & Piersma, 2012).

Several factors can influence the home range size in birds, such as age (King et al., 2016; Krüger et al., 2014; Mendez & Weimerskirch, 2017; Weimerskirch et al., 2014), sex (King et al., 2016; Patrick & Weimerskirch, 2014b; Weimerskirch et al., 2014) and degree of individual specialisation in particular foraging areas (Patrick & Weimerskirch, 2014a). Shoebills do not exhibit strong sexual dimorphism, and the birds in this study were not genetically sexed, thus it was not possible to investigate possible sex differences in home range size. We did not find age-related differences in annual home range size, and although 2 individuals slightly decreased their home range size by an average of 173 km<sup>2</sup> as they aged from immatures to adults, 2 other individuals increased their home range size by an average of 665 km<sup>2</sup> as they matured. However, there is a suggestion of individual consistency, since the individuals with smallest and largest home ranges as immatures maintained smaller and larger home ranges as adults (Table 3.2). In many situations, breeding adults have smaller home ranges than non-breeders during part of the year because their movements are constrained by the location of their nest site (Krüger et al., 2014; Wolfson et al., 2019). Although animals in areas of higher productivity tend to have smaller home ranges (Doherty & Driscoll, 2018; Roshier et al., 2008), this might not be the case in swampy areas. In the wet season, with an increase in water levels, Shoebill prey species occupy larger areas of the swamps, forcing birds to increase their home ranges. Adult birds, with more experience, may build up knowledge of the landscape, occupying the most suitable foraging locations and outcompeting less experienced birds (Riotte-lambert & Weimerskirch, 2013). Consequently, a possible increase in adult home range size during the wet period may be counterbalanced by the seasonal constraint of the nest site location, resulting in approximately the same average home range size for adult and immatures.

Indeed, immature Shoebills moved consistent distances throughout the year, while adults moved smaller distances during the breeding season (May-October), particularly during the incubation and chick-rearing period (June-September). During the breeding season, adults forage close to the nest, moving smaller distances and occupying smaller home ranges (Krüger et al., 2014; Wolfson et al., 2019). Shoebills chicks hatch in June-July, and until the chicks are about 40 days old, at least one adult is constantly on the nest (Mullers & Amar, 2015a). Later in the breeding season (September and October), adult daily distances moved started to increase. Shoebills build their nests on top of floating vegetation (Buxton et al., 1978; John et al., 2013), but as the breeding season progresses, the water levels recede to the point that by the end of the breeding season, the nests are resting on solid ground (Mullers & Amar, 2015a). This might also decrease the suitability of the foraging areas surrounding the nest, forcing adult birds to increase their daily moved distances as the breeding season progresses to find suitable foraging sites.

Environmental factors can also determine movement and home range size in birds, and, for water-dependent species, the spatial and temporal distribution of surface water is one of the main drivers of movement (Bennitt et al., 2014; Henry et al., 2016; Kleyheeg et al., 2017). Bird species respond differently to changes in water availability, with some functional groups responding to sequences of flooding and drying patterns, while others respond immediately to changes in flooded area (Roshier et al., 2002). For example, Black Storks *Ciconia nigra* wintering in West Africa move as the rivers begin to dry (Chevallier et al., 2010), Mallard *Anas platyrhynchos* movements are highly predictable and strongly linked to the presence of surface water (Kleyheeg et al., 2017) and Grey Teal *Anas gracilis* fly hundreds of kilometres directly towards temporary water sources (Roshier et al., 2002). In Southern Africa, the patterns of rainfall and primary productivity are the main drivers of large-scale movements of Egyptian Geese *Alopochen aegyptiaca* and Red-billed Teal *Anas erythrorhyncha*
(Henry et al., 2016). Here, we show that drying and flooding patterns of the Bangweulu Wetlands at the start of the rainy season are important drivers in the movement of Shoebills.

In the Bangweulu Wetlands, November marks the start of the rainy season, being the month with lowest water levels in this region (Ng'onga et al., 2019). Our results show that between October and December, Shoebills occupied areas of low surface water availability (low NDWI values), which is likely the most available habitat. There were, however, differences in how adult and immature birds responded to changes in surface water. While adults seemed to abandon areas that became drier, immatures abandoned areas that became wetter, suggesting age-related differences in habitat use or foraging strategies. Moreover, the areas selected by Shoebills had the same surface water as the areas they were previously occupying, which suggests a selection for an optimal surface water level by this species. Water-depth limits non-diving waterbirds foraging ranges, by directly restricting the accessibility of the habitats due to birds morphology (e.g. neck and metatarsus) (Ma et al., 2010). Consequently, Shoebills foraging locations are also restricted to the water-depths suitable for foraging.

We hypothesise that the different movements in response to surface water between age-classes might be related to prey availability and optimal foraging conditions. Immature birds tend to be less efficient foragers (Grissac et al., 2017; Rotics et al., 2016) and occupy less optimal foraging locations (Riotte-lambert & Weimerskirch, 2013). Distributions of waterbirds are greatly influenced by the hydrology of the wetlands and distribution of food resources (Bolduc & Afton, 2004), since different species have different foraging methods and depend on particular water depths and prey vulnerability (Ma et al., 2010). Shoebills are typically solitary birds, but they occasionally concentrate in drying pools of water, where fish may become highly abundant (Guillet, 1979). Immature Shoebills may take advantage of this recession of the water level, which promotes the availability of prey (Cook et al., 2014) and

thus would be suitable areas for immatures to gain experience in capturing prey. Shoebills also forage in deep water, using floating vegetation as fishing sites and then diving forward, described by Guillet, 1979 as a "peculiar and complicated technique called collapsing". Although birds using this technique have lower foraging success than on flooded grassland, the catfish caught in deeper waters are on average larger than on flooded grasslands (Mullers & Amar, 2015b), as larger catfish prefer deeper waters (Mullers & Amar, 2015b; Ratcliffe, 1972). Therefore, immature birds might prefer drier areas with higher abundance of relatively smaller prey, whereas adults having already mastered the highly specialised deep-water foraging technique, might prefer flooded areas with larger prey, and thus greater rewards per capture. Nonetheless, our interpretations are based on, as yet, unverified validation of the NDWI in swampy areas, particularly the areas used by Shoebills that are typically densely vegetated and have water with low oxygen content (Guillet, 1979), which can pose constraints on the identification of water features using satellite imagery (Xu, 2006). In future research, newly available satellite imagery (e.g. Sentinel-2, launched in 2015) and recently created indexes (e.g. Xu, 2006) may provide further detail on how surface water influences the movements of wetland species. However, these indexes need to be validated in swampy wetlands, which may have their own unique characteristics (Tian et al., 2016).

Moreover, changes in water surface may not be the only environmental variable driving the movement of Shoebills. Henry et al., 2016 explored the main environmental variables influencing the movement decisions of Egyptian Geese and Red-billed Teal in Southern Africa, and although changes in surface water appeared in several of their models, suggesting that the flooding and drying patterns of wetlands have some predictive power, rainfall and primary productivity were found to be more important in explaining movement patterns in these species. The relatively small variance explained by our models also suggest that other non-measured variables likely play a role in driving the movements of Shoebills; we therefore suggest for future research to complement the use of NDWI with high temporal and

spatial records of rainfall and NDVI to further explore the drivers of movement patterns and spatial distribution of Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands.

### Approval for animal experiments

Licences to catch and deploy the tracking devices were provided by the Zambia Wildlife Authority (now Department of National Parks and Wildlife (DNPW)). The work was carried out with approval from the University of Cape Town Science Faculty Animal Ethics Committee (permit number: 2011/V14/AA). Capture, handling and tagging procedures were carried out by RHEM, qualified in 2007 under the Article 9 of the Experiments on Animals Act in The Netherlands. No bird was injured by the capturing/handling procedure.

### Acknowledgements

We especially thank Brighton and Elijah Mofya for their help in the field. WWF Netherlands funded the operating costs, and the African Parks Bangweulu Wetlands Management Board kindly provided accommodation and assisted with operational logistics. A special thanks to Craig Reid, Rob Little and Kerri Rademeyer for their support. MA thanks the University of Cape Town, particularly the FitzPatrick Institute of African Ornithology, for hosting her during the internship under the Newton Fund RCUK-NRF International PhD Partnering Scheme. MA was funded by the National Environmental Research Council (NERC) and the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), via the NEXUSS CDT Training in the Smart and Autonomous Observation of the Environment (grant number NE/N012070/1). MA was also funded by the Research Council UK (RCUK) and the National Research Foundation in South Africa (NRF), under the Newton Fund RCUK-NRF International PhD Partnering Scheme. RHEM received a DST/NRF Centre of Excellence postdoctoral fellowship at the Percy FitzPatrick Institute. Funding for the fieldwork and GPS tags was provided by African Parks.

# References

African Parks. (2018). African Parks: Unlocking the Value of Protected Areas. Annual Report 2018.

- Barton, K. (2019). *MuMIn: Multi-model inference*. R package version 1.43.6. https://cran.rproject.org/package=MuMIn
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *67*(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bennetts, R. E., & Kitchens, W. M. (2000). Factors influencing movement probabilities of a nomadic food specialist: Proximate foraging benefits or ultimate gains from exploration? *Oikos*, *91*(3), 459–467. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.910306.x
- Bennitt, E., Bonyongo, M. C., & Harris, S. (2014). Habitat selection by African buffalo (Syncerus caffer) in response to landscape-level fluctuations in water availability on two temporal scales. *PLoS* ONE, 9(7), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101346

Birdlife International. (2020). Species factsheet: Balaeniceps rex. www.birdlife.org

- BirdLife International. (2020). Important Bird Areas factsheet: Bangweulu Swamps. www.birdlife.org
- Bivand, R. S., Keitt, T., & Rowlingson, B. (2019). rgdal: Bindings for the "Geospatial" abstraction library.R package version 1.4-4. https://cran.r-project.org/package=rgdal
- Bivand, R. S., Pebesma, E. J., & Gomez-Rubio, V. (2013). Applied spatial data analysis with R (2nd Editio). Springer.
- Bivand, R. S., & Rundel, C. (2019). rgeos: Interface to geometry engine open source (GEOS). R package version 0.5-1.
- Bolduc, F., & Afton, A. D. (2004). Relationships between wintering waterbirds and invertebrates, sediments and hydrology of coastal marsh ponds. *Waterbirds*, 27(3), 333–341. https://doi.org/10.1675/1524-4695(2004)027[0333:RBWWAI]2.0.CO;2
- Buxton, L., Slater, J., & Brown, L. (1978). The breeding behaviour of the shoebill or whale-headed stork Balaeniceps rex in the Bangweulu Swamps, Zambia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 16(3), 201– 220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2028.1978.tb00440.x
- Calenge, C. (2006). The package "adehabitat" for the R software: A tool for the analysis of space and habitat use by animals. *Ecological Modelling*, *197*, 516–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.03.017

Chevallier, D., Le Maho, Y., Baillon, F., Duponnois, R., Dieulin, C., Brossault, P., De Franclieu, P., Lorge,

P., Aurouet, A., & Massemin, S. (2010). Human activity and the drying up of rivers determine abundance and spatial distribution of Black Storks Ciconia nigra on their wintering grounds. *Bird Study*, *57*(3), 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1080/00063651003678467

- Choi, C. Y., Peng, H. B., He, P., Ren, X. T., Zhang, S., Jackson, M. V., Gan, X., Chen, Y., Jia, Y., Christie, M., Flaherty, T., Leung, K. S. K., Yu, C., Murray, N. J., Piersma, T., Fuller, R. A., & Ma, Z. (2019).
  Where to draw the line? Using movement data to inform protected area design and conserve mobile species. *Biological Conservation*, *234*(March), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.03.025
- Christensen, K. D., Falk, K., Jensen, F. P., & Petersen, B. S. (2008). Abdim's Stork Ciconia abdimii in Niger: population size, breeding ecology and home range. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology*, 79(2), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.2989/OSTRICH.2008.79.2.7.581
- Cook, M. I., Call, E. M., Kobza, R. Mac, Hill, S. D., & Saunders, C. J. (2014). Seasonal movements of crayfish in a fluctuating wetland: implications for restoring wading bird populations. *Freshwater Biology*, 59(8), 1608–1621. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12367
- Dodman, T. (2013). International single species plan for the conservation of the Shoebill Balaeniceps rex.
- Doherty, T. S., & Driscoll, D. A. (2018). Coupling movement and landscape ecology for animal conservation in production landscapes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *285*(1870), 20172272. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2272
- Donnelly, J. P., Naugle, D. E., Collins, D. P., Dugger, B. D., Allred, B. W., Tack, J. D., & Dreitz, V. J. (2019). Synchronizing conservation to seasonal wetland hydrology and waterbird migration in semi-arid landscapes. *Ecosphere*, *10*(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2758
- El-Hacen, E.-H. M., Overdijk, O., Lok, T., Olff, H., & Piersma, T. (2013). Home Range, habitat selection, and foraging rhythm in Mauritanian Spoonbills (Platalea leucorodia balsaci): A satellite tracking study. *Waterbirds*, *36*(3), 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.036.0305
- Elliott, A., Garcia, E. F. J., & Boesman, P. (2020). Shoebill (Balaeniceps rex). In J. del Hoyo, A. Elliott, J. Sargatal, D. A. Christie, & E. de Juana (Eds.), *Handbook of the Birds of the World*. Lynx Edicions. https://www.hbw.com/node/52752 on 14 April 2020
- Evans, D. W. (1978). Lake Bangweulu: A study of the complex and fishery.
- Folmer, E. O., Olff, H., & Piersma, T. (2012). The spatial distribution of flocking foragers: Disentangling the effects of food availability, interference and conspecific attraction by means of spatial autoregressive modeling. *Oikos*, 121(4), 551–561. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19739.x

- Folmer, E. O., & Piersma, T. (2012). The contributions of resource availability and social forces to foraging distributions: A spatial lag modelling approach. *Animal Behaviour, 84*(6), 1371–1380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.08.031
- Grissac, S. De, Bartumeus, F., Cox, S. L., & Weimerskirch, H. (2017). Early-life foraging: Behavioral responses of newly fledged albatrosses to environmental conditions. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 6766–6778. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3210
- Gschweng, M., Kalko, E. K. V, Querner, U., Fiedler, W., & Berthold, P. (2008). All across Africa: highly individual migration routes of Eleonora's falcon. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275, 2887–2896. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.0575
- Guillet, A. (1978). Distribution and conservation of the shoebill (Balaeniceps rex) in the southern Sudan. *Biological Conservation*, *13*(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(78)90017-4
- Guillet, A. (1979). Aspects of the foraging behaviour of the shoebill. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology*, *50*(4), 252–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.1979.9634120
- Hake, M., Kjellén, N., & Alerstam, T. (2003). Age-dependent migration strategy in honey buzzards Pernis apivorus tracked by satellite. *Oikos, 103*(2), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12145.x
- Henry, D. A. W., Ament, J. M., & Cumming, G. S. (2016). Exploring the environmental drivers of waterfowl movement in arid landscapes using first-passage time analysis. *Movement Ecology*, 4(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0073-x
- Hijmans, R. J. (2019a). *geosphere: Spherical trignometry*. R package version 1.5-10. https://cran.rproject.org/package=geosphere
- Hijmans, R. J. (2019b). *raster: Geographic data analysis and modeling*. R package version 3.0-2. https://cran.r-project.org/package=raster
- Howard, G. W., & Aspinwall, D. R. (1984). Aerial censuses of Shoebills, Saddlebilled Storks and Wattled Cranes at the Bangweulu Swamps and Kafue Flats, Zambia. *Ostrich: Journal of African Ornithology*, 55(4), 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.1984.9634489
- Howison, R. A., Piersma, T., Kentie, R., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., & Olff, H. (2018). Quantifying landscape-level land-use intensity patterns through radar-based remote sensing. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(3), 1276–1287. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13077
- John, J. R. M., Nahonyo, C. L., Lee, W. S., & Msuya, C. A. (2013). Observations on nesting of Shoebill Balaeniceps rex and Wattled Crane Bugeranus carunculatus in Malagari wetlands, western Tanzania. *African Journal of Ecology*, *51*(1), 184–187. https://doi.org/doi: 10.1111/aje.12023

Kamweneshe, B. M. (2000). Ecology, conservation and management of the Black Lechwe (Kobus leche

smithemani) in the Bangweulu Basin, Zambia. University of Pretoria.

- King, D. T., Fischer, J., Strickland, B., Walter, W. D., Cunningham, F. L., & Wang, G. (2016). Winter and summer home ranges of American White Pelicans (Pelecanus erythrorhynchos) captured at loafing sites in the Southeastern United States. *Waterbirds*, 39(3), 287–294. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.039.0308
- Kleyheeg, E., Dijk, J. G. B. Van, Tsopoglou-Gkina, D., Woud, T. Y., Boonstra, D. K., Nolet, B. A., & Soons,
  M. B. (2017). Movement patterns of a keystone waterbird species are highly predictable from landscape configuration. *Movement Ecology*, 5(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0092-7
- Kolding, J., & van Zwieten, P. A. M. (2012). Relative lake level fluctuations and their influence on productivity and resilience in tropical lakes and reservoirs. *Fisheries Research*, 115–116, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2011.11.008
- Krüger, S., Reid, T., & Amar, A. (2014). Differential Range Use between Age Classes of Southern African Bearded Vultures Gypaetus barbatus. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e114920. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114920
- Ma, Z., Cai, Y., Li, B., & Chen, J. (2010). Managing wetland habitats for waterbirds: An international perspective. *Wetlands*, *30*, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-009-0001-6
- McCann, K. I., & Benn, G. A. (2006). Land use patterns within Wattled Crane (Bugeranus carunculatus) home ranges in an agricultural landscape in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology*, 77(3–4), 186–194. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306520609485532
- Mcfeeters, S. K. (2013). Using the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) within a Geographic Information System to detect swimming pools for mosquito abatement: A practical approach. *Remote Sensing*, *5*, 3544–3561. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs5073544
- McFeeters, S. K. (1996). The use of the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) in the delineation of open water features. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, *17*(7), 1425–1432. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431169608948714
- Mendez, L., & Weimerskirch, H. (2017). Ontogeny of foraging behaviour in juvenile red-footed boobies (Sula sula). *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 13886. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14478-7
- Microwave Telemetry. (2020). *Microwave Telemetry Solar Argos/GPS 70g PTT*. www.microwavetelemetry.com/
- Miller, T. A., Brooks, R. P., Lanzone, M. J., Brandes, D., Cooper, J., Tremblay, J. A., Wilhelm, J., Duerr,
   A., & Katzner, T. E. (2016). Limitations and mechanisms influencing the migratory performance of soaring birds. *Ibis*, 158, 116–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12331

- Möller, W. (1982). Beobachtungen zum Nahrungserwerb des Schuhschnabels (Balaeniceps rex). Journal of Ornithology, 123, 19–28.
- Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015a). Parental nesting behavior, chick growth and breeding success of Shoebills (Balaeniceps rex) in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. *Waterbirds*, 38(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.038.0102 BioOne
- Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015b). Shoebill Balaeniceps rex foraging behaviour in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology, 86*(1–2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2014.977364
- NASA Goddard Space Flight Center. (2018). *Moderate-resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) Terra Surface Reflectance*. Ocean Biology Processing Group. https://doi.org/10.5067/MODIS/MOD09A1.006
- Ng'onga, M., Kalaba, F. K., Mwitwa, J., & Nyimbiri, B. (2019). The interactive effects of rainfall, temperature and water level on fish yield in Lake Bangweulu fishery , Zambia. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *84*, 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.06.001
- Patrick, S. C., & Weimerskirch, H. (2014a). Personality, foraging and fitness consequences in a long lived seabird. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087269
- Patrick, S. C., & Weimerskirch, H. (2014b). Consistency pays: sex differences and fitness consequences of behavioural specialization in a wide-ranging seabird. *Biology Letters*, 10(10), 20140630. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2014.0630
- Pebesma, E. J., & Bivand, R. S. (2005). *Classes and methods for spatial data in R*. R News 5 (2). https://cran.r-project.org/doc/Rnews/
- Péron, C., & Grémillet, D. (2013). Tracking through life stages: Adult, immature and juvenile Autumn migration in a long-lived seabird. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), e72713. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0072713
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org/
- Ratcliffe, C. (1972). The fishery of the Lower Shire River area, Malawi.
- Riotte-lambert, L., & Weimerskirch, H. (2013). Do naive juvenile seabirds forage differently from adults? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 280*, 20131434. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.1434
- Roshier, D. A., Doerr, V. A. J., & Doerr, E. D. (2008). Animal movement in dynamic landscapes: interaction between behavioural strategies and resource distributions. *Oecologia*, 156, 465– 477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-0987-0

- Roshier, D. A., Robertson, A. I., & Kingsford, R. T. (2002). Responses of waterbirds to flooding in an arid region of Australia and implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation*, *106*, 399– 411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00268-3
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Turjeman, S. F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2016). The challenges of the first migration: movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult white storks with insights regarding juvenile mortality. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *85*, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12525
- Roxburgh, L., & Buchanan, G. M. (2010). Revising estimates of the Shoebill (Balaeniceps rex) population size in the Bangweulu Swamp, Zambia, through a combination of aerial surveys and habitat suitability modelling. *Ostrich: Journal of African Ornithology*, *81*(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2010.455815
- Sergio, F., Tanferna, A., Stephanis, R. De, Jimenez, L. L., Blas, J., Tavecchia, G., Preatoni, D., & Hiraldo,
   F. (2014). Individual improvements and selective mortality shape lifelong migratory
   performance. *Nature*, *515*, 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13696
- Shariatinajafabadi, M., Wang, T., Skidmore, A. K., Toxopeus, A. G., Kölzsch, A., Nolet, B. A., Exo, K. M., Griffin, L., Stahl, J., & Cabot, D. (2014). Migratory herbivorous waterfowl track satellite-derived green wave index. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108331
- Shaw, A. K. (2016). Drivers of animal migration and implications in changing environments. *Evolutionary Ecology*, *30*(6), 991–1007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10682-016-9860-5
- Smit, I. P. J. (2011). Resources driving landscape-scale distribution patterns of grazers in an African savanna. *Ecography*, 34, 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06029.x
- Somveille, M., Rodrigues, A. S. L., & Manica, A. (2015). Why do birds migrate? A macroecological perspective. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *24*, 664–674. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12298
- Thorup, K., Tøttrup, A. P., Willemoes, M., Klaassen, R. H. G., Strandberg, R., Vega, M. L., Dasari, H. P.,
  Araújo, M. B., Wikelski, M., & Rahbek, C. (2017). Resource tracking within and across continents
  in long-distance bird migrants. *Science Advances*, *3*, e1601360.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1601360
- Thurlow, J., Zhu, T., & Diao, X. (2009). The impact of climate variability and change on economic growth and poverty in Zambia.
- Tian, S., Zhang, X., Tian, J., & Sun, Q. (2016). Random forest classification of wetland landcovers from multi-sensor data in the arid region of Xinjuang, China. *Remote Sensing*, 8(954), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8110954

- Trierweiler, C., Mullié, W. C., Drent, R. H., Exo, K. M., Komdeur, J., Bairlein, F., Harouna, A., De Bakker, M., & Koks, B. J. (2013). A Palaearctic migratory raptor species tracks shifting prey availability within its wintering range in the Sahel. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *82*(1), 107–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2012.02036.x
- Van Der Graaf, S., Stahl, J., Klimkowska, A., Bakker, J. P., & Drent, R. H. (2006). Surfing on a green wave
   How plant growth drives spring migration in the Barnacle Goose Branta leucopsis. *Ardea*, 94(3), 567–577.
- Wang, X., Cao, L., Fox, A. D., Fuller, R., Griffin, L., Mitchell, C., Zhao, Y., Moon, O.-K., Cabot, D., Xu, Z., Batbayar, N., Kölzsch, A., Jeugd, H. P. Van Der, Madsen, J., Chen, L., & Nathan, R. (2019). Stochastic simulations reveal few green wave surfing populations among spring migrating herbivorous waterfowl. *Nature Communications*, *10*, 2187. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09971-8
- Weimerskirch, H., Cherel, Y., Delord, K., Jaeger, A., Patrick, S. C., & Riotte-Lambert, L. (2014). Lifetime foraging patterns of the wandering albatross: Life on the move! *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *450*, 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2013.10.021
- Wolfson, D. W., Fieberg, J. R., & Andersen, D. E. (2019). Juvenile Sandhill Cranes exhibit wider ranging and more exploratory movements than adults during the breeding season. *Ibis*, *162*, 556–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12786
- Xu, H. (2006). Modification of Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI) to enhance open water features in remotely sensed imagery. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 27(14), 3025– 3033. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160600589179
- Yang, X., Zhao, S., Qin, X., Zhao, N., & Liang, L. (2017). Mapping of urban surface water bodies from Sentinel-2 MSI Imagery at 10m Resolution via NDWI-Based Image Sharpening. *Remote Sensing*, 9(596), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9060596

– Chapter 4 –

# Timing of migration influences the performance and destination of a long-distance migrant



# Timing of migration influences the performance and

# destination of a long-distance migrant

Marta Acácio<sup>1\*</sup>, Inês Catry<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Andrea Soriano-Redondo<sup>2,3,4</sup>, João Paulo Silva<sup>2,4</sup>,

Philip W. Atkinson<sup>5</sup>, Aldina M.A. Franco<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, Norfolk, UK

<sup>2</sup> CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Campus de Vairão, Universidade do Porto, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>3</sup> CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade de Lisboa, 1349-017 Lisboa, Portugal

<sup>4</sup> BIOPOLIS Program in Genomics, Biodiversity and Land Planning, CIBIO, Campus de Vairão, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>5</sup> British Trust for Ornithology, The Nunnery, Thetford, IP24 2PU, United Kingdom

# Author's contributions

MA, IC, and AF conceived the idea. IC, JPS, PWA and AMAF coordinated the study. MA and IC performed fieldwork for logger deployment. MA, IC and ASR collected behavioural data and built the tracking dataset. MA analysed the data and wrote an initial version of the manuscript, which was critically edited and revised by all authors. All authors gave final approval for publication.

# Abstract

Migration phenology is shifting for many long-distance migrants due to global climate change. The timing and duration of migration may determine the environmental conditions individuals encounter, with potential fitness consequences. In species with asynchronous migrations, i.e., when individuals of a population migrate over a broad time-window, the conditions individuals experience during migration can differ and affect their migratory performance, route, and destination. Here, we examine if timing of autumn migration influences the migratory performance (duration, distance, route straightness, energy expenditure) and migration destinations of a long-distance, asynchronous, migrant, the White Stork Ciconia ciconia. We also compare the weather conditions (wind speed, wind direction, and boundary layer height) encountered on migration and examine the influence of wind direction on storks' flight directions. From 2016 to 2020, we GPS-tracked 172 White Storks and obtained 75 complete migrations from their breeding grounds in Southern Europe to the sub-Saharan wintering areas. Autumn migration season spanned over a 3-month period (July-October) and arrival destinations covered a broad area of the Sahel, 2450 km apart, from Senegal to Niger. We found that timing of migration was highly influential: later storks spent fewer days on migration, adopted shorter and more direct routes in the Sahara and consumed more energy when flying, as they were exposed to less supportive weather conditions. In the Sahara Desert, storks' flight directions were significantly influenced by wind direction, with later individuals facing stronger easterly winds (i.e., winds blowing to the west), hence being more likely to end their migration in western areas of the Sahel region. Contrastingly, early storks encountered more supportive weather conditions, spent less energy on migration and were exposed to westerly winds, thus being more likely to end migration in eastern Sahel. Our results show that the timing of migration influences the environmental conditions individuals face, the energetic costs of migration, and the wintering destinations, where birds may be

exposed to different environmental conditions and distinct threats. These findings highlight that ongoing changes in migration phenology, due to environmental change, may have critical fitness consequences for long-distance soaring migrants.

# 4.1 Introduction

Every year, billions of birds travel from their breeding grounds to the wintering areas and the phenology and routes of those migrants have been shaped to take advantage of predictable weather events (Alerstam et al., 2003; Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2017). For instance, birds facing long trans-oceanic flights wait for greatest wind assistance before starting their migratory endeavour (Gill et al., 2014a), whereas birds crossing large land barriers, such as the Sahara Desert, may adopt different routes in autumn and spring migration to exploit seasonal tailwinds (Vansteelant et al., 2017).

In species with asynchronous migrations, in which individuals of a population migrate at significantly different times, the timing and duration of those movements strongly determine the conditions birds experience during migration (e.g., social cues and weather conditions) (Bauer et al., 2016) which can affect their fitness and survival. Many studies have investigated the consequences of changes in the timing of spring migration, generally concluding that spring arrival dates are advancing (Gill et al., 2014b; Saino et al., 2011) and that birds arriving earlier at the nesting grounds have higher breeding success (Smith & Moore, 2005; Vergara et al., 2007). However, earlier spring migrants may experience worse weather conditions during migration, increasing their energy expenditure (Rotics et al., 2018). The consequences of variability in timing of the autumn migration are less well understood (Kanerva et al., 2020; La Sorte et al., 2015) and may be species specific (Jenni & Kéry, 2003; Scholer et al., 2016), thus more challenging to determine. Nevertheless, autumn migration is marked by high mortality of juveniles on their first migration (Cheng et al., 2019), as well as by the choice of wintering location (Vansteelant et al., 2017) that may have carry over effects to the remaining annual cycle (Schlaich et al., 2016).

Selecting the timing and route that maximizes exposure to favourable weather conditions is particularly important for soaring birds, which rely on supporting winds and strong thermal updrafts to fly (Vansteelant et al., 2015). These allow them to soar more efficiently (Bohrer et al., 2012) and to minimise energy expenditure (Duriez et al., 2014; Harel et al., 2016; Sapir et al., 2010). Simultaneously, many bird species are highly vulnerable to weather conditions, which can be extremely dynamic and change throughout the migratory season (Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2017); the weather can enhance bird's migratory performance by increasing daily speeds and displacements (e.g., Mellone et al., 2014; Vansteelant et al., 2015), but it can also hinder migratory progression (Pastorino et al., 2017), interrupt migration (Klaassen et al., 2017), or lead to mortality (Loonstra et al., 2019). Wind conditions are highly influential, shaping the migratory routes by promoting unintended detours (Vansteelant et al., 2017) and even determining bird's wintering areas (Vansteelant et al., 2017), ultimately influencing population migratory connectivity (Norevik et al., 2020). Using high spatial and temporal resolution tracking data of long-distance migrants can thus help unravel the effects of exposure to variable weather conditions due to variability in the timing of migration.

In this study, we use GPS tracking data to examine if timing of autumn migration influences the migratory performance and destination, as well as the weather conditions birds experience *en route*, and how these influence bird's flight directions. Our study focuses on White Storks *Ciconia ciconia* from a partial migratory population, where some individuals remain in the breeding area all year round, while others still undertake a long-distance migration to the original Sub-Saharan wintering grounds (Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020). White storks are large soaring birds exhibiting high variability in the timing of migration (Onrubia et al., 2019). Moreover, the range of the migration period has been increasing over the last few decades (Scholer et al., 2016). This species has been observed crossing the Strait of Gibraltar all months of the year except in June (Fernández-Cruz, 2004; Onrubia et al., 2019),

thus making it an ideal study species to investigate the influence of timing of migration on individual performance.

We use a 5-year GPS tracking dataset with tri-axial acceleration, enabling us to identify bird behaviour and energy expenditure, to understand the consequences of variability in the timing of migration. Specifically, our goal is to examine if timing of migration influences (i) migratory performance i.e., migration duration, distance travelled, route straightness and flight energy expenditure, and (ii) the autumn migration destination in the Sahel. Finally, we examine storks' exposure to the weather conditions (wind speed, wind direction, and boundary layer height) during migration, and assess the influence of wind direction on bird's flight direction. This work can provide a mechanistic understanding of the influence of timing of migration on migratory performance and wintering site selection, with potential consequences for migratory connectivity and exposure to anthropogenic threats.

# 4.2 Methods

# Tracking data and behavioural classification

Between 2016 and 2020, we GPS-tracked 100 first-year juveniles and 72 adult white storks. Among the 72 tracked adults, 10 were long-distance migrants (14%) while the remaining 62 were either residents in Iberia or short-distance migrants to Morocco. This study included 16 adult bird/years (5 adults tracked for 1 migration, 4 adults tracked for 2 migrations, and 1 adult tracked for 3 migrations), and 59 first-year juveniles with completed sub-Saharan autumn migrations, from southern Portugal to the Sahel wintering areas. Adults were trapped at landfill sites, using nylon leg nooses, and at their nests with a remotely activated clap trap. Pre-fledging juveniles were retrieved from their nests for tag deployment and returned

afterwards. Storks were equipped with GPS/GSM loggers with tri-axial acceleration ("Flyway-50" from Movetech Telemetry, with 4 different models, and "Ornitrack-50" loggers from Ornitela), weighing between 50-80g. The devices were attached as backpacks using a Teflon ribbon thoracic full harness, in total weighing between 1.1-2.9% of the bird's body mass (more details on tag deployment and harnesses in (Gilbert et al., 2016; Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020, 2021)). This study was carried out in agreement with the recommendations of Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas and the Animal Welfare & Ethical Review Board from the School of Biological Sciences at the University of East Anglia. Licenses to deploy the loggers were granted by the Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas (2016: 493/2016/CAPT; 2017: 661/2017/CAPT to 663/2017/CAPT; 2018: 549/2018/CAPT; 2019: 247/2019/CAPT to 250/2019/CAPT; 2020: 364/2020/CAPT to 368/2020/CAPT).

The loggers provided 9 consecutive GPS and acceleration fixes at 1Hz every 20 minutes during daylight, thus acceleration and location matched in space and time. These acceleration bursts allowed the calculation of Overall Dynamic Body Acceleration (ODBA) and bird behaviour. ODBA is a valid proxy for energy expenditure (Gleiss et al., 2011) and it was calculated by subtracting each acceleration point from a running-mean of 4 seconds for each axis and summing the resulting values for all three axes. To infer bird behaviour, we trained a random forest machine-learning algorithm using 1,000 manually labelled acceleration bursts of 4 different behaviours: foraging, resting, soaring and flapping flight (see Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021 for a full description of ODBA and behaviour classifications). To account for disparities in accelerometery sensors of different logger manufacturers, we built separate random forest models for Movetech Telemetry and Ornitela loggers, with 96% and 97% accuracies, respectively. In this study, we combined soaring and flapping flight behaviours into one single *flight* category. If acceleration information was not available, we classified a GPS fix as *flight* if the GPS recorded ground speed was over 5km/h.

# Influence of timing on White Stork migration performance and destination

White Storks travelling to the sub-Saharan wintering locations must cross three major ecological barriers, the Strait of Gibraltar, the Atlas Mountains, and the Sahara Desert. This species can take long stopovers during migration, hence the timing of crossing each ecological barrier is not necessarily correlated for all individuals, as early birds may perform long stopovers and end migration later. Therefore, we divided migration into three legs corresponding to the crossing of ecological barriers (Figure 4.1A) and classified the timing of migration as the date storks start each leg: *Leg 1*, from the start of migration in Portugal until the day the stork crosses the Strait of Gibraltar (defined as  $36^{\circ}$  latitude); *Leg 2*, from the day after crossing the Strait of Gibraltar until the day the stork crosses the Atlas Mountains (defined by the equation y = 0.58x + 36.12); *Leg 3*, from the day after crossing the Atlas Mountains until the end of migration, south of the Sahara Desert.

The start and end of autumn migration (i.e., start of leg 1 and end of leg 3) was classified using the spatio-temporal displacement method described in Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020. This method combines movement displacement and spatial and temporal thresholds to define the start and end of migratory movements. Thus, we defined the start of migration as the first of three consecutive days a stork moved more than 60km between roosts after having left the breeding area (calculated as the 90% kernel of June GPS locations), and the start of wintering period as the first of three consecutive days a stork displaces less than 60km between roosts after having arrived at the wintering area (calculated as the 90% kernel of October GPS locations). The end of autumn migration was defined as the last day before the start of the wintering period, and the destination of the autumn migration was the location where birds ended autumn migration. All analysis were performed using R package

*geosphere* (Hijmans, 2019) for distance calculations and *adehabitatHR* for kernel estimations (Calenge, 2006).



**Figure 4.1 – White Stork autumn migration routes, timing, and migration destination.** (A) Autumn migration routes of adult (purple, n=16) and juvenile (yellow, n=59) White Storks tracked between 2016 and 2020. Dashed lines indicate the migratory legs: Leg 1 - from Portugal until the Strait of Gibraltar; Leg 2 - from the Strait of Gibraltar until the Atlas Mountains; Leg 3 - from the Atlas Mountains until south of the Sahara Desert. Map was plotted using Mercator projection. (B) Temporal pattern of latitudinal progression of White Storks during Autumn migration. Larger and lighter circles indicate a greater number of storks. Leg 2 was represented as 32<sup>o</sup> latitude, as over 50% of the GPS tracked White Storks crossed the Atlas Mountains at that latitude. Latitude was plotted using Cartesian coordinates. (C) Longitude of autumn migration destination, plotted using Cartesian coordinates.

We assessed migratory performance of individual White Storks using several metrics: migration duration (in days), total number of migratory and stopover days, total migration distance (in kms), straightness of the migratory route (index between 0-1) and mean flight energy expenditure (in G). These metrics were calculated for the overall migration and for each leg, and we only included individuals for which we had daily data for the entire period.

Migration duration and leg duration were determined as the difference in days between the start and end of migration, and between the start and end of each migration leg. Stopover and migratory days corresponded to days when birds moved less or more than 37km between consecutive night roosts, respectively (see Appendix S4.1 for a description of the calculation of stopover and migratory days' threshold).

Total migration distance (hereafter, beeline distance) is the shortest great-circle (i.e., orthodromic) route between the start and end locations of autumn migration. White Storks from the Portuguese population must cross the Strait of Gibraltar on their way to Africa, hence we calculated the migration beeline distance as the distance between the first autumn migration GPS location and the location at the Strait of Gibraltar and summed it to the migration distance from the Strait of Gibraltar to the arrival location in the Sahel. The beeline distance of each migratory leg was calculated as the shortest orthodromic route between the GPS location at the location.

We calculated the cumulative travelled distance as the sum of the distances between all daylight GPS fixes on migratory days. Route straightness was defined as the ratio between the beeline distance and the cumulative distance travelled, for the whole migration and for each migratory leg. Finally, we summarised White Storks' flight energy expenditure as the mean ODBA of all accelerometer bursts classified as *flight*.

The influence of timing of migration on migratory performance was examined using separate models for each performance metric and migratory leg. Using the R package *lme4* (Bates et al., 2015), we built linear mixed models (LMMs), with migration duration, number of stopover and migratory days, beeline distance and mean flight energy expenditure as response variables, with timing of start of leg (in Julian day) and age as fixed effects (to account for possible age differences in performance), and bird ID and year as random effects. For mean flight energy expenditure, we also added logger type as a random effect, to control for differences in ODBA estimates between loggers with different accelerometer sensors. To analyse the influence of timing of migration on route straightness, we built a generalised linear mixed model (GLMM) with beta distribution using *glmmTMB* package (Brooks et al., 2017), with route straightness as the response variable, and timing of start of leg and age as fixed effects, and bird ID and year as random factors.

We built two LMMs with latitude and longitude of the destination of autumn migration as response variables to examine the influence of timing on the location where birds finish autumn migration. Timing of start of leg (in Julian day) and age were included as fixed effects, and bird ID and year as random effects. For all LMMs we estimated *p*-values using *car* package (Fox & Weisberg, 2019), and pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> using *MuMIn* package (Barton, 2019), and multicollinearity was analysed by verifying the variance inflation factor (VIF < 2, Zuur et al., 2010).

### Influence of timing on the weather conditions experienced by White Storks

To examine the weather conditions individual birds experienced, we firstly annotated the White Stork GPS locations on migratory days with hourly weather data from ERA-5 (Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S), 2017; Hersbach et al., 2020), with 30 km spatial

resolution, using the *GAMT* R package (Bird et al., in prep.) and bilinear interpolation. Similarly to other studies of migratory soaring birds (Mellone et al., 2012; Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2003; Vansteelant et al., 2015), we selected boundary layer height (a proxy for of thermal convection, Vansteelant et al., 2015) and wind zonal (i.e. westward(-)/eastward(+)) and meridional (i.e. southward(-)/northward (+)) components at 925 mB (corresponding to approximately 700m, which is the mean flight altitude for soaring birds on migration, Vansteelant et al., 2017)). Using wind zonal and meridional components, we calculated for each GPS location the wind speed and direction, as well as the wind support each bird experienced (Krietsch et al., 2020; Safi et al., 2013).

We summarised the weather conditions experienced by White Storks on each leg as the mean boundary layer height, mean wind support, and mean zonal wind speed. We then fitted LMMs with the summarised weather variables as response variables, with timing of start of leg (in Julian day) and age as fixed effects, and bird ID and year as random effects.

### Influence of timing and wind direction on White Stork flight direction

The crossing of the Sahara Desert (leg 3) is a critical stage of migration, as the high temperatures and the almost complete absence of food and water (Newton, 2008) make it a mortality hotspot for many bird species (Strandberg et al., 2010). Moreover, this is the final stage of migration before White Storks reach the sub-Saharan wintering grounds. To determine if the timing of crossing leg 3 and the direction of the winds influence stork's flight direction, we examined the daily movements of White Storks during the crossing of the Sahara Desert in more detail. First, we determined bird's ground speed and bearing on GPS *flight* fixes, by calculating the time, distance, and direction between two consecutive locations. We then derived stork's flight direction as the longitudinal speed (i.e. westward(-)/eastward(+))

at each GPS location (Vansteelant et al., 2017) and calculated the mean daily longitudinal speed. Using the weather data, we calculated the mean daily zonal wind speed experienced by the storks when flying. Finally, using a LMM we assessed if the start date of leg 3, daily mean zonal wind speed, and their interaction affected the mean stork longitudinal speed. Bird ID and year were included as random effects.

# 4.3 Results

Between 2016 and 2020 we GPS-tracked 172 White Storks and recorded 75 complete sub-Saharan autumn migration tracks (adults = 16, juveniles = 59), consisting of 1,235 migratory days and 900 stopover days. In total, the dataset comprised 96,630 GPS fixes (adults = 17,638, juveniles = 78,992), with an average of 1,288 GPS fixes per track (sd = 809). Storks began their autumn migration over a two-month period, between the 7<sup>th</sup> of July and 4<sup>th</sup> of September (median date = 5<sup>th</sup> of August ± 17 days) and arrived at the wintering grounds between the 31<sup>st</sup> of July and 14<sup>th</sup> of October (median date = 6<sup>th</sup> of September ± 15 days), displacing more than 2500 km (adults = 2563 ± 38.4 km, juveniles = 2525 ± 15.3 km), and taking on average 25 (adults, sd = 12) and 31 (juveniles, sd = 17) days (Table 4.1). Both age groups finished their migration over a large area in the Sahel region, spanning 2450 km, from Senegal to Niger (Figure 4.1). 

 Table 4.1 – Summary of adult and juvenile White Stork migration characteristics for the whole migration and for the three different migration legs. Leg 1 – from Portugal until the Strait of Gibraltar; Leg 2 – from the Strait of Gibraltar until the Atlas Mountains; Leg 3 – from the Atlas Mountains until south of the Sahara Desert.

Migratory Leg	Age	Mean start date (range)	Mean migration duration, in days (SE)	Mean number of migration days (SE)	Mean number of stopover days (SE)	Mean beeline distance, in km (SE)	Mean route straightness index (SE)	Mean latitude of destination, in degrees (range)	Mean longitude of destination, in degrees (range)
All migration	Adult	-	25 (3.1)	16 (0.5)	10 (3.0)	2563 (38.4)	0.73 (0.02)	16.68 (14.65 – 17.94)	-7.28 (-15.51 – 7.27)
	Juvenile	-	31 (2.2)	18 (0.3)	14 (2.1)	2525 (15.3)	0.67 (0.01)	16.67 (15.25 – 17.98)	-3.24 (-15.53 – 7.03)
Leg 1	Adult	10.Aug (09.Jul – 03.Sep)	9 (2.2)	4 (0.3)	6 (2.1)	376 (11.2)	0.71 (0.03)	-	-
	Juvenile	04. Aug (07.Jul – 04.Sep)	10 (1.4)	4 (0.1)	6 (1.4)	374 (7.6)	0.63 (0.01)	-	-
Leg 2	Adult	20. Aug (21.Jul – 12.Sep)	6 (1.4)	3 (0.1)	3 (1.4)	562 (21.0)	0.85 (0.02)	-	-
	Juvenile	14.Aug (19.Jul – 10. Sep)	9 (1.5)	3 (0.2)	6 (1.4)	504 (17.2)	0.78 (0.02)	-	-
Leg 3	Adult	26.Aug (06.Aug – 15.Sep)	11 (1.1)	9 (0.6)	2 (0.6)	1679 (53.0)	0.74 (0.02)	-	-
	Juvenile	24.Aug (22.Jul – 03.Oct)	12 (0.4)	11 (0.3)	1 (0.3)	1723 (21.9)	0.69 (0.01)	-	-

Influence of timing on White Stork migratory performance and arrival at the wintering grounds

Timing of migration significantly influenced migratory performance for all metrics analysed, but at different stages of the migration (Figure 4.2). Storks starting leg 1 and leg 3 earlier took longer to complete the respective legs, spending more days on stopovers on leg 1, and adopting longer and less direct routes on leg 3. Early storks also spent less energy when flying on leg 1 and leg 3. When comparing the migratory performance of adults and juveniles, we found that adults adopted significantly straighter routes than juveniles when crossing leg 1 and leg 3, but found no differences in flight energy expenditure (Figure 4.2, Tables 4.2 - 4.3).





Table 4.2 – Results of the LMMs, testing the influence of timing of White Stork migration and age on migration duration and on the number of migratory and stopover days. Models used bird ID and year as random factors. The variable "Date" has been scaled by subtracting the mean date and dividing by the standard deviation.

Posponso	Log	Prodictor	Estimate (SE)	t value	n valuo	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
Response	Leg	Fredictor	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	marginal	conditional
Migration	1	Intercept	11.51 (3.15)	3.66	-	0.12	0.88
duration		Date	-3.92 (1.24)	-3.17	0.002 **		
		Age (juv.)	-1.86 (3.38)	-0.55	0.582		
	2	Intercept	7.26 (3.44)	2.11	-	0.01	0.88
		Date	0.07 (0.55)	0.14	0.893		
		Age (juv.)	1.79 (3.73)	0.48	0.632		
	3	Intercept	11.10 (0.88)	12.68	-	0.09	0.09
		Date	-1.10 (0.47)	-2.34	0.019 *		
		Age (juv.)	0.78 (1.00)	0.77	0.439		
Migratory	1	Intercept	3.73 (0.31)	11.95	-	0.01	0.12
days		Date	-0.07 (0.13)	-0.58	0.565		
		Age (juv.)	0.19 (0.31)	0.62	0.534		
	2	Intercept	2.69 (0.41)	6.54	-	0.05	0.75
		Date	-0.11 (0.15)	-0.70	0.483		
		Age (juv.)	0.62 (0.41)	1.49	0.136		
	3	Intercept	9.40 (0.56)	16.88	-	0.13	0.13
		Date	-0.78 (0.30)	-2.61	0.009 **		
		Age (juv.)	1.10 (0.64)	1.72	0.085 .		
Stopover	1	Intercept	8.08 (3.10)	2.61	-	0.11	0.95
days		Date	-3.65 (1.18)	-3.09	0.002 **		
		Age (juv.)	-2.39 (3.35)	-0.71	0.475		
	2	Intercept	1.70 (0.51)	3.32	-	0.02	0.02
		Date	-0.32 (0.27)	-1.16	0.244		
		Age (juv.)	-0.32 (0.59)	-0.55	0.581		
	3	Intercept	1.87 (0.62)	3.02	-	0.03	0.62
		Date	-0.29 (0.28)	-1.04	0.296		
		Age (juv.)	-0.49 (0.68)	-0.72	0.472		

Table 4.3 - Results of the LMMs (and GLMM, for route straightness), testing the influence of timing of White Stork migration and age on migration beeline distance, route straightness and flight ODBA. Models used bird ID and year as random factors, and on the flight ODBA model, logger model was a random factor. For the route straightness and flight ODBA models, the variable "Date" has been scaled by subtracting the mean date and dividing by the standard deviation. Pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> values are not available for GLMMs with beta distributions.

Posponso	Log	Prodictor	Estimate (SE)	t/z voluo	n value	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
Response	Leg	Fledicio	Estimate (SE)	t/2-value	p-value	marginal	conditional
Beeline	1	Intercept	449.4 (88.0)	5.11	-	0.01	0.80
distance		Date	-0.32 (0.39)	-0.82	0.412		
		Age (juv.)	-6.59 (18.5)	-0.36	0.722		
	2	Intercept	499.3 (230.5)	2.17	-	0.04	0.59
		Date	0.27 (0.99)	0.27	0.787		
		Age (juv.)	-55.92 (41.07)	-1.36	0.173		
	3	Intercept	2470.4 (328.2)	7.53	-	0.10	0.23
		Date	-3.35 (1.37)	-2.45	0.014 *		
		Age (juv.)	47.00 (51.84)	0.91	0.365		
Route	1	Intercept	0.91 (0.12)	7.89	<0.001 ***	-	-
straightness		Date	-0.06 (0.05)	-1.10	0.270		
		Age (juv.)	-0.39 (0.13)	-3.06	0.002 **		
	2	Intercept	1.79 (0.25)	7.24	<0.001 ***	-	-
		Date	0.18 (0.10)	1.77	0.077 .		
		Age (juv.)	-0.40 (0.26)	-1.58	0.115		
	3	Intercept	1.03 (0.10)	9.90	<0.001 ***	-	-
		Date	0.15 (0.05)	2.70	0.007 **		
		Age (juv.)	-0.25 (0.12)	-2.13	0.034 *		
Flight	1	Intercept	0.202 (0.018)	11.32	-	0.04	0.59
ODBA		Date	0.007 (0.003)	2.08	0.038 *		
		Age (juv.)	0.014 (0.008)	1.62	0.104		
	2	Intercept	0.200 (0.019)	10.30	-	0.01	0.81
		Date	0.003 (0.004)	0.96	0.340		
		Age (juv.)	-0.005 (0.010)	-0.53	0.594		
	3	Intercept	0.150 (0.011)	13.39	-	0.04	0.89
		Date	0.005 (0.002)	2.23	0.026 *		
		Age (juv.)	0.002 (0.006)	0.44	0.661		

The latitude of autumn migration destinations did not differ between early and late migrants, but longitude was significantly influenced by the timing of migration: storks migrating earlier were more likely to arrive to Eastern Sahel, while later migrants were more likely to arrive to Western Sahel (Figure 4.3). Adults and juveniles finished their migration in similar areas (Table 4.4).





Table 4.4 – Results of LMMs, testing the relationship between the latitude and longitude of the migration destination of White Storks, and the date of start each leg and age of the bird. Models used bird id and year as random factors.

Posponso	Log	Prodictor	Estimate (SE)	t-value	n value	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
Response	Leg	Predictor			p-value	marginal	conditional
Latitude of	1	Intercept	17.04 (1.20)	14.17	-	<0.01	0.08
autumn		Date	0.00 (0.01)	-0.27	0.791		
migration		Age (juv.)	-0.03 (0.22)	-0.14	0.893		
destination	2	Intercept	17.28 (1.31)	13.14	-	<0.01	0.08
		Date	0.00 (0.01)	-0.43	0.668		
		Age (juv.)	-0.03 (0.22)	-0.15	0.884		
	3	Intercept	17.78 (1.34)	13.29	-	<0.01	0.09
		Date	0.00 (0.01)	-0.80	0.423		
		Age (juv.)	-0.02 (0.21)	-0.12	0.908		
Longitude of	1	Intercept	12.57 (9.25)	1.36	-	0.11	0.97
autumn		Date	-0.09 (0.04)	-2.10	0.036 *		
migration		Age (juv.)	3.25 (2.11)	1.54	0.124		
destination	2	Intercept	25.03 (9.19)	2.73	-	0.18	0.97
		Date	-0.14 (0.04)	-3.50	<0.001 ***		
		Age (juv.)	3.07 (1.99)	1.55	0.122		
	3	Intercept	25.36 (9.20)	2.76	-	0.17	0.97
		Date	-0.13 (0.04)	-3.53	<0.001 ***		
		Age (juv.)	3.28 (1.99)	1.65	0.099.		

# Influence of timing on the weather conditions experienced by White Storks

The weather conditions varied along the season (Figures 4.4 – 4.5, Table 4.5): early birds encountered higher boundary layers (i.e., stronger thermals) on leg 2 and leg 3 and more supportive wind conditions on leg 1 (Figure 4.4). Earlier migrants also experienced significantly stronger westerly winds (i.e., winds blowing to the east) on leg 3 (Figure 4.5). We only found age related differences in leg 2, juveniles travelled on days with less supportive winds, compared to adults (Table 4.5).



Figure 4.4 – Influence of timing of starting leg 1, leg 2 and leg 3 on the weather conditions experienced by White Storks. Model predictions (blue line) of the relationship between White Stork timing of migration and (A1-A3) boundary layer height (m) and (B1-B3) mean wind support (m/s), and (C1-C3) mean zonal wind speed (m/s). Data was modelled using linear mixed models, with gaussian distributions, using bird id and year as random factors. Blue lines show the statistically significant relationships, shading represents 95% confidence intervals and points show the raw data for adults (purple) and juveniles (yellow).



Figure 4.5 – Wind conditions experienced by White Storks crossing each migratory leg on the 1<sup>st</sup> (early birds) and 3<sup>rd</sup> (late birds) quartile of the migration period. Wind direction and wind speed (both in % of GPS flight fixes) are represented by the length and colour of the bars. Red points show the directions taken by the birds when crossing the migratory leg, calculated as the bearing between the first and last GPS location of the leg.

Table 4.5 - Results of LMMs, testing the relationship between weather conditions White Stork's
experienced (mean boundary layer height, mean wind support, and mean zonal wind speed) and timing
of migration and age. Models used bird ID and year as random effects.

-		- Duadiatau	Estimate (SE)		n velve	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
Response	Leg	Predictor	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	marginal	conditional
Boundary 1		Intercept	649.8 (208.9)	3.11	-	0.01	0.56
layer		Date	0.92 (0.93)	1.00	0.379		
height		Age (juv.)	3.37 (43.35)	0.08	0.937		
	2	Intercept	2710.2 (612.6)	4.42	-	0.08	0.73
		Date	-6.29 (2.63)	-2.39	0.017 *		
		Age (juv.)	-17.64 (111.8)	-0.16	0.875		
	3	Intercept	3648.9 (507.9)	7.18	-	0.13	0.15
		Date	-6.67 (2.11)	-3.16	0.002 **		
		Age (juv.)	15.26 (77.52)	0.20	0.844		
Wind	1	Intercept	5.020 (1.92)	2.61	-	0.09	0.09
support		Date	-0.020 (0.01)	-2.31	0.021 *		
		Age (juv.)	-0.557 (0.35)	-1.61	0.107		
	2	Intercept	1.315 (1.37)	0.96	-	0.06	0.15
		Date	0.001 (0.01)	0.18	0.860		
		Age (juv.)	-0.449 (0.22)	-2.02	0.043 *		
	3	Intercept	-1.152 (1.71)	-0.67	-	0.06	0.31
		Date	0.013 (0.01)	1.78	0.074.		
		Age (juv.)	-0.334 (0.28)	-1.21	0.228		
Zonal	1	Intercept	5.677 (3.66)	1.55	-	0.05	0.12
wind		Date	-0.020 (0.02)	-1.29	0.197		
speed		Age (juv.)	-1.201 (0.67)	-1.79	0.073.		
	2	Intercept	-0.368 (1.61)	-0.23	-	<0.01	0.19
		Date	0.003 (0.01)	0.54	0.590		
		Age (juv.)	-0.019 (0.26)	-0.07	0.942		
·	3	Intercept	5.673 (2.78)	2.04	-	0.06	0.87
		Date	-0.025 (0.01)	-2.13	0.033 *		
		Age (juv.)	-0.207 (0.51)	-0.40	0.688		

Influence of timing and wind direction on White Stork flight direction

White Stork's longitudinal speed varied significantly with the wind's zonal speed, with significant differences between adults and juveniles in longitudinal speed (statistics in Table 4.6). A significant interaction between wind zonal speed and timing of migration indicated that earlier migrating storks were more influenced by wind direction than later birds (Figure 4.6, Table 4.6).



Figure 4.6 – Influence of zonal wind speed (m/s) on White Stork longitudinal speed (m/s) when crossing migratory leg 3 (from the Atlas Mountains until south of the Sahara Desert), with a significant interaction with timing of start migratory leg 3. Data was modelled using a linear mixed model, with bird id and year as random factors. Blue and brown lines indicate the model prediction for the earliest (22<sup>nd</sup> July) and latest (3<sup>rd</sup> October) bird, respectively, and shading represents 95% confidence intervals. Points show the raw data, with individuals starting leg 3 on a date earlier or later than the median date (2<sup>nd</sup> quartile) coloured as light blue and light brown, respectively.

Table 4.6 - Results of LMM, testing the relationship between White Stork longitudinal speed and age, timing of migration, zonal wind speed, and an interaction between these two fixed effects. The model used with bird ID and year as random effects.

Posponso	Prodictor	Estimate	+ value	n value	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
Response	Predictor	(SE)	t-value	p-value	marginal	conditional
	(Intercent)	5.740			033	0.49
Bird	(intercept)	(3.72)	1.55	-	0.55	0.49
longitudinal	Data	-0.022				
speed	Date	(0.02)	-1.42	0.198		
speed		1.506				
	Age (Juv.)	(0.69)	2.19	0.028 *		
	Zonal wind	1.674				
	speed	(0.45)	3.73	< 0.001 ***		
	Date : zonal	-0.004				
	wind speed	(0.002)	-2.36	0.019 *		

# 4.4 Discussion

Successful migration is highly dependent on the weather conditions individuals face (Newton, 2008) and, in asynchronous migratory populations, individuals may experience different environmental conditions throughout their migration, with potential consequences for individual fitness and population connectivity (Bauer et al., 2016). We studied a soaring bird species, with highly asynchronous migratory movements: counts in the Strait of Gibraltar show that White Storks migrating through the western flyway cross the Strait between July and October (median in 11<sup>th</sup> August) (Onrubia et al., 2019), corroborating our results obtained with the Portuguese population. This large variability in the timing of migration determines the environmental conditions individuals encounter *en route* and influences the migratory performance and arrival destination in the Sahel. White Storks crossing Iberia and the Sahara Desert earlier in the season encounter more supportive wind and better thermal conditions, spend less energy when flying, and face stronger westerly winds in the Sahara (i.e., winds blowing to the east), leading to increased probability of finishing migration in eastern Sahel,

whereas later storks are exposed to winds blowing west and more likely to go to western Sahel.

### Influence of timing on weather conditions and migratory performance

Weather conditions experienced by travelling birds play a critical role in determining flight energy expenditure (Amélineau et al., 2014) and migratory performance (Mellone et al., 2014; Vansteelant et al., 2015). Late departing storks were confronted with poorer weather conditions, facing less wind support and weaker thermals, hence spent more energy when flying. Despite the additional energy expenditure in Iberia and in the Sahara, late migrants adopted shorter and straighter routes and spent fewer days on stopovers, possibly as a response to progressively deteriorating weather conditions in autumn. These results suggest that earlier birds stop more often to minimize energy expenditure, whilst later birds tend to minimize migration time (Sergio et al., 2014).

Winds are particularly important in shaping the migratory journeys of soaring birds (Mellone et al., 2012; Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2003, 2017; Vidal-Mateo et al., 2016). We found that the zonal wind direction explained 33% of the variation in White Stork longitudinal movements when crossing the Sahara, a lower variance when compared with lone-migrant juvenile Honey Buzzards *Pernis apivorus* (44% of variation explained, Vansteelant et al., 2017), suggesting that White Stork movements are determined by a combination of environmental variables and other (e.g. social) cues (Chernetsov et al., 2004). However, wind conditions are highly dynamic and change throughout the migration season. In the Sahara Desert, the easterly winds, known as the 'Harmattan winds' (Vansteelant et al., 2017), are particularly strong towards the end of the migration season (September – November), hence later birds
finishing their migration in central Sahel had to challenge the dominant winds to successfully reach the wintering sites.

When crossing the Sahara Desert, adult storks adopted straighter routes compared to juveniles. Birds improve their migratory performance as they age (Sergio et al., 2014) and, since adult White Storks are consistent in their migration timing and wintering areas (Appendix S4.2), they likely optimise their migration route in consecutive years (Mueller et al., 2013). Unlike results from other studies (Rotics et al., 2016), we did not find significant differences in flight energy expenditure (i.e., ODBA) between adults and juveniles. Firstly, we only included in the analysis birds that successfully completed the autumn migration. As juveniles with higher energy costs are more likely to perish on migration (Rotics et al., 2016), this could have minimised the differences between age groups. Moreover, it is possible that juveniles from southern populations have more time to improve their flight performance before and during migration, when compared to central-European juveniles: they have more time between fledging and start of migration (median German = 32 days (Cheng et al., 2019), median Portugal = 37 days), and they stop more often while on migration (71% of German storks migrate non-stop (Rotics et al., 2016), compared to 14% of the Portuguese storks). These extra learning periods could thus minimise the differences between juveniles and adults.

#### Influence of migration timing on destination

The wintering area of White Storks migrating through the western flyway covers a large area of the Sahel (Cheng et al. 2019; Flack et al. 2016; Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020) and we found that the weather conditions experienced during migration influenced where storks finished their autumn migration in the Sahel: late migrants, exposed to stronger easterly winds, were

more likely to end migration in western Sahel, while earlier migrants had a higher probability of ending migration in eastern areas. As expected for this social migratory species, this pattern is true for both adults and juveniles. Adult White Storks, as other soaring species, show high repeatability in the timing of migration (López-López et al., 2014), which possibly exposes storks to similar environmental conditions during migration, directing them to similar wintering areas in successive years (Appendix S4.2). Conversely, the population asynchronous migration timing, exposes individuals to different weather conditions, conducting them to distinct areas in the Sahel, which can promote low population migratory connectivity within this flyway (Vansteelant et al., 2017).

The choice of wintering grounds can influence individual energy expenditure (Flack et al., 2016; Rotics et al., 2017) and can also determine annual survival (Buechley et al., 2021; Cheng et al., 2019; Rotics et al., 2017). In fact, severe droughts in the Sahel have been associated with increased over-winter mortality and White Stork European population declines in the 70s (Schaub et al., 2005). The Sahel region comprises several different habitats (Atkinson et al., 2014), which have been subjected to a variety of human-induced changes (from habitat conversion to increased hunting activity, Vickery et al., 2014), thus individuals wintering in distinct areas might be exposed to different threats (Atkinson et al., 2014; Oppel et al., 2021). While there is strong evidence that White Stork's spring migratory phenology has been changing, with an advancement of the dates of arrival at the Iberian breeding grounds (Gordo et al., 2007; Gordo & Sanz, 2006), the spatial and temporal patterns of autumn departure are still unclear (Gordo et al., 2007): some studies report an advancement on the timing of autumn migration (Martín et al., 2016), while others describe a delay in the crossing of the Strait of Gibraltar (Scholer et al., 2016) or no significant change in the last decade (Panuccio et al., 2016). An advancement of the autumn migration might lead more storks to winter in eastern longitudes, where there is likely increased hunting pressure (e.g., White Storks are hunted in Niger and Nigeria, Zwarts et al., 2009). Conversely, for White Storks

delaying their autumn migration, exposure to poor weather conditions *en route* will lead to higher energy expenditure, which can increase mortality during migration (Rotics et al., 2016). Current climate predictions show that wind strength and storm frequency will increase in the Sahara region (Taylor et al., 2017), but the effects of these changes on migratory birds crossing the Sahara are still unknown (Loonstra et al., 2019). It is therefore important to continue to assess the mortality risks associated with travelling at different times during the migratory season, and to understand the threats birds face in their wintering ranges, to have a full understanding of how on-going autumn phenology and climate change will impact sub-Saharan migrants.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors give special thanks to Bruno Herlander Martins, Carlos Pacheco and Kate Rogerson for help during fieldwork and deployment of the devices on White Storks, and to all students and volunteers who have helped tagging and monitoring White Storks over the years. This research was funded by Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) and Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), via the NEXUSS CDT Training in the Smart and Autonomous Observation of the Environment (NE/N012070/1). Funding for this project was also provided by NERC via the EnvEast DTP (NE/ K006312), Norwich Research Park Translational Fund, University of East Anglia Innovation Funds and Earth and Life Systems Alliance funds. This research also benefited from FEDER Funds through the Operational Competitiveness Factors Program - COMPETE and by national funds through Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) within the scope of the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-028176. JPS was funded by the FCT project SFRH/BPD/111084/2015.

#### References

- Alerstam, T., Hedenström, A., & Åkesson, S. (2003). Long-distance migration: evolution and determinants. *Oikos, 103*(May), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12559.x
- Amélineau, F., Péron, C., Lescroël, A., Authier, M., Provost, P., & Grémillet, D. (2014). Windscape and tortuosity shape the flight costs of northern gannets. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(6), 876–885. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.097915
- Atkinson, P. W., Adams, W. M., Brouwer, J., Buchanan, G., Cheke, R. A., Cresswell, W., Hewson, C. M., Hulme, M. F., Manvell, A., Sheehan, D. K., Small, R. D. S., Sutherland, W. J., & Vickery, J. A. (2014). Defining the key wintering habitats in the Sahel for declining African-Eurasian migrants using expert assessment. *Bird Conservation International*, *24*(4), 477–491. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270913000531
- Barton, K. (2019). *MuMIn: Multi-model inference*. R package version 1.43.6. https://cran.rproject.org/package=MuMIn
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *67*(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bauer, S., Lisovski, S., & Hahn, S. (2016). Timing is crucial for consequences of migratory connectivity. Oikos, 125(5), 605–612. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.02706
- Bohrer, G., Brandes, D., Mandel, J. T., Bildstein, K. L., Miller, T. A., Lanzone, M., Katzner, T.,
  Maisonneuve, C., & Tremblay, J. A. (2012). Estimating updraft velocity components over large spatial scales: contrasting migration strategies of golden eagles and turkey vultures. *Ecology Letters*, *15*(2), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01713.x
- Brooks, M. E., Kristensen, K., van Benthem, K. J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C. W., Nielsen, A., Skaug, H. J.,
  Maechler, M., & Bolker, B. M. (2017). glmmTMB Balances speed and flexibility among packages
  for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modelling. *The R Journal*, 9(2), 378–400.
- Buechley, E. R., Oppel, S., Efrat, R., Phipps, W. L., Carbonell Alanís, I., Álvarez, E., Andreotti, A.,
  Arkumarev, V., Berger-Tal, O., Bermejo Bermejo, A., Bounas, A., Ceccolini, G., Cenerini, A.,
  Dobrev, V., Duriez, O., García, J., García-Ripollés, C., Galán, M., Gil, A., ... Marra, P. P. (2021).
  Differential survival throughout the full annual cycle of a migratory bird presents a life-history
  trade-off. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(5), 1228–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13449
- Calenge, C. (2006). The package "adehabitat" for the R software: A tool for the analysis of space and habitat use by animals. *Ecological Modelling*, *197*, 516–519.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.03.017

- Cheng, Y., Fiedler, W., Wikelski, M., & Flack, A. (2019). "Closer-to-home" strategy benefits juvenile survival in a long-distance migratory bird. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(16), 8945–8952. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5395
- Chernetsov, N., Berthold, P., & Querner, U. (2004). Migratory orientation of first-year white storks (Ciconia ciconia): inherited information and social interactions. *Journal of Experimental Biology,* 207(6), 937–943. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00853
- Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S). (2017). ERA5: Fifth generation of ECMWF atmospheric reanalyses of the global climate.
- Duriez, O., Kato, A., Tromp, C., Dell'Omo, G., Vyssotski, A. L., Sarrazin, F., & Ropert-Coudert, Y. (2014).
   How cheap is soaring flight in raptors? A preliminary investigation in freely-flying vultures. *PLoS* ONE, 9(1), e84887. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084887
- Fernández-Cruz, M. (2004). La migración otonal de la Cigüena Blanca (Ciconia ciconia) por el estrecho de Gibraltar. In SEO/BirdLife (Ed.), *La Cigüena Blanca en España. VI Censo Internacional* (pp. 162–201).
- Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Blas, J., Pokrovsky, I., Kaatz, M., Mitropolsky, M., Aghababyan, K., Fakriadis, I.,
  Makrigianni, E., Jerzak, L., Azafzaf, H., Feltrup-Azafzaf, C., Rotics, S., Mokotjomela, T. M.,
  Nathan, R., & Wikelski, M. (2016). Costs of migratory decisions: A comparison across eight white stork populations. *Science Advances*, 2(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500931

Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An R companion to applied regression.

- Gilbert, N. I., Correia, R. A., Silva, J. P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P. W., Gill, J. A., & Franco, A. M.
  A. (2016). Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. *Movement Ecology*, 4(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0
- Gill, J. A., Alves, J. A., Sutherland, W. J., Appleton, G. F., Potts, P. M., & Gunnarsson, T. G. (2014)b. Why is timing of bird migration advancing when individuals are not? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1774), 20132161. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2161
- Gill, R. E., Douglas, D. C., Handel, C. M., Tibbitts, T. L., Hufford, G., & Piersma, T. (2014)a. Hemisphericscale wind selection facilitates bar-tailed godwit circum-migration of the Pacific. *Animal Behaviour*, 90, 117–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.01.020
- Gleiss, A. C., Wilson, R. P., & Shepard, E. L. C. (2011). Making overall dynamic body acceleration work: On the theory of acceleration as a proxy for energy expenditure. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00057.x

- Gordo, O., & Sanz, J. J. (2006). Climate change and bird phenology: a long-term study in the Iberian Peninsula. *Global Change Biology*, *12*, 1993–2004. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01178.x
- Gordo, O., Sanz, J. J., & Lobo, J. M. (2007). Spatial patterns of white stork (Ciconia ciconia) migratory phenology in the Iberian Peninsula. *Journal of Ornithology*, *148*(3), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0132-6
- Harel, R., Duriez, O., Spiegel, O., Fluhr, J., Horvitz, N., Getz, W. M., Bouten, W., Sarrazin, F., Hatzofe,
  O., & Nathan, R. (2016). Decision-making by a soaring bird: Time, energy and risk considerations at different spatio-temporal scales. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 371(1704). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0397
- Hersbach, H., Bell, B., Berrisford, P., Hirahara, S., Horányi, A., Muñoz-Sabater, J., Nicolas, J., Peubey,
  C., Radu, R., Schepers, D., Simmons, A., Soci, C., Abdalla, S., Abellan, X., Balsamo, G., Bechtold,
  P., Biavati, G., Bidlot, J., Bonavita, M., ... Thépaut, J. N. (2020). The ERA5 global reanalysis. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, *146*(730), 1999–2049.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/qj.3803
- Hijmans, R. J. (2019). *geosphere: Spherical trignometry*. R package version 1.5-10. https://cran.rproject.org/package=geosphere
- Jenni, L., & Kéry, M. (2003). Timing of autumn bird migration under climate change: Advances in longdistance migrants, delays in short-distance migrants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1523), 1467–1471. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2394
- Kanerva, A. M., Hokkanen, T., Lehikoinen, A., Norrdahl, K., & Suhonen, J. (2020). The impact of tree crops and temperature on the timing of frugivorous bird migration. *Oecologia*, 193(4), 1021– 1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04726-5
- Klaassen, R. H. G., Schlaich, A. E., Bouten, W., & Koks, B. J. (2017). Migrating Montagu's harriers frequently interrupt daily flights in both Europe and Africa. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *48*(1), 180– 190. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.01362
- Krietsch, J., Valcu, M., & Kempenaers, B. (2020). Wind conditions influence breeding season movements in a nomadic polygynous shorebird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 287*(1920). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.2789
- La Sorte, F. A., Hochachka, W. M., Farnsworth, A., Sheldon, D., Fink, D., Geevarghese, J., Winner, K., Van Doren, B. M., & Kelling, S. (2015). Migration timing and its determinants for nocturnal migratory birds during autumn migration. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *84*(5), 1202–1212. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12376

Loonstra, A. H. J., Verhoeven, M. A., Senner, N. R., Both, C., & Piersma, T. (2019). Adverse wind

conditions during northward Sahara crossings increase the in-flight mortality of Black-tailed Godwits. *Ecology Letters*, *22*(12), 2060–2066. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13387

- López-López, P., García-Ripollés, C., & Urios, V. (2014). Individual repeatability in timing and spatial flexibility of migration routes of trans-Saharan migratory raptors. *Current Zoology*, *60*(5), 642–652. https://doi.org/10.1093/czoolo/60.5.642
- Martín, B., Onrubia, A., & Ferrer, M. (2016). Migration timing responses to climate change differ between adult and juvenile white storks across Western Europe. *Climate Research*, *69*(1), 9–23. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01390
- Mellone, U., De La Puente, J., López-López, P., Limiñana, R., Bermejo, A., & Urios, V. (2014). Seasonal differences in migration patterns of a soaring bird in relation to environmental conditions: a multi-scale approach. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 69(1), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-014-1818-4
- Mellone, U., Klaassen, R. H. G., García-Ripollés, C., Limiñana, R., López-López, P., Strandberg, R., Urios,
   V., Vardakis, M., & Alerstam, T. (2012). Interspecific comparison of the performance of soaring migrants in relation to morphology, meteorological conditions and migration strategies. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(7), e39833. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039833
- Mueller, T., O'Hara, R. B., Converse, S. J., Urbanek, R. P., & Fagan, W. F. (2013). Social learning of migratory performance. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 341*, 999–1002.
   https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1237139

Newton, I. (2008). The Migration Ecology of Birds. Academic Press.

- Norevik, G., Åkesson, S., Artois, T., Beenaerts, N., Conway, G., Cresswell, B., Evens, R., Henderson, I., Jiguet, F., & Hedenström, A. (2020). Wind-associated detours promote seasonal migratory connectivity in a flapping flying long-distance avian migrant. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(2), 635–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13112
- Onrubia, A., Torralvo, C., & Martín, B. (2019). Migración de la Cigüena Blanca por el Estrecho de Gibraltar (conteos visuales). In *Monografía no. 4 del programa MigraSEO/BirdLife*. SEO/BirdLife.
- Oppel, S., Arkumarev, V., Bakari, S., Dobrev, V., Saravia-Mullin, V., Adefolu, S., Sözüer, L. A., Apeverga,
  P. T., Arslan, Ş., Barshep, Y., Bino, T., Bounas, A., Çetin, T., Dayyoub, M., Dobrev, D., Duro, K., El-Moghrabi, L., ElSafoury, H., Endris, A., ... Nikolov, S. C. (2021). Major threats to a migratory
  raptor vary geographically along the eastern Mediterranean flyway. *Biological Conservation*, *February*, 109277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109277
- Panuccio, M., Martín, B., Morganti, M., Onrubia, A., & Ferrer, M. (2016). Long-term changes in autumn migration dates at the Strait of Gibraltar reflect population trends of soaring birds. *Ibis*, 159(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12420

- Pastorino, A., Roman, J. R., Agostini, N., Dell'omo, G., & Panuccio, M. (2017). Fog and rain lead migrating White storks Ciconia ciconia to perform reverse migration and to land. *Avocetta*, 41(1), 5–12.
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Turjeman, S. F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler,
  W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2016). The challenges of the first migration:
  movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult white storks with insights regarding juvenile
  mortality. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *85*, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12525
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Turjeman, S., Zurell, D., Wikelski, M., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F., & Nathan, R. (2018). Early arrival at breeding grounds: Causes, costs and a trade-off with overwintering latitude. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *87*(6), 1627–1638. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12898
- Rotics, S., Turjeman, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Fiedler, W., Flack, A., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2017). Wintering in Europe instead of Africa enhances juvenile survival in a long-distance migrant. *Animal Behaviour*, *126*, 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.01.016
- Safi, K., Kranstauber, B., Weinzierl, R., Griffin, L., Rees, E. C., Cabot, D., Cruz, S., Proaño, C., Takekawa, J. Y., Newman, S. H., Waldenström, J., Bengtsson, D., Kays, R., Wikelski, M., & Bohrer, G. (2013).
  Flying with the wind: scale dependency of speed and direction measurements in modelling wind support in avian flight. *Movement Ecology*, 1(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-3933-1-4
- Saino, N., Ambrosini, R., Rubolini, D., Von Hardenberg, J., Provenzale, A., Hüppop, K., Hüppop, O., Lehikoinen, A., Lehikoinen, E., Rainio, K., Romano, M., & Sokolov, L. (2011). Climate warming, ecological mismatch at arrival and population decline in migratory birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *278*(1707), 835–842. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1778
- Sapir, N., Wikelski, M., McCue, M. D., Pinshow, B., & Nathan, R. (2010). Flight Modes in Migrating European Bee-Eaters: Heart Rate May Indicate Low Metabolic Rate during Soaring and Gliding. *PLoS ONE*, 5(11), e13956. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013956
- Schaub, M., Kania, W., & Köppen, U. (2005). Variation of primary production during winter induces synchrony in survival rates in migratory white storks Ciconia ciconia. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 74(4), 656–666. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2005.00961.x
- Schlaich, A. E., Klaassen, R. H. G., Bouten, W., Bretagnolle, V., Koks, B. J., Villers, A., & Both, C. (2016).
  How individual Montagu's Harriers cope with Moreau's Paradox during the Sahelian winter. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 85(6), 1491–1501. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12583

Scholer, M. N., Martín, B., Ferrer, M., Onrubia, A., Bechard, M. J., Kaltenecker, G. S., & Carlisle, J. D.

(2016). Variable Shifts in the Autumn Migration Phenology of Soaring Birds in Southern Spain. *Ardea*, 104(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.5253/arde.v104i1.a7

- Sergio, F., Tanferna, A., Stephanis, R. De, Jimenez, L. L., Blas, J., Tavecchia, G., Preatoni, D., & Hiraldo,
   F. (2014). Individual improvements and selective mortality shape lifelong migratory
   performance. *Nature*, *515*, 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13696
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Liechti, F., & Vansteelant, W. M. G. (2017). Atmospheric conditions create freeways, detours and tailbacks for migrating birds. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 203(6), 509–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-017-1181-9
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Yom-Tov, Y., Leshem, Y., Baharad, A., Alpert, P., Berthold, P., & Dvir, Y. (2003). The effect of wind, season and latitude on the migration speed of white storks Ciconia ciconia, along the eastern migration route. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *34*(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-048X.2003.03079.x
- Smith, R. J., & Moore, F. R. (2005). Arrival timing and seasonal reproductive performance in a longdistance migratory landbird. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 57(3), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-004-0855-9
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A. M. A., Herlander Martins, B., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K., & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, *162*(2), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Martins, B. H., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2021). Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird. *Science of The Total Environment*, *782*, 146843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843
- Strandberg, R., Klaassen, R. H. G., Hake, M., & Alerstam, T. (2010). How hazardous is the Sahara Desert crossing for migratory birds? Indications from satellite tracking of raptors. *Biology Letters*, 6(3), 297–300. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0785
- Taylor, C. M., Belusic, D., Guichard, F., Parker, D. J., Vischel, T., Bock, O., Harris, P. P., Janicot, S., Klein,
  C., & Panthou, G. (2017). Frequency of extreme Sahelian storms tripled since 1982 in satellite
  observations. *Nature*, *544*(7651), 475–478. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22069
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Bouten, W., Klaassen, R. H. G., Koks, B. J., Schlaich, A. E., Diermen, J. van, Loon,
  E. E. van, & Shamoun-Baranes, J. (2015). Regional and seasonal flight speeds of soaring migrants and the role of weather conditions at hourly and daily scales. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 46, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00457
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Kekkonen, J., & Byholm, P. (2017). Wind conditions and geography shape the first outbound migration of juvenile honey buzzards and their distribution across sub-Saharan

Africa. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 284*(1855), 20170387. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0387

- Vansteelant, Wouter M.G., Shamoun-Baranes, J., van Manen, W., van Diermen, J., & Bouten, W. (2017). Seasonal detours by soaring migrants shaped by wind regimes along the East Atlantic Flyway. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(2), 179–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12593
- Vergara, P., Aguirre, J. I., & Fernández-Cruz, M. (2007). Arrival date, age and breeding success in white stork Ciconia ciconia. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *38*, 573–579. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0908-8857.03983.x
- Vickery, J. A., Ewing, S. R., Smith, K. W., Pain, D. J., Bairlein, F., Škorpilová, J., & Gregory, R. D. (2014). The decline of Afro-Palaearctic migrants and an assessment of potential causes. *Ibis*, *156*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12118
- Vidal-Mateo, J., Mellone, U., López-López, P., La Puente, J. De, García-Ripollés, C., Bermejo, A., & Urios, V. (2016). Wind effects on the migration routes of trans-saharan soaring raptors:
  Geographical, seasonal, and interspecific variation. *Current Zoology*, 62(2), 89–97.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/cz/zow008
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., & Elphick, C. S. (2010). A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 1(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2009.00001.x
- Zwarts, L., Bijlsma, R. G., van der Kamp, J., & Wymenga, E. (2009). White Stork Ciconia ciconia. In *Living on the Edge: Wetlands and birds in a changing Sahel* (pp. 252–265). KNNV Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004278134\_021

### Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials

Appendix S4.1 - Definition of migratory days and stopover days

Appendix S4.2 - Consistency in the timing and destination of autumn migration of adult White

Storks

#### Appendix S4.1

#### Definition of migratory days and stopover days

To distinguish between migratory and stopover days, we used receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves as a binary classifier for the daily latitudinal displacement. We assumed birds displace on a southerly direction on migratory days and then determined a daily displacement threshold to classify if birds were migrating or on a stopover. This threshold was computed as the optimal value maximizing sensitivity and specificity, using Youden's J statistic. ROC curves, threshold and the Area Under the Curve (AUC) were computed using functions "roc" and "coords" and "auc" from package "pROC" (Robin et al., 2011), respectively. The ROC optimal threshold was 36.9km (which was then rounded to 37km), with specificity = 0.84, sensitivity = 0.64, and AUC = 0.769. The 37km threshold was then confirmed by visually inspecting the GPS tracks.

#### References

Robin, X., Turck, N., Hainard, A., Tiberti, N., Lisacek, F., Sanchez, J.C. & Müller, M. (2011). pROC: an open-source package for R and S+ to analyze and compare ROC curves. *BMC Bioinformatics,* 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-12-77

#### Appendix S4.2

Consistency in the timing and destination of autumn migration of adult White Storks

We analysed the individual consistency in the timing and destination of autumn migration of 5 adult White Storks that were tracked for 2 (n=3) or 3 consecutive years (n=2). To do so, we first calculated the start and end of autumn migration using the spatio-temporal displacement method described in Soriano-Redondo *et al.* (2020) and extracted the longitude of the location where stork's finished autumn migration. We then calculated the repeatability of the dates of start of autumn migration (in julian days) and using the "rpt" function of the R package "rptR" (Stoffel et al., 2017), which indicated that individuals were consistent in the timing of start of autumn migration (R = 0.79, SE = 0.22, *p*-value = 0.004). Using the same protocol, we calculated the repeatability of the longitudes of the location where individuals ended the autumn migration, which showed that White Storks were highly consistent in the destination of autumn migration (R = 0.99, SE = 0.04, *p*-value < 0.001).

#### References

Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A.M.A., Martins, B.H., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K. & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, 162, 581-588, https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809.

Stoffel, M. A., Nakagawa, S., & Schielzeth, H. (2017). rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 1639-1644, https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12797.

– Chapter 5 –

# Individual experience facilitates changes in migratory behaviour and adaptation to environmental change



## Individual experience facilitates changes in migratory behaviour and adaptation to environmental change

Marta Acácio<sup>1</sup>, Inês Catry<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Andrea Soriano-Redondo<sup>2,3,4</sup>, João Paulo Silva<sup>2,4</sup>,

Philip W. Atkinson<sup>5</sup>, Aldina M. A. Franco<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, Norfolk, UK

<sup>2</sup> CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Campus de Vairão, Universidade do Porto, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>3</sup> CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade de Lisboa, 1349-017 Lisboa, Portugal

<sup>4</sup> BIOPOLIS Program in Genomics, Biodiversity and Land Planning, CIBIO, Campus de Vairão, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>5</sup> British Trust for Ornithology, The Nunnery, Thetford, IP24 2PU, United Kingdom

#### Author's contributions

MA, IC, and AF conceived the idea. IC, JPS, PWA and AMAF coordinated the study. MA and IC performed fieldwork for logger deployment. MA, IC and ASR collected behavioural data and built the tracking dataset. MA analysed the data and wrote an initial version of the manuscript, which was critically edited and revised by all authors. All authors gave final approval for publication.

#### Abstract

Recent human-driven environmental change has significantly altered migratory behaviour, leading to the emergence of non-migratory individuals in previously fully migratory populations. Developmental plasticity, in which the traits of individuals irreversibly change during ontogeny due to variations in the environment, has been shown to be a mechanism that enables these rapid changes in migratory strategies to occur. However, the processes causing individual variability in migratory strategies within populations remain to be explored and could be associated with individual experience during development. Using GPS-tracking data from 93 immature White Storks tracked for up to 5 years, we investigate the ontogeny of migratory behaviour in this long-distance migratory species with increasing numbers of non-migratory individuals in Southern Europe. We hypothesise that individual flight efficiency, migratory performance, and access to abundant food resources at landfill sites, during the first years of life can influence the migratory strategy adopted in subsequent years. We show that during development and prior to maturation, immature White Storks can decrease their migration distance by up to 2500 km and that this radical shift in migratory behaviour is explained by individual experience (migratory performance and flight efficiency), rather than the use of abundant and predictable food resources. Individuals with later and slower autumn migrations, and those with lower flight efficiency (i.e., with higher energetic costs associated with flying) are more likely to decrease migratory distance and become residents. The rapid increase of the resident White Stork population in Iberia is therefore likely to be occurring through a generational shift in the proportion of migratory and non-migratory individuals, with immatures with poorer individual performance decreasing migratory distance, exacerbated by the increased survival of resident individuals, associated with access to anthropogenic food sources.

#### 5.1. Introduction

Bird migration is a highly adaptive behaviour that allows migrants to take advantage of peaks in resource abundance and move to wintering areas once resources in the breeding areas decline (Newton, 2008). Yet if environmental conditions change, resource availability might also shift. In recent decades, human-induced climate and land use changes have significantly altered the environmental conditions and habitats, and migratory birds have rapidly adjusted the phenology (Conklin et al., 2021; Gordo, 2007) and distance (Visser et al., 2009) of migratory movements. Recently, even more dramatic changes have been reported in response to environmental change, with the emergence of non-migratory individuals in previously fully migratory populations (Catry et al., 2017; Wilcove & Wikelski, 2008).

Shifts in migratory behaviour can occur through inherited mechanisms (Pulido & Berthold, 2010) as well as through phenotypic flexibility, with individuals adapting their migratory strategy to the environmental conditions (Conklin et al., 2021; Fraser et al., 2019; Piersma & Drent, 2003). For species displaying high individual consistency in behaviour, changes in migratory behaviour can occur through developmental plasticity, in which environmental cues experienced by immature individuals lead to irreversible changes in their phenotype (Piersma & Drent, 2003). At the population level, changes in migratory phenology and route can thus derive from an inter-generational shift in the frequency of individuals with differing migratory strategies that are defined during ontogeny (Gill et al., 2014; Verhoeven et al., 2018, 2021). This mechanism may be particularly relevant for long-lived species, as drastic changes in environmental conditions may occur during the slow maturation period. Furthermore, during this critical phase, immature birds develop their flight (Rotics et al., 2016) and foraging skills (Grecian et al., 2018; Riotte-lambert & Weimerskirch, 2013) and enhance their migratory performance (Sergio et al., 2014). However, to the best of our knowledge, the

influence of individual experience during ontogeny on subsequent migratory decisions has yet to be studied, with implications for changes in population migratory behaviour.

White Storks were once a typical example of a long-distance migrant but are now becoming a classic case study of a widely distributed species in Europe that is changing their migratory behaviour in response to human-induced environmental change. Until the last three decades, White Storks in Europe were exclusively migratory, but new wintering sites have emerged in the Iberian Peninsula (Flack et al., 2016), and growing numbers of Iberian storks have since then become non-migratory (Catry et al., 2017). In Portugal, the number of resident (i.e., non-migratory) White Storks have dramatically increased from 1187 individuals in 1990 to 19,295 storks in 2020, which corresponds to a maximum of 83% of the population becoming non-migratory in only 30 years (Andrade et al., submit.). While the warmer winters and the use of newly available and predictable food resources, such as open landfills, undoubtedly play a role in the establishment of this resident population (Catry et al., 2017; Gilbert et al., 2016; Tortosa et al., 1995), the processes underlying this rapid shift in migratory behaviour are only now starting to be explored. Recent evidence shows that the recent loss of migration in White Storks is not likely to be explained by genetic differences between migrants and residents, nor by adult flexibility in changing migratory behaviour (Andrade et al., submit.). Alternatively, this dramatic change in migratory behaviour seems to be driven by developmental plasticity, as some juveniles change their migratory behaviour during the 3-4 years maturation period, progressively becoming resident (Figure 5.1). However, what factors influence juvenile storks to become residents, while others maintain their original migratory behaviour, is still unknown.



**Figure 5.1 – Plasticity of migratory behaviour during White Stork development.** (A) GPS tracks of juvenile White Storks collected between 2016-2020, highlighting the different migratory strategies: in blue the long-distance migrants, in yellow the short-distance migrants and in green, the residents in Iberia. (B) Proportion of first-year White Stork individuals employing the different migratory strategies as they age. Sample sizes are indicated on top of each age bar. (C) Migratory distance of first-year individual White Storks as they age. Circles represent GPS-tracked individuals and lines connect the same individual in consecutive years. Colours of the circles indicate the migratory strategy and colour of the lines indicate the migratory strategy of the following year. Long- (blue) and short-distance (yellow) migrants wintered in the Sahel and in Morocco, respectively, and residents (green) wintered in Iberia.

Here, we hypothesise that events experienced by immature storks during one annual cycle can carry-over to the following year, modifying their migration program. To test this hypothesis, we use GPS-tracking of juvenile White Storks and evaluate the importance of individual experience (previous migratory performance and flight efficiency) and access to highly abundant and predictable food resources on the subsequent migratory strategy of juvenile birds. Specifically, we tested: 1) if the timing of autumn migration, migration duration, flight efficiency and landfill use during autumn migration influence the following year's migratory period influence the subsequent migratory strategy. Understanding how migratory performance, flight efficiency and use of highly competitive foraging areas influence the migratory decisions will provide crucial information on the mechanisms underlying dramatic changes in migratory behaviour in long-lived birds.

#### 5.2. Methods

#### GPS tracking data, behavioural classification, and energy expenditure

Between 2016 and 2020, we GPS-tracked 93 first-year White Storks between the breeding grounds in Portugal – Southern Europe population – and their wintering areas in Iberia, Morocco, and the Sahel region in Africa. Storks were tracked for up to 5 years after fledging. The GPS devices ("Flyway-50" from Movetech Telemetry and "Ornitrack-50" loggers from Ornitela), transmitted data remotely over the GSM network and had built-in accelerometers. To deploy the loggers, we retrieved the pre-fledging juveniles from their nests and attached the devices as backpacks, using a Teflon ribbon thoracic full harness. The loggers weighted between 50-80g, corresponding to 1.1-2.9% of the bird's body weight (more details on tag deployment and harnesses on Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021). This study was carried out in

agreement with the recommendations of Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas and the Animal Welfare & Ethical Review Board from the School of Biological Sciences at the University of East Anglia. Licenses to deploy the loggers were granted by the Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas (2016: 493/2016/CAPT; 2017: 661/2017/CAPT to 663/2017/CAPT; 2018: 549/2018/CAPT; 2019: 247/2019/CAPT to 250/2019/CAPT; 2020: 364/2020/CAPT to 368/2020/CAPT; 2021: 198/2021/CAPT to 202/2021/CAPT).

The loggers provided 9 seconds of GPS and acceleration fixes at 1Hz every 20 minutes, thus acceleration and location matched in space and time. Using the accelerometer data, we calculated the Overall Dynamic Body Acceleration (ODBA) and applied a supervised learning algorithm to classify White Stork behaviour. ODBA is a proxy for energy expenditure (Gleiss et al., 2011) and was calculated by subtracting each acceleration point from a running-mean of 4 seconds for each axis and summing the resulting values for all three axes. To classify bird's behaviour, we built a random forest using 1,000 manually labelled acceleration bursts of 4 distinct behaviours: foraging, resting, soaring flight, and flapping flight (see Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021 for a full description of behaviour classification). To account for differences in sensors due to logger type, we created two random forest models, one for Movetech Telemetry and one for Ornitela loggers, with 96% and 97% accuracies, respectively. In this study, we combined soaring and flapping flight behaviours into one single *flight* category and resting and foraging behaviours as a *ground* category. If acceleration information was not available, we classified the GPS fix as *flight* or *ground* if the ground speed was over or under 5 km/h, respectively.

#### Definition of White Stork's migration strategy and distance

White Storks from the Portuguese population were originally long-distance migrants, migrating to the Sahel, but in the last decades two other migratory strategies emerged: a short-distance migration to Morocco, or remaining in Iberia all year long (becoming residents) (Figure 5.1). All juveniles migrated on their first year, but once they become resident the subsequent years were not included in the analysis, as juveniles that wintered in Iberia became consistent in their behaviour and did not migrate to Africa in the following years.

We used migratory distance as a proxy for migratory strategy and defined stork's annual migration distance as the maximum distance a stork moved from their nest during one year (April to March). As all storks were tagged before fledging, we could assess the migration distance as individuals aged.

#### Defining White Stork's annual cycle

We divided White Stork's annual cycle into two major seasons: autumn migration, and spring. We did not assess spring migration separately as juvenile White Storks perform extraordinarily long spring migrations (they can take up to 5 months to reach the breeding areas after leaving the wintering grounds) and often do not return to the breeding areas. Moreover, the comparison between Moroccan and Sahelian migrants would not be feasible, as the duration of spring migration is remarkably different for these two strategies (mean spring migration duration for Sahelian migrants = 106 days, SD = 38; mean spring migration duration for Moroccan migrants = 39 days, SD = 27), which is not the case for autumn migration (mean autumn migration duration for Sahelian migrants = 26 days, SD = 13; mean autumn migration

To classify the start of autumn migration for storks wintering in the Sahel and in Morocco, we used the spatio-temporal displacement method described in Soriano-Redondo et al., 2020, which defines spatial and temporal thresholds to identify the start and end of migratory movements. Thus, we identified the start of autumn migration as the first of three consecutive days a stork moved more than 60 km between roosts after having left the breeding area. The breeding area was calculated as the 90% kernel of June GPS locations. We then identified the start of the wintering season as the first of three consecutive days a stork displaced less than 60 km between roosts after having area (calculated as the 90% kernel of October GPS locations).

Finally, the start of the spring season was defined as the day storks abandoned the wintering area and started the spring migration; this was calculated as the first of three consecutive days a stork moved more than 60 km between roosts after having left the wintering area. As individuals wintering in Iberia often do not perform an autumn migration, and often do not even leave their spring areas all year long, we defined the end of spring season as the median date of start of autumn migration for all storks tracked in that same year. All tracks were visually inspected to correct possible miscalculations in the dates of start and end of each season. Analyses were performed using R package geosphere (Hijmans, 2019) for distances calculation and adehabitatHR (Calenge, 2006) for kernel estimations.

# Determining the influence of individual experience on White Stork migratory strategy

To assess if events experienced by immature storks during one annual cycle can influence the following year's migratory strategy, we tested two hypotheses: (1) the previous autumn migration performance influences the following year's migratory strategy and (2) the events

experienced during the previous spring and during the 15-day period that preceded autumn migration (hereafter *pre-migratory period*) determined the subsequent year's migratory strategy.

To assess the influence of the previous migratory performance on White Stork's migratory strategy in the following year, we used several metrics: date of start of autumn migration (in Julian day), date of arrival at the wintering area (in Julian day), migration speed (in km/day), flight efficiency (i.e., flight ODBA, in G) and landfill use during autumn migration (0-1). We calculated migration speed as the total migration distance divided by the difference in days between the start and end of migration. Flight efficiency as calculated as the mean ODBA of all accelerometer bursts classified as *flight* during autumn migration.

To calculate the use of landfills, we started by identifying all landfills and rubbish dumps used by the GPS-tracked White Storks in our study through the visual inspection of satellite images (Google Earth and Bing Maps). Landfills were located in Portugal, Spain and Morocco (Figure S5.1). Then, each GPS location was classified as either inside or outside a landfill if they were within a 1km buffer from the centre of the landfill. We classified *landfill days* when there were more than 5 GPS locations obtained during the daylight hours, considered representative of bird's activity, and at least 1 *ground* GPS location was located inside the landfill buffer. Finally, we calculated the frequency of *landfill days* during autumn migration and spring by dividing the number of landfill days by the number of non-landfill days in each season.

To test if the previous spring and pre-migratory period can determine the subsequent year's migratory strategy, we examined White Stork flight efficiency and landfill use during these periods. We calculated flight efficiency as the mean ODBA of all accelerometer bursts classified as *flight* during spring and the pre-migratory period. During the pre-migratory period, all individuals had at least 9 days with GPS and accelerometer data (median = 15 days),

but we excluded from the analysis individuals with less than 10 flight observations during the pre-migratory period (median = 30 flight observations).

#### Statistical analysis

The timing of start of migration and arrival at the wintering area were correlated, and migration speed, flight efficiency and landfill use were also correlated with each other (Table S5.1), therefore we only included in the models two uncorrelated metrics: timing of arrival at the wintering areas and flight efficiency. A linear mixed model (LMM) was built, using R package *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015), with migration distance of the following year as the response variable (log transformed) and arrival date at the wintering area and flight efficiency of the previous autumn migration as fixed effects; bird ID was included as a random effect.

We fitted LMMs separately for the spring period and for the pre-migratory period, with migration distance of the following year as the response variable, flight efficiency and landfill use of the previous spring and pre-migratory period as fixed effects and bird ID as a random effect. Due to the small sample size, we modelled separately the influence of flight efficiency and landfill use on migration distance, for the pre-migratory period. For all LMMs, we estimated p-values using *car* R package (Fox & Weisberg, 2019) and pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> using *MuMIn* package (Barton, 2019). Multicollinearity was analysed by verifying the variance inflation factor (VIF < 2, Zuur et al., 2010).

#### 5.3. Results

Between 2016 and 2020, we followed 93 juvenile White Storks on their first autumn migration, but the number of tracked storks decreased over the years, due to logger failure and/or bird mortality: 20 storks were tracked for two years, 6 storks for three years and 3 storks for four and five years. In total, the dataset consisted of 1,138,278 GPS positions, spanned over the 5 years.

White Storks adopted three distinct migratory strategies: long-distance migration to the Sahel (mean distance = 2674 km, SD = 73 km), short-distance migration to Morocco (mean distance = 507 km, SD = 95 km) or remained in Iberia all year long (mean distance = 176 km, SD = 79 km). The percentage of immatures adopting each migratory strategy changed as storks aged, with the proportion of migrants decreasing and the proportion of residents increasing (Figure 1). On their first year, 87% of storks migrated to the Sahel and no bird remained in Iberia during the winter, whereas on their second and third year, the percentage of Sahelian migrants decreased to 60% and 17%, respectively, and the percentage of residents in Iberia progressively increased to 25% and 67%. The percentage of individuals wintering in Morocco was similar across years (Figure 5.1). These differences in proportion of migrants and residents were explained by individual storks shifting their migratory strategy as they aged, from migrants to residents (Figure 5.1).

We assessed the influence of previous autumn migration performance on following year migratory strategy for 19 individuals, in a total of 23 migrations. Autumn migration started between the 9<sup>th</sup> of July and 9<sup>th</sup> of September, and birds arrived at the wintering areas between 26<sup>th</sup> of July and 4<sup>th</sup> of October, on an average speed of 109 km/day (SD = 63 km). During autumn migration, storks spent an average of 41% of days using landfills, but landfill use differed according to the individuals (range = 0 - 95%). There was also large variation in

flight efficiency (flight ODBA range = 0.12 - 0.26 G). We found that storks that arrived later at the wintering grounds and storks that spent more energy during flight were more likely to decrease migratory distance (i.e., change migratory strategy) in the following year (Figure 5.2, Table 5.1).



Figure 5.2 – Influence of autumn migration timing and flight efficiency on subsequent year's migratory distance. The probability of juvenile White Storks undertaking a long-distance migration decreases with (A) later arrival at the wintering grounds and (B) increased flight ODBA during previous autumn migration. Lines represent predictions from a linear mixed model, shading represents 95% confidence intervals, and orange circles show the raw data.

Table 5.1 – Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous year arrival date at the wintering area and flight efficiency (flight ODBA) during autumn migration, on the following year's migration distance. Model used bird ID as random factors.

	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	Marginal	Conditional
				R-squared	R-squared
Intercept	17.30 (2.88)	6.00	-	0.54	0.72
Date of arrival at	-22.40 (6.97)	-3.22	0.001 **		
wintering area					
Autumn	-0.03 (0.01)	-2.26	0.024 *		
migration					
flight ODBA					



Figure 5.3 – Influence of White Stork flight efficiency during spring and pre-migratory period on subsequent year's migration distance. The probability of juvenile White Storks undertaking a longdistance migration decreases with higher flight ODBA during (A) spring and (B) the pre-migratory period. Lines represent predictions from a linear mixed model, shading represents 95% confidence intervals, and yellow circles show the raw data.

Table 5.2 - Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous spring flight efficiency (flight ODBA) and landfill use, on the following year's migration distance. The model used bird ID as random factors.

	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	Marginal	Conditional
				R-squared	<b>R-squared</b>
Intercept	12.24 (2.13)	5.74		0.27	0.40
Spring flight ODBA	-27.67 (10.04)	-2.76	0.006 **		
Spring landfill use	1.90 (1.49)	1.28	0.200		

Table 5.3 - Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous pre-migratory period flight efficiency (flight ODBA), on the following year's migration distance. Model used bird ID as random factors.

	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	Marginal R-squared	Conditional R-squared
Intercept	9.33 (1.27)	7.67		0.19	0.19
Pre-migratory period flight ODBA	-10.77 (5.13)	-2.10	0.036 *		

	Estimate (SE)	t-value	p-value	Marginal	Conditional
				<b>R-squared</b>	R-squared
Intercept	7.49 (0.56)	13.34		0.09	0.32
Pre-migratory	-1.04 (0.70)	-1.48	0.14		
period landfill use					

 Table 5.4 - Results of the LMM, testing the influence of White Stork's previous pre-migratory period

 landfill use, on the following year's migration distance.

 The model used bird ID as random factors.

#### 5.4. Discussion

In this study, we showed that lower individual performance can act as a mechanism leading juveniles to lose the innate migratory behaviour during maturation. We tracked White Stork immatures during their developmental years, in which the migratory strategy changed before becoming permanent as birds reach sexual maturity. We found clear evidence that individual flight efficiency and migratory performance can influence the migratory decisions individuals adopt on subsequent years.

In their first year of life, White Storks, as several other species (Åkesson & Helm, 2020), are mostly driven by an innate and inherited migratory program (Chernetsov et al., 2004), as shown by the fact that all 93 GPS-tracked juveniles migrated to Africa on their first year, even though up to 83% of the White Stork adult population is resident (Andrade et al. *in prep*). However, in subsequent years, learning and experience may override this endogenous migratory program. During maturation, long-lived bird species have the chance to enhance their foraging (Grecian et al., 2018; Riotte-lambert & Weimerskirch, 2013), flight (Rotics et al., 2016) and migratory performance (Sergio et al., 2014). Yet, at the population level, this refinement in performance during ontogeny is a combination of both individual improvement and selective mortality, as migrants that do not improve their migratory performance progressively disappear from the population (Sergio et al., 2014). In the case of Iberian White

Storks, however, juveniles with weaker flight and migratory performances have the possibility of stop migrating altogether and become residents, increasing their survival probability (Cheng et al., 2019).

The use of predictable and abundant food resources on landfills has been pointed as the main driver of change of migratory behaviour in White Storks (Catry et al., 2017; Gilbert et al., 2016). However, in our study, individual experience during autumn migration and spring, and not landfill use, were the key factors determining stork's migratory strategy in subsequent years. Whilst we did not find significant differences on landfill use during spring on the following year migratory strategy, other specific aspects of landfill use for these immatures should be assessed, such as the time they spend using landfills per day and their ability forage efficiently in these areas (e.g., quantifying foraging ODBA). Still, the importance of landfills for White Storks should not be diminished; we found that storks with worse flight efficiency migrated at a slower pace, taking advantage of landfills to perform stopovers, and likely increasing their survival probabilities, as poorer fliers have a higher probability of perishing on migration (Rotics et al., 2016). Additionally, these storks with worse flight efficiency, were more likely to become residents in Iberia, strongly relying on the existence of year-round food resources on landfills. During the winter, storks are particularly dependent on this food source (Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021), which provides a nutritious (Pineda-Pampliega et al., 2021) and energy-efficient resource, due to decreased travelling and foraging energy costs when compared to natural habitats (Soriano-Redondo et al., 2021). Furthermore, despite the evident role of individual experience on the loss of migratory behaviour, we cannot discard other un-tested factors, such as the individual genetic propensity for migration, body and health conditions at the time of migration, or even learning and other social components.

Whereas in other species differential survival is not likely to be involved in changes in population migratory behaviour (Verhoeven et al., 2018), this is not the case for the white stork. Resident or short-distance migrant White Storks have lower energy costs (Flack et al., 2016), and storks wintering in Iberia have higher survival than long-distance migrants (Cheng et al., 2019). Although we cannot attest to these results within our population, as for most of the individuals wintering in the Sahel we cannot confirm the cause of disappearance (death or logger failure), we found that 8 of 11 juveniles disappeared in the Sahel on their second migration, whereas no resident juvenile disappeared in Iberia before reaching sexual maturity and recruitment, at 3 or 4 years old. Whilst we show that the resident immatures are the birds with worse flight performance, they benefit from access to highly abundant food resources all year round and probably have higher annual survival, thus replacing the migratory individuals in the population. Therefore, it is likely that the rapid increase of the resident White Stork population in Iberia is occurring through a generational shift in the proportion of migratory and non-migratory individuals, with immatures as the agents of change, exacerbated by the increased survival of resident individuals.

#### References

- Åkesson, S., & Helm, B. (2020). Endogenous Programs and Flexibility in Bird Migration. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(March), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020.00078
- Andrade, P., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Afonso, S., Marques, C. I., Moreira, F., Carneiro, M., & Catry, I. (n.d.). *Developmental plasticity drives the loss of migratory behaviour in a long-lived bird*.
- Barton, K. (2019). *MuMIn: Multi-model inference*. R package version 1.43.6. https://cran.rproject.org/package=MuMIn
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *67*(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Calenge, C. (2006). The package "adehabitat" for the R software: A tool for the analysis of space and habitat use by animals. *Ecological Modelling*, *197*, 516–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.03.017
- Catry, I., Encarnação, V., Pacheco, C., Catry, T., Tenreiro, P., Silva, L. P. da, Leão, F., Bally, F., Roda, S.,
  Lopes, S., Capela, C., Alonso, H., Saldanha, S., Urbano, O., Saraiva, J., Encarnação, P., Sequeira,
  N., Mendes, M., Monteiro, P., ... Moreira, F. (2017). Recent changes on migratory behaviour of
  the White stork (Ciconia ciconia) in Portugal: Towards the end of migration? *Airo*, *24*(January),
  28–35.
- Cheng, Y., Fiedler, W., Wikelski, M., & Flack, A. (2019). "Closer-to-home" strategy benefits juvenile survival in a long-distance migratory bird. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(16), 8945–8952. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5395
- Chernetsov, N., Berthold, P., & Querner, U. (2004). Migratory orientation of first-year white storks (Ciconia ciconia): inherited information and social interactions. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *207*(6), 937–943. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00853
- Conklin, J. R., Lisovski, S., & Battley, P. F. (2021). Advancement in long-distance bird migration through individual plasticity in departure. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25022-7
- Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Blas, J., Pokrovsky, I., Kaatz, M., Mitropolsky, M., Aghababyan, K., Fakriadis, I.,
  Makrigianni, E., Jerzak, L., Azafzaf, H., Feltrup-Azafzaf, C., Rotics, S., Mokotjomela, T. M.,
  Nathan, R., & Wikelski, M. (2016). Costs of migratory decisions: A comparison across eight white stork populations. *Science Advances*, 2(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500931

Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An R companion to applied regression.

- Fraser, K. C., Shave, A., de Greef, E., Siegrist, J., & Garroway, C. J. (2019). Individual variability in migration timing can explain long-term, population-level advances in a songbird. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(September), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00324
- Gilbert, N. I., Correia, R. A., Silva, J. P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P. W., Gill, J. A., & Franco, A. M.
  A. (2016). Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. *Movement Ecology*, 4(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0
- Gill, J. A., Alves, J. A., Sutherland, W. J., Appleton, G. F., Potts, P. M., & Gunnarsson, T. G. (2014). Why is timing of bird migration advancing when individuals are not? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1774), 20132161. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2161
- Gleiss, A. C., Wilson, R. P., & Shepard, E. L. C. (2011). Making overall dynamic body acceleration work:
  On the theory of acceleration as a proxy for energy expenditure. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00057.x
- Gordo, O. (2007). Why are bird migration dates shifting? A review of weather and climate effects on avian migratory phenology. *Climate Research*, *35*(1–2), 37–58. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00713
- Grecian, J. W., Lane, J. V., Michelot, T., Wade, H. M., & Hamer, K. C. (2018). Understanding the ontogeny of foraging behaviour: Insights from combining marine predator bio-logging with satellite-derived oceanography in hidden Markov models. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 15(143). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2018.0084
- Harrel Jr, F. E. (2021). *Hmisc: Harrell Miscellaneous*. R package version 4.6-0. https://cran.rproject.org/package=Hmisc
- Hijmans, R. J. (2019). *geosphere: Spherical trignometry*. R package version 1.5-10. https://cran.rproject.org/package=geosphere
- Newton, I. (2008). The Migration Ecology of Birds. Academic Press.
- Piersma, T., & Drent, J. (2003). Phenotypic flexibility and the evolution of organismal design. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *18*(5), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00036-3
- Pineda-Pampliega, J., Ramiro, Y., Herrera-Dueñas, A., Martinez-Haro, M., Hernández, J. M., Aguirre, J.
  I., & Höfle, U. (2021). A multidisciplinary approach to the evaluation of the effects of foraging on landfills on white stork nestlings. *Science of The Total Environment*, 775, 145197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145197
- Pulido, F., & Berthold, P. (2010). Current selection for lower migratory activity will drive the evolution of residency in a migratory bird population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *107*(16), 7341–7346. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910361107

- Riotte-lambert, L., & Weimerskirch, H. (2013). Do naive juvenile seabirds forage differently from adults? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280, 20131434. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.1434
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Turjeman, S. F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler,
  W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2016). The challenges of the first migration:
  movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult white storks with insights regarding juvenile
  mortality. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *85*, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12525
- Sergio, F., Tanferna, A., Stephanis, R. De, Jimenez, L. L., Blas, J., Tavecchia, G., Preatoni, D., & Hiraldo,
   F. (2014). Individual improvements and selective mortality shape lifelong migratory
   performance. *Nature*, *515*, 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13696
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A. M. A., Herlander Martins, B., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K., & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, *162*(2), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Martins, B. H., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2021). Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird. *Science of The Total Environment, 782*, 146843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843
- Tortosa, F. S., Manez, M., & Barcell, M. (1995). Wintering white storks (Ciconia ciconia) in south west Spain in the years 1991 and 1992. *Vogelwarte*, *38*(1), 41–45.
- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Masero, J. A., Piersma, T., & Senner, N. R. (2018). Generational shift in spring staging site use by a long-distance migratory bird. *Biology Letters*, 14(2), 2009–2012. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2017.0663
- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., McBride, A. D., Kaspersma, W., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Both, C., Senner, N. R., & Piersma, T. (2021). Age-dependent timing and routes demonstrate developmental plasticity in a long-distance migratory bird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13641
- Visser, M. E., Perdeck, A. C., van Balen, J. H., & Both, C. (2009). Climate change leads to decreasing bird migration distances. *Global Change Biology*, *15*(8), 1859–1865. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01865.x
- Wilcove, D. S., & Wikelski, M. (2008). Going, going, gone: Is animal migration disappearing? PLoS Biology, 6(7), 1361–1364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060188
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., & Elphick, C. S. (2010). A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 1(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2009.00001.x

### Chapter 5 Supplementary Materials

Figure S5.1 – Location of landfills and rubbish dumps in Portugal, Spain, and Morocco.

 Table S5.1 – Correlation between autumn migration performance metrics.



**Figure S5.1 – Location of landfills and rubbish dumps in Portugal, Spain, and Morocco**. Location (dark circles) was determined based the inspection of satellite imagery of areas used by 93 White Storks between 2016 and 2020 (yellow lines) and, in all possible cases, were confirmed by visits or contact with local authorities.
Table S5.1 – Correlation between autumn migration performance metrics. Correlation matrix, showing the Pearson correlation coefficients (r-values) and p-values, calculated using the R package "*Hmisc*" (Harrel Jr, 2021). Blue colours highlight statistically significant positive correlations with r > 0.60, and orange colours highlight statistically significant negative correlations with r < -0.60.

	Date of start of migration	Date of arrival at wintering area	Autumn migration Flight ODBA	Migration speed	Autumn migration landfill use
Date of start of migration	-	-	-	-	-
Date of arrival at wintering area	r = 0.79 p < 0.001	-	-	-	-
Autumn migration Flight ODBA	r = 0.35 p = 0.115	r = 0.38 p = 0.090	-	-	-
Migration speed	r = -0.14 p = 0.547	r = -0.47 p = 0.027	r = -0.62 p = 0.003	-	-
Autumn migration landfill use	r = 0.12 p = 0.595	r = 0.36 p = 0.111	r = 0.76 p < 0.001	r = -0.77 p < 0.001	-

# References

Harrel Jr, F. E. (2021). Hmisc: Harrell Miscellaneous. R package version 4.6-0. https://cran.r-

project.org/package=Hmisc



# **General conclusion**



Even if we could turn back, we'd probably never end up where we started - Haruki Murakami -

# **General Conclusion**

# 6.1 Summary of main findings

Wildlife GPS tracking devices are commonly used by the scientific community, but standardised tests to assess their accuracy and precision are rarely performed. In Chapter 2, we found that the GPS devices used in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 were highly accurate, with location and altitude errors varying between 3-7m and 5-10m. Moreover, this accuracy did not considerably change after deployment on White Storks. However, reducing the GPS fix acquisition intervals did significantly decrease the accuracy and precision of the devices, and the *GPS-Error* metric provided by the devices was only successful at identifying outlier locations in high GPS fix acquisition intervals. Our results confirm that researchers should carefully consider the GPS fix acquisition intervals taking into account the study objectives, the accuracy required for the study and the longevity of the devices.

GPS-tracking and remote sensing are invaluable tools to study species that inhabit remote locations. In Chapter 3, we explored the movement ecology of Shoebills, described their home ranges, and demonstrated that their movements are influenced by changes in surface water. Moreover, we showed that immature and adult birds did not respond to these changes in the same way: adults abandoned areas as they became drier, whilst juveniles abandoned areas as they flooded. These findings suggest different habitat use between adults and immatures, likely driven by the intricate foraging strategy of this species, and highlight the importance of studying animal movement in various life stages.

In Chapter 4, we combined GPS-tracking data of adult and juvenile White Storks with tri-axial accelerometery and weather information we found that the timing of autumn migration determined the migratory performance, the weather conditions *en route*, and the

destination of both juvenile and adult White Storks. Late migrants spent fewer days on migration and adopted a shorter and more direct route when crossing the Sahara Desert. They spent more energy in flight when traversing Iberia and the Sahara, as they experienced worse weather conditions in these areas (weaker thermal uplifts and stronger headwinds). Interestingly, we found that timing of migration determined the wind direction storks faced and the wintering destination of storks. Our results show that the recent and ongoing changes in migration phenology due to environmental change may have important fitness consequences for long-distance migrants.

Developmental plasticity is one mechanism through which individuals can adapt their migratory behaviour as a response to human-driven environmental change. In Chapter 5, we analysed the mechanisms leading to White Stork loss of migratory behaviour, becoming residents in Iberia, and showed that during the developmental years, White Storks may decrease their migration distance by up to 2500 km. We provided the first evidence that individual characteristics (migratory performance and flight efficiency), rather than the use of landfills, can explain this radical shift in migratory behaviour. The rapid increase in the resident White Stork population in Iberia may therefore be the result of juveniles with poorer individual performance decreasing the migratory distance during their developmental years, exacerbated by the increased survival rates of resident storks compared to migrants, associated with access to anthropogenic food sources.

Overall, this research contributes to the understanding of how environmental conditions determine and influence the short and long-distance movements of long-lived birds in different life stages. Moreover, it provides new insights on the mechanisms through which species are adapting to ongoing environmental change.

General conclusion

# 6.2 Broader context of this PhD research

## Using GPS tracking for conservation

Animal GPS tracking technology has come to be a commonly used tool by researchers, as shown by the growing number of users and GPS data points on regularly used archival websites, such as Movebank (Kays et al., 2021; Wikelski et al., 2020): as of October 2021, this website hosted 3.2 billion animal locations of over 1,139 taxal The value of this data is unquestionable, but despite many ecology studies stating a conservation implication of their studies, until 2014 only 35% of the studies made explicit conservation and management guidelines (Fraser et al., 2018). Nevertheless, this same study found that on average 60% of government conservation planning documents were informed by movement data, corroborating its importance for conservation. In fact, recent studies have used GPS tracking data to build tools for identifying potential locations for Key Biodiversity Areas (Beal et al., 2021), to inform on protected area design (Choi et al., 2019) and to reveal connections between countries, quantifying their political responsibility in the conservation of migratory species (Beal et al., 2021). Yet, despite the increase of studies incorporating movement data, there are still large knowledge gaps for species of conservation concern (Fraser et al., 2018, Chapter 3).

## Preserving the endangered Shoebill

In Chapter 3, we used GPS tracking technology to study the movements of Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. Despite being some of the most biodiverse biomes, tropical wetlands are amongst the most threatened habitats across the globe (Kingsford et al., 2016), and are currently under extreme pressure, due to the influence of human activities and

climate change (Junk, 2002; Schneider et al., 2017). In the Bangweulu Wetlands, the local communities have been critical for the conservation of Shoebills, and recently guards have been hired to protect Shoebill chicks from disturbance, illegal trafficking, and fires (Mullers & Amar, 2015a). However, climate models for 2010-2070, project an increase in the mean temperatures in Zambia and a decrease in annual rainfall by 8-30% (Ng'onga et al., 2019). The effects of climate change are already visible in the Bangweulu region, with a decrease in rainfall and water levels in the Lake Bangweulu, negatively affecting human fisheries (Ng'onga et al., 2019). The Bangweulu Wetlands support a large community of people that are mainly dependent on fishing (Mullers & Amar, 2015b; Roxburgh & Buchanan, 2010), which is regulated by the Bangweulu Wetland Management Board. Human disturbance can pose a constraint for birds tracking suitable resources (Chevallier et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2019), and humans in this area are the main competitors of Shoebills for catfish (Mullers & Amar, 2015b). With climate change already threatening fish abundance in this region, it is possible that human-wildlife conflicts could increase in the future due to changes in water levels, particularly for fish-dependent species, such as the Shoebill.

Throughout its range, most Shoebill populations reside in Ramsar sites, national protected areas and Important Bird Areas, however this does not ensure this species protection as the resources and capacity to manage these areas are quite limited (Dodman, 2013). Yet, the conservation of Shoebills can highly benefit local populations, both through the maintenance of habitat integrity and fish stocks, and through the promotion of ecotourism and generation of alternative income sources for locals, as highlighted by the Shoebill Single Species Action Plan (Dodman, 2013). This action plan also underlines the significant knowledge gaps about Shoebill population sizes, breeding ecology, foraging requirements and movement behaviour. Consequently, our work in understanding Shoebill movements throughout the year, particularly the geographic range of movement, was a fundamental first step to identify the spatial extent necessary to successfully preserve this emblematic species.

General conclusion

## The determinants of movement

Bird movement can be driven and influenced by environmental conditions individuals experience: changes in temperature can drive the start of migratory movements (Burnside et al., 2021) and wind direction may shape the migratory routes of species (Kranstauber et al., 2015). Our results in Chapter 3 go in line with previous findings, showing that the movement of wetland specialists is influenced by changes in surface water (Henry et al., 2016; Kleyheeg et al., 2017). In Chapter 4, we provided evidence that weather conditions influence the movement direction, energy expenditure and migration destination of soaring birds (Amélineau et al., 2014; Vansteelant et al., 2015, 2017), but more importantly, we show that the timing of migration is the main determinant of these weather conditions. As bird species are shifting the migration phenology as a response to global climate change (Gordo, 2007), our results show that advancing or delaying the timing of migration may determine bird's energy expenditure on migration and their wintering destination, both of which with important consequences for individual survival (Buechley et al., 2021; Loonstra et al., 2019; Rotics et al., 2016).

## Changes in movement behaviour during ontogeny

For long-lived birds, the developmental period, before birds become breeding adults, can be rather long. During this period, immatures and adults may have different habitat requirements (Grecian et al., 2018, Chapter 3) and different migratory (Sergio et al., 2014) and flight performances (e.g., White Storks from northern European populations, Rotics et al., 2016). Surprisingly, we could not find differences in flight energy expenditure between adults and first year juveniles in the Portuguese White Stork population, which shows the importance of studying several populations under different conditions and with distinct migratory strategies.

Recent studies have also concluded that plasticity in behaviour in early life can be an important mechanism that enables bird species to change migratory phenology or routes (Gill et al., 2014; Verhoeven et al., 2018, 2021). A recent study with White Storks confirm these findings, showing that the loss of migration in this species is likely driven by developmental plasticity, not genetics or flexibility in adult migratory behaviour (Andrade et al., submit.). In Chapter 5, we showed that this plasticity in migratory behaviour may be driven by individual experience: birds with worse migratory performance and flight efficiency were more likely to change migratory strategy, decreasing migration distance and becoming residents. Our results revealed that individual experiences during the developmental period may act as a mechanism enabling species to adapt to environmental change. Nevertheless, further studies are necessary to elucidate if these processes may be similar for other long-lived species.

# 6.3. Future studies and implications

## Integrating GPS movement data and environmental conditions

Identifying the environmental drivers of movements is fundamental to anticipate the influence of environmental change on movement patterns and behaviour (Shaw, 2016). Remotely sensed data is particularly important for species that inhabit remote and difficult to access locations, however, field validations of these data sources are required and are often missing (e.g., NDWI in Chapter 3).

Moreover, the scale mismatch between the GPS tracking data and environmental data must be acknowledged (Katzner & Arlettaz, 2020). Notwithstanding the importance of

removing outlier positions to improve the accuracy of animal positions (Chapter 2), GPS devices are usually accurate to a spatial scale of only a few meters and at the temporal scale of a second. This accuracy by far exceeds the highest resolution of present land cover or weather data: Sentinel-2 land cover data has 10 meters spatial resolution is only available every 5-day, and ECWMF weather data is available at 1-h temporal resolution but at 30km spatial resolution. Animal-borne sensors can tackle this issue, as they can sample environmental conditions the animals are experiencing (Wilmers et al., 2015). This technology has been widely used in oceanic environments and data has now been compiled in the Animal Borne Ocean Sensors network (AniBOS). Marine animals, such as seals and sharks, can be equipped with biological and physical sensors and collect environmental, biological, and hydrographic conditions in a wider range of areas and at different depths than the static network of sensors (McMahon et al., 2021). Extending these tools to the terrestrial environment will allow a higher resolution weather information in areas of the globe where there are few weather stations with which to validate the weather forecast models (e.g., Sahara Desert).

## Non-environmental determinants of movement

The movement of birds may be driven by factors other than the environmental conditions that surround them. For example, studies have analysed the movement of birds in relation to human disturbance, by quantifying the distance of the animal to human settlements (Chevallier et al., 2010) or to sanctuaries and areas of high hunting pressure (McDuie et al., 2021). For species that perform small-scale movements in areas inhabited by humans (such as the Shoebills in the Bangweulu Wetlands), it is harder to remotely quantify the influence of human disturbance on the movement of birds, and field work should be performed.

General conclusion

Disentangling the influence of sociality and environmental variables on the movement behaviour of migratory birds is also a tricky task, and it has been accomplished mostly for species in which it is possible to know how many younger and older individuals were in the same flock (Teitelbaum et al., 2016). For the White Stork, this is nearly impossible to do, since there are thousands of individuals migrating throughout Europe and Africa every year. In some instances, GPS-tracked individuals may travel together, which makes it possible to compare individuals within the same flock (e.g., Flack et al., 2018), but these are generally short periods in time and space and not throughout the whole migratory route. Using more advanced modelling tools, such as novel step selection functions that explicitly integrate energy and weather landscapes (e.g., Eisaguirre et al., 2020) may help to understand if birds select routes with highest weather assistance (e.g., tailwinds and thermals), or if they are following a particular route possibly defined by older individuals flying in the same flock.

## Fitness and survival consequences

Identifying the fitness and survival consequences of different movement strategies is fundamental to understand how these may influence population dynamics. GPS-tracking data is extremely useful to understand when and where mortality occurs during the bird's annual cycle (Buechley et al., 2021; Strandberg et al., 2010), however many GPS-tracking devices still lack the reliability to accurately assess mortality.

In Chapter 4, we quantified the energy expenditure of storks to assess the fitness consequences of travelling at different times of the migration season. Nevertheless, and due to difficulty in assigning a fate to the individuals whose transmitter stopped with no confirmation of mortality (or in areas without GSM coverage), we only used data from storks that were successful on their journeys. Moreover, as it was not possible to assess the cause

General conclusion

of disappearance for most of the storks wintering in different parts of the Sahel, we could not evaluate the mortality rates associated with timing of migration or wintering area. Improving the reliability of GPS-GSM tracking devices or using more expensive satellite transmitters, is one way of tackling this issue in future studies. Additionally, by using more sophisticated modelling techniques, such as Bayesian frameworks, it would be possible to include the uncertainty in the classification of bird fate in the models (e.g., Buechley et al., 2021), and assess how the timing of migration (Chapter 4), overall changes in autumn migration phenology, or even the drastic shifts in migratory strategy (Chapter 5) influence individual survival and White Stork population dynamics.

## Understanding how long-lived birds adapt to environmental change

Life-long tracking of birds is critical to understand individual interactions with their environments and adaptation mechanisms to environmental change. From long-term tracking of individuals, it is possible to discern different responses to environmental conditions as individuals mature (Chapter 3), changes in migratory performance and behaviour (Chapter 4 – 5) and even that early life experiences may determine adult movement strategies (Chapter 5). However, to study individuals for such long periods, it is necessary to increase the longevity of tracking devices or, as an alternative, to be able to replace old devices with new ones. Tracking birds from their first year of age proved to be an even tougher challenge, due to the low survival rates of first-year juveniles. Targeting and deploying tracking devices on immatures, with have higher survival probability, would surely maximize the number of GPS-tracked years per individual, increasing the overall sample size to unravel the mechanisms that lead to changes in movement behaviour during the developmental stage.

The White Stork is an excellent case study to understand how species adapt to changes in the environment. Adults can live for up to 39 years (EURING) and this species is currently losing its migratory behaviour as a response to the high food availability and climate change in the breeding range (Catry et al., 2017). There is now considerable evidence that juvenile storks from the Portuguese population migrate to Africa during their first year of life (Chapter 5), yet adult storks exhibit several migratory phenotypes (long- and short-distance migrants, dispersive- and local residents, Figure 6.1). Thus, by continuing to study the movements of White Storks as they age, we can compare the different migratory strategies (e.g., Brown et al., 2021) and understand how changes in migratory behaviour emerge (Chapter 5).



**Figure 6.1 – Different migratory phenotypes of adult White Storks from the Portuguese population.** A) local resident, B) dispersive resident, C) short-distance migrant and D) long-distance migrant. Each map shows 2 GPS-tracking years of 4 different adult White Storks.

General conclusion

Understanding how species adapt their migratory behaviour is particularly relevant now, as critical changes in the environment are occurring. High food availability in landfills has drastically changed the movement and migratory behaviour of White Storks (Gilbert et al., 2016) and many other landfill-reliant species (e.g., Lesser Black-backed Gulls *Larus fuscus* Sotillo et al., 2022), but this resource will soon disappear. Recent changes in European Directives dictate that in 8 years' time (by 2030), only 10% of human waste should be deposited on open air landfills (European Union, 2018). It is unclear what will happen to landfill-reliant species during this period of adaptation and after landfill closure, particularly White Storks, that have lost their original migratory behaviour.

Adult White Storks studied between 2016 and 2021 seemed to be highly consistent in their migratory strategy (Andrade et al., submit., Chapter 4), however, during the years of this study, the food availability in the breeding grounds remained unchanged. After landfill closure, and subsequent drastic decrease in food availability, we may find that adults still maintain some phenotypic flexibility and resume their original migratory behaviour. On the other hand, even if most adults remain consistent in their migratory strategies, immatures may again be the driver of populational changes in migratory behaviour, with better performing immatures migrating to areas of higher food availability in Africa and increasing their survival likelihoods when compared to poorer performant juveniles that remain in Iberia.

In all cases, after landfill closure it is likely that White Storks will shift their foraging strategies, increase their use of agricultural lands (Langley et al., 2021; Zorrozua et al., 2020) and become reliant on the invasive crayfish on rice fields to survive the winter. This will probably increase human-wildlife conflicts, as storks are already seen as pests by farmers, particularly on rice fields. On the other hand, landfills and rubbish dumps in Morocco will not be affected by the European laws, therefore this resource will still be available for birds. Notwithstanding, after landfill closure , White Stork breeding success may decrease

(Steigerwald et al., 2015) and we might witness a decrease in population size in European storks. Thus, to avoid local collapse of populations, regional governments and non-governmental organizations could provide supplementary feeding resources for storks, as recently seen in Madrid after landfill closure (GREFA, 2021). Reducing food waste and having more effective waste treatment options is enormously important for human food security and public health, however we will need to closely monitor the populations of birds and other animals that have become reliant on this abundant food supply to understand how these drastic changes will impact their populations.

Overall, this thesis provided evidence on the importance of environmental conditions and individual traits to determine bird movement. Hopefully, this research will stimulate researchers to further investigate and disentangle the influence of weather and other environmental conditions, individual experience, social learning, and genetics on species adaptation to ongoing environmental change.

## References

- Amélineau, F., Péron, C., Lescroël, A., Authier, M., Provost, P., & Grémillet, D. (2014). Windscape and tortuosity shape the flight costs of northern gannets. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(6), 876–885. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.097915
- Andrade, P., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Afonso, S., Marques, C. I., Moreira, F., Carneiro, M., & Catry, I. (submit.). Developmental plasticity drives the loss of migratory behaviour in a long-lived bird.
- Beal, M., Dias, M. P., Phillips, R. A., Oppel, S., Hazin, C., Pearmain, E. J., Adams, J., Anderson, D. J.,
  Antolos, M., Arata, J. A., Arcos, J. M., Arnould, J. P. Y., Awkerman, J., Bell, E., Bell, M., Carey, M.,
  Carle, R., Clay, T. A., Cleeland, J., ... Catry, P. (2021). Global political responsibility for the
  conservation of albatrosses and large petrels. *Science Advances*, 7(10).
  https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abd7225
- Beal, M., Oppel, S., Handley, J., Pearmain, E. J., Morera-Pujol, V., Carneiro, A. P. B., Davies, T. E.,
  Phillips, R. A., Taylor, P. R., Miller, M. G. R., Franco, A. M. A., Catry, I., Patrício, A. R., Regalla, A.,
  Staniland, I., Boyd, C., Catry, P., & Dias, M. P. (2021). track2KBA: An R package for identifying
  important sites for biodiversity from tracking data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *12*(12),
  2372–2378. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13713
- Brown, J. M., van Loon, E. E., Bouten, W., Camphuysen, K. C. J., Lens, L., Müller, W., Thaxter, C. B., & Shamoun-Baranes, J. (2021). Long-distance migrants vary migratory behaviour as much as short-distance migrants: An individual-level comparison from a seabird species with diverse migration strategies. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(5), 1058–1070. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13431
- Buechley, E. R., Oppel, S., Efrat, R., Phipps, W. L., Carbonell Alanís, I., Álvarez, E., Andreotti, A.,
  Arkumarev, V., Berger-Tal, O., Bermejo Bermejo, A., Bounas, A., Ceccolini, G., Cenerini, A.,
  Dobrev, V., Duriez, O., García, J., García-Ripollés, C., Galán, M., Gil, A., ... Marra, P. P. (2021).
  Differential survival throughout the full annual cycle of a migratory bird presents a life-history
  trade-off. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(5), 1228–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13449
- Burnside, R. J., Salliss, D., Collar, N. J., & Dolman, P. M. (2021). Birds use individually consistent temperature cues to time their migration departure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(28). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2026378118
- Catry, I., Encarnação, V., Pacheco, C., Catry, T., Tenreiro, P., Silva, L. P. da, Leão, F., Bally, F., Roda, S., Lopes, S., Capela, C., Alonso, H., Saldanha, S., Urbano, O., Saraiva, J., Encarnação, P., Sequeira, N., Mendes, M., Monteiro, P., ... Moreira, F. (2017). Recent changes on migratory behaviour of

General conclusion

the White stork (Ciconia ciconia) in Portugal: Towards the end of migration? *Airo*, *24*(January), 28–35.

- Chevallier, D., Le Maho, Y., Baillon, F., Duponnois, R., Dieulin, C., Brossault, P., De Franclieu, P., Lorge,
  P., Aurouet, A., & Massemin, S. (2010). Human activity and the drying up of rivers determine abundance and spatial distribution of Black Storks Ciconia nigra on their wintering grounds. *Bird Study*, *57*(3), 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1080/00063651003678467
- Choi, C. Y., Peng, H. B., He, P., Ren, X. T., Zhang, S., Jackson, M. V., Gan, X., Chen, Y., Jia, Y., Christie, M., Flaherty, T., Leung, K. S. K., Yu, C., Murray, N. J., Piersma, T., Fuller, R. A., & Ma, Z. (2019).
  Where to draw the line? Using movement data to inform protected area design and conserve mobile species. *Biological Conservation*, *234*(March), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.03.025
- Dodman, T. (2013). International single species plan for the conservation of the Shoebill Balaeniceps rex.
- Eisaguirre, J. M., Booms, T. L., Barger, C. P., Lewis, S. B., & Breed, G. A. (2020). Novel step selection analyses on energy landscapes reveal how linear features alter migrations of soaring birds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *89*(11), 2567–2583. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13335

EURING. EURING Longevity list. https://euring.org/data-and-codes/longevity-list

- European Union. (2018). Directive 2018/851 amending Directive 2008/98/EC on waste Framework. Official Journal of the European Union, 1907, L-150/109-140.
- Flack, A., Nagy, M., Fiedler, W., Couzin, I. D., & Wikelski, M. (2018). From local collective behaviour to global migratory patterns in white storks. *Science*, 360, 911–914.
- Fraser, K. C., Davies, K. T. A., Davy, C. M., Ford, A. T., Flockhart, D. T. T., & Martins, E. G. (2018). Tracking the conservation promise of movement ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(OCT), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2018.00150
- Gilbert, N. I., Correia, R. A., Silva, J. P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P. W., Gill, J. A., & Franco, A. M.
  A. (2016). Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. *Movement Ecology*, 4(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0
- Gill, J. A., Alves, J. A., Sutherland, W. J., Appleton, G. F., Potts, P. M., & Gunnarsson, T. G. (2014). Why is timing of bird migration advancing when individuals are not? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1774), 20132161. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2161
- Gordo, O. (2007). Why are bird migration dates shifting? A review of weather and climate effects on avian migratory phenology. *Climate Research*, *35*(1–2), 37–58. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00713

General conclusion

- Grecian, J. W., Lane, J. V., Michelot, T., Wade, H. M., & Hamer, K. C. (2018). Understanding the ontogeny of foraging behaviour: Insights from combining marine predator bio-logging with satellite-derived oceanography in hidden Markov models. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 15(143). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2018.0084
- GREFA. (2021). Seguimos trabajando para que el cierre del vertedero de Alcalá no afecte a las cigüeñas. grefa.org/noticias/45-departamentos/hospital-de-grefa/liberaciones/3823-seguimostrabajando-para-que-el-cierre-del-vertedero-de-alcalá-no-afecte-a-las-cigüeñas
- Henry, D. A. W., Ament, J. M., & Cumming, G. S. (2016). Exploring the environmental drivers of waterfowl movement in arid landscapes using first-passage time analysis. *Movement Ecology*, 4(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0073-x
- Junk, W. J. (2002). Long-term environmental trends and the future of tropical wetlands. *Environmental Conservation*, 29(4), 414–435. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892902000310
- Katzner, T. E., & Arlettaz, R. (2020). Evaluating contributions of recent tracking-based animal movement ecology to conservation management. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00519
- Kays, R., Davidson, S. C., Berger, M., Bohrer, G., Fiedler, W., Flack, A., Hirt, J., Hahn, C., Gauggel, D.,
  Russell, B., Kölzsch, A., Lohr, A., Partecke, J., Quetting, M., Safi, K., Scharf, A., Schneider, G.,
  Lang, I., Schaeuffelhut, F., ... Wikelski, M. (2021). The Movebank system for studying global
  animal movement and demography. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2021(October), 1–13.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13767
- Kingsford, R. T., Basset, A., & Jackson, L. (2016). Wetlands : conservation's poor cousins. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 26, 892–916. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2709
- Kleyheeg, E., Dijk, J. G. B. Van, Tsopoglou-Gkina, D., Woud, T. Y., Boonstra, D. K., Nolet, B. A., & Soons,
  M. B. (2017). Movement patterns of a keystone waterbird species are highly predictable from landscape configuration. *Movement Ecology*, 5(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0092-7
- Kranstauber, B., Weinzierl, R., Wikelski, M., & Safi, K. (2015). Global aerial flyways allow efficient travelling. *Ecology Letters*, 18(12), 1338–1345. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12528
- Langley, L. P., Bearhop, S., Burton, N. H. K., Banks, A. N., Frayling, T., Thaxter, C. B., Clewley, G. D., Scragg, E., & Votier, S. C. (2021). *GPS tracking reveals landfill closures induce higher foraging effort and habitat switching in gulls*. 1–13.
- Loonstra, A. H. J., Verhoeven, M. A., Senner, N. R., Both, C., & Piersma, T. (2019). Adverse wind conditions during northward Sahara crossings increase the in-flight mortality of Black-tailed

Godwits. Ecology Letters, 22(12), 2060–2066. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13387

- McDuie, F., Lorenz, A. A., Klinger, R. C., Overton, C. T., Feldheim, C. L., Ackerman, J. T., & Casazza, M.
   L. (2021). Informing wetland management with waterfowl movement and sanctuary use responses to human-induced disturbance. *Journal of Environmental Management, 297*(July), 113170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113170
- McMahon, C. R., Roquet, F., Baudel, S., Belbeoch, M., Bestley, S., Blight, C., Boehme, L., Carse, F., Costa, D. P., Fedak, M. A., Guinet, C., Harcourt, R., Heslop, E., Hindell, M. A., Hoenner, X., Holland, K., Holland, M., Jaine, F. R. A., Jeanniard du Dot, T., ... Woodward, B. (2021). Animal Borne Ocean Sensors AniBOS An Essential Component of the Global Ocean Observing System. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *8*(November), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.751840
- Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015a). Parental nesting behavior, chick growth and breeding success of Shoebills (Balaeniceps rex) in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. *Waterbirds*, *38*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.038.0102 BioOne
- Mullers, R. H. E., & Amar, A. (2015b). Shoebill Balaeniceps rex foraging behaviour in the Bangweulu Wetlands, Zambia. *Ostritch: Journal of African Ornithology, 86*(1–2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2014.977364
- Ng'onga, M., Kalaba, F. K., Mwitwa, J., & Nyimbiri, B. (2019). The interactive effects of rainfall, temperature and water level on fish yield in Lake Bangweulu fishery , Zambia. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *84*, 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.06.001
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y. S., Turjeman, S. F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M., & Nathan, R. (2016). The challenges of the first migration: movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult white storks with insights regarding juvenile mortality. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *85*, 938–947. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12525
- Roxburgh, L., & Buchanan, G. M. (2010). Revising estimates of the Shoebill (Balaeniceps rex) population size in the Bangweulu Swamp, Zambia, through a combination of aerial surveys and habitat suitability modelling. *Ostrich: Journal of African Ornithology*, *81*(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2010.455815
- Schneider, C., Flörke, M., Stefano, L. De, & Petersen-Perlman, J. D. (2017). Hydrological threats to riparian wetlands of international importance a global quantitative and qualitative analysis.
   *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, *21*, 2799–2815. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-2799-2017
- Sergio, F., Tanferna, A., Stephanis, R. De, Jimenez, L. L., Blas, J., Tavecchia, G., Preatoni, D., & Hiraldo,F. (2014). Individual improvements and selective mortality shape lifelong migratory

General conclusion

performance. Nature, 515, 410-413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13696

- Shaw, A. K. (2016). Drivers of animal migration and implications in changing environments. Evolutionary Ecology, 30(6), 991–1007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10682-016-9860-5
- Sotillo, A., Baert, J. M., Müller, W., Stienen, E. W. M., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Soares, A. M. V. M., & Lens, L. (2022). Weather- and human-related shifts in feeding conditions promote the use of built-up areas by an avian opportunist. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *217* (September 2020), 104268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104268
- Steigerwald, E. C., Igual, J. M., Payo-Payo, A., & Tavecchia, G. (2015). Effects of decreased anthropogenic food availability on an opportunistic gull: Evidence for a size-mediated response in breeding females. *Ibis*, 157(3), 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12252
- Strandberg, R., Klaassen, R. H. G., Hake, M., & Alerstam, T. (2010). How hazardous is the Sahara Desert crossing for migratory birds? Indications from satellite tracking of raptors. *Biology Letters*, 6(3), 297–300. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0785
- Teitelbaum, C. S., Converse, S. J., Fagan, W. F., Böhning-Gaese, K., O'Hara, R. B., Lacy, A. E., & Mueller,
  T. (2016). Experience drives innovation of new migration patterns of whooping cranes in
  response to global change. *Nature Communications*, 7, 1–7.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12793
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Bouten, W., Klaassen, R. H. G., Koks, B. J., Schlaich, A. E., Diermen, J. van, Loon,
  E. E. van, & Shamoun-Baranes, J. (2015). Regional and seasonal flight speeds of soaring migrants and the role of weather conditions at hourly and daily scales. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 46, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00457
- Vansteelant, W. M. G., Kekkonen, J., & Byholm, P. (2017). Wind conditions and geography shape the first outbound migration of juvenile honey buzzards and their distribution across sub-Saharan Africa. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 284(1855), 20170387. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0387
- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Masero, J. A., Piersma, T., & Senner, N. R. (2018). Generational shift in spring staging site use by a long-distance migratory bird. *Biology Letters*, 14(2), 2009–2012. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2017.0663
- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. H. J., McBride, A. D., Kaspersma, W., Hooijmeijer, J. C. E. W., Both, C., Senner, N. R., & Piersma, T. (2021). Age-dependent timing and routes demonstrate developmental plasticity in a long-distance migratory bird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13641
- Wang, X., Cao, L., Fox, A. D., Fuller, R., Griffin, L., Mitchell, C., Zhao, Y., Moon, O.-K., Cabot, D., Xu, Z., Batbayar, N., Kölzsch, A., Jeugd, H. P. Van Der, Madsen, J., Chen, L., & Nathan, R. (2019).

Stochastic simulations reveal few green wave surfing populations among spring migrating herbivorous waterfowl. *Nature Communications*, *10*, 2187. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09971-8

- Wikelski, M., Davidson, S. C., & Kays, R. (2020). *Movebank: Archive, analysis and sharing of animal movement data.* www.movebank.org
- Wilmers, C. C., Nickel, B., Bryce, C. M., Smith, J. A., Wheat, R. E., Yovovich, V., & Hebblewhite, M.
  (2015). The golden age of bio-logging: How animal-borne sensors are advancing the frontiers of ecology. *Ecology*, *96*(7), 1741–1753. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1401.1
- Zorrozua, N., Aldalur, A., Herrero, A., Diaz, B., Delgado, S., Sanpera, C., Jover, L., & Arizaga, J. (2020). Breeding Yellow-legged Gulls increase consumption of terrestrial prey after landfill closure. *Ibis*, *162*(1), 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12701

– Appendix 1 –

# Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data

Publication

Soriano-Redondo, A., Acácio, M., Franco, A. M. A., Herlander Martins, B., Moreira, F., Rogerson, K., & Catry, I. (2020). Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data. *Ibis*, 162(2), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12809

doi: 10.1111/ibi.12809

# Short communication

# Testing alternative methods for estimation of bird migration phenology from GPS tracking data

ANDREA SORIANO-REDONDO<sup>1,2</sup>\* MARTA ACÁCIO,3 ALDINA M. A. FRANCO,3 BRUNO HERLANDER MARTINS.<sup>1,2</sup> FRANCISCO MOREIRA<sup>1,4</sup> KATHARINE ROGERSON<sup>3</sup> & INÊS CATRY<sup>1,2,3</sup> <sup>1</sup>CIBIO/InBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado. Universidade do Porto. 4485-661 Vairão. Portugal <sup>2</sup>CIBIO/InBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade de Lisboa, 1349-017 Lisbon, Portugal <sup>3</sup>School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, NR4 7TJ Norwich, UK <sup>4</sup>REN Biodiversity Chair, CIBIO/InBIO-UP, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, Rua Padre Armando Quintas,4485-60 Vairão, Portugal

The development and miniaturization of GPS tracking devices has enabled a better understanding of migration phenology, but it can be challenging to identify where and when migration starts and ends, and researchers rely on multiple methods to infer it. Here, we use GPS tracks of 18 trans-Saharan migrant White Storks Ciconia ciconia to determine how the choice of method influences the estimation of migratory timing and discuss its implications. We evaluate and provide R code for the implementation of five alternative methods: spatial threshold, absolute displacement, spatio-temporal displacement, net squared displacement and change point analysis. Spatial threshold, absolute displacement and spatio-temporal displacement methods produce, in most cases, significantly different estimates of migration timing and duration as compared with net squared displacement and change point analysis.

**Keywords:** biologging, birds, GPS, GSM loggers, migration phenology, migratory timing.

\*Corresponding author.

Email: asorianoredondo@outlook.com

Twitter: @SorianoRedondo

Migration phenology, the timing of seasonal movements between breeding and non-breeding areas, is of paramount importance for many biological processes and has been linked to bird population declines (Møller et al. 2008, Both et al. 2010, Newson et al. 2016). Migration timing has been used to assess the impacts of weather conditions, climate change or anthropogenic food subsidies on individuals and populations (Vansteelant et al. 2015, Flack et al. 2016, Usui et al. 2017). For example, arrival dates of some bird species to the breeding grounds are advancing in response to climate change, which has been shown to have fitness consequences, with birds failing to raise their offspring at the peak of food abundance (Both et al. 2006) or facing increased interspecific competition for nesting sites (Ahola et al. 2007). However, estimating the timing and duration of migration is challenging and the impact of choosing alternative methodological approaches remains largely unknown.

The study of migration phenology has long relied on the observation or capture of the first arriving or last departing birds from the breeding or wintering grounds (Lukas & Marc 2003, Shamoun-Baranes et al., 2006). In the last few decades, the development and miniaturization of tracking devices has allowed scientists to infer arrival and departure times at the individual level and at greater spatial resolution. GPS devices, in particular, can provide very detailed information on movement and behaviour during individuals' annual cycles. GPS data have revealed fitness advantages of earlier migration onset (Rotics et al. 2016), costs of early departure from the wintering grounds (Rotics et al. 2018), effects of weather conditions on migration timing (Vansteelant et al. 2015, 2017, Illan et al. 2017), and the relationship between start of migration and migratory route (Hewson et al. 2016).

Such detailed movement data also present new analytical challenges. Several methods have been used to determine the timing of migration using GPS data (examples in Table S1 of Appendix S1). To establish the transitions between non-migratory and migratory behaviours, and thus the start, end and duration of migration, researchers use a range of methods of varying complexity. These methods can be broadly classified into five: spatial threshold (S), absolute displacement (AD), spatio-temporal displacement (SD), net squared displacement (NSD) and change point analysis (CPA).

The simplest one is the S method, in which birds reach or leave the breeding or wintering grounds after crossing Y latitude or boundary (López-López *et al.* 2010, Hewson *et al.* 2016, Illan *et al.* 2017, King *et al.* 2017, Monti *et al.* 2018). The AD method, which may incorporate a spatial threshold as well, sets the start of migration as the first day at which daily displacement (i.e. distance between roosting sites) reaches or exceeds

a specific threshold distance, and the end of migration as the last day that daily displacement reaches that distance (Oppel *et al.* 2015, Flack *et al.* 2016, Burnside *et al.* 2017). Rotics *et al.* (2016) combined the AD and S methods by setting the start of autumn migration journeys for White Storks *Ciconia ciconia* breeding in Germany as the bird's first flight day (>100 km displacement) southwards (AD method) and the end of autumn migration as the day birds crossed 17.5°N southwards (S method).

The SD method includes both spatial and displacement thresholds, as well as a temporal threshold. Thus, migration starts on the first day of T days where daily displacement is >X that leads to the crossing of the Y spatial threshold, and finishes on the first day after T days where daily displacement is <X, after crossing the Y spatial threshold (Rodríguez-Ruiz et al. 2014, Vansteelant et al. 2015, 2017, Rotics et al. 2018). For example, Vansteelant et al. (2017) studied the migratory journeys of European Honey Buzzards Pernis apivorus breeding in the Netherlands and determined that migration started on the first day after the last period of three or more consecutive stationary days in the breeding range (> 51°N) and finished on the first day after the first period of three or more consecutive stationary days in the non-breeding range (<10°N).

The NSD method has been widely used for mammals but also in some bird studies (Singh *et al.* 2016, Buechley *et al.* 2018). To determine the start and end of migration, NSD calculates the square of the straightline distance between the track starting location and each subsequent point. It estimates the start or end of migration as a function of the distance between seasonal ranges and the proportion of the total movement distance (see Singh *et al.* 2016 and Spitz *et al.* 2017 for a detailed explanation).

Variations of CPA methods have been used to determine migration phenology in MacQueen's Bustards *Chlamydotis macqueenii* and Montagu's Harriers *Circus pygargus* (Limiñana *et al.* 2007, Madon & Hingrat 2014). CPA methods segment the tracks in time series based on abrupt changes in behaviour. These breakpoints can be estimated using regressions or change point algorithms (see Madon & Hingrat 2014 for a detailed explanation and R scripts).

In this study, we use these five techniques to determine the start, end and duration of migration. We compare the results obtained by the five methods and quantify the differences between methods at an individual level. Moreover, we also test whether the method of choice could influence estimates of migratory timing at a population level. To do so, we use a dataset of juvenile and adult White Storks tagged with GPS/GSM transmitters from Portugal to their wintering sites in sub-Saharan Africa and back.

## METHODS

#### **Tagging and tracking White Storks**

For this study we selected GPS tracks of 18 White Storks (five adults in 2017, eight juveniles in 2017 and five juveniles in 2018) breeding in southern Portugal that performed trans-Saharan migrations. Juveniles were first-year birds tagged before fledging and adults were breeding birds (>3 years old). Birds were tagged with GPS/GSM loggers (Movetech Telemetry and Ornitela, both tag fixes have negligible location error). Adult birds were caught at landfill sites using nylon leg nooses and in nests using a remotely activated clap net. Juvenile birds were taken from the nest for tag deployment and returned afterwards. The devices were back-mounted using a Teflon harness (further details in Gilbert *et al.* 2016). The mass of the tags plus the harness was ~90 g, 1.8–3.7% of the birds' body mass. The tags collected GPS positions every ~20 min.

## Spatial threshold method (S)

Sub-Saharan migratory White Storks breeding in Portugal cross three main geographical barriers to reach their wintering grounds: the Mediterranean Sea, the Atlas mountains and the Sahara desert. We therefore established the start of autumn migration as the first day the birds crossed the first barrier, the Mediterranean Sea at the Strait of Gibraltar at 36°N, southwards, and the end of migration was defined as the first day birds crossed the south of the Sahara desert at 18°N, southwards. The start of spring migration was established as the first day birds crossed 18°N northwards and the end was the first day birds crossed 36°N northwards (R code provided in Appendix S2).

## Absolute displacement method (AD)

The start of autumn migration was the first day a bird moved >60 km between consecutive roosting sites that led to the crossing of 36°N southwards. The 60-km threshold was defined as a conservative estimate of daily distance travelled during migration, based on the White Stork dataset. The end of autumn migration was the last day the bird moved >60 km between consecutive roosting sites after crossing 18°N southwards. The start and end of spring migration was set as the first day a bird moved >60 km between roosting sites that led to the crossing of 18°N and 36°N northwards, respectively (R code provided in Appendix S3).

## Spatio-temporal displacement method (SD)

The start of autumn (and spring) migration was the first day a bird moved during three consecutive days >60 km between consecutive roosting sites that led to the crossing of the breeding (or wintering) range boundary (90% kernel probability density). The end of autumn (and spring) migration was the last day the bird moved during three consecutive days >60 km between consecutive roosting sites after crossing the wintering (or breeding) range boundary.

#### Net squared displacement method (NSD)

To determine migratory timing, we first fit several movement models to our tracks using the R package 'MigrateR' (Spitz *et al.* 2017). The start and end of migration was calculated as the date at which the top model predictions (depending on the individual migrant, mix-migrant or disperser) reached  $p \times \delta$  and  $(1 - p) \times \delta$ , respectively, where  $\delta$  represents the distance separating seasonal ranges and p (0.05) is the threshold fraction of total distance moved (Spitz *et al.* 2017) (R code provided in Appendix S5).

#### Change point analysis method (CPA)

We followed Madon and Hingrat (2014) to perform a change point analysis. To determine the transitions between non-migratory and migratory states, we used the Pruned Exact Linear Time algorithm. Next, we manually classified 30% of the track segments into migratory or non-migratory and used a supervised classification tree to classify the remaining 70% (R code provided in Appendix S6).

#### **Statistical analyses**

To quantify the degree to which the methods were consistent when estimating migration phenology for each individual, we calculated the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for the start and end of autumn and spring migration. The ICC varies from 0 to 1, for low to high correlation within each individual. To calculate the ICC, we used the R package 'ICC' (Wolak 2015).

To assess population-level differences among methods, we performed generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs), with start, end and duration of migration as response variables (log-transformed), method as an explanatory variable and individual as a random factor. The date of start and end of migration were included in the models as calendar date (1 January = 1). Next, we performed multiple comparisons using Tukey contrasts to determine which methods provided different estimates of migration phenology.

#### RESULTS

#### **Spatial range of migration**

The start and end of the migratory period varied depending on the threshold method. Using the S method, the location of the migration start and end was delimited by 36°N and 18°N (Fig. 1a and Appendix S2). Using the AD method, departure and arrival locations ranged from the breeding grounds in Portugal to the Strait of Gibraltar (Fig. 1b and Appendix S3). The SD method set the arrival and departure of the breeding grounds in the south of Portugal, and movements between the breeding site and the Gibraltar Strait were classified as migratory (Fig. 1c and Appendix S4). The NSD and CPA methods had the highest spatial variability between individuals in departure and arrival locations from and to the breeding grounds, ranging from the south of Portugal to the south of Morocco (Fig. 1d,e and Appendixes S5 and S6). The location of the start and end of migration in the wintering grounds showed great variability amongst individuals, ranging from 12°N to 18°N when using the AD, SD, NSD or CPA methods (Fig. 1).

#### Timing and duration of migration

The median start of autumn migration ranged from 3 August with the AD method to 10 August with the NSD method (Fig. 2a). Although it showed high consistency among methods (ICC = 0.89), the model estimates differed significantly (P = 0.011) due to differences between the SD and NSD methods (P = 0.003). The end of autumn migration ranged from 22 August with the S method to 4 September with the CPA method (Fig. 2c), and it showed a low consistency (ICC = 0.56) and significant differences among multiple methods (P < 0.001, see Appendix 7 for Tukey contrasts). Spring migration had a similar pattern. The start of the migration ranged from 12 January with the NSD method to 25 January with the S method (Fig. 2b) and it showed high consistency (ICC = 0.92), but still with significant differences (P = 0.019), due to different estimates between the S and NSD methods (P = 0.004). The end of spring migration ranged from 7 February (NSD) to 17 April (SD) (Fig. 2d) and showed low consistency (ICC = 0.55) and significant differences among multiple methods (P < 0.001, see Appendix 7 for Tukey contrasts).

Overall, the S, AD and SD methods yielded similar results (Fig. 3), except for estimates of the duration of autumn migration under the S and SD methods (P < 0.001). The NSD and CPA methods also produced similar estimates (Fig. 3) except, similarly, for the duration of autumn migration (P = 0.03). Nevertheless, these two groups of methods predicted different migratory timings; the estimates of S, AD and SD differed from the estimates of NSD and CPA in most cases (Fig. 3, see Appendix 7 for further details).

#### DISCUSSION

We found substantial differences between methods in the estimation of the start, end and duration of



**Figure 1.** Annual movements of 18 White Storks classified as migratory or non-migratory according to the (a) spatial threshold (S), (b) absolute displacement (AD), (c) spatio-temporal displacement (SD), (d) net squared displacement (NSD) and (e) change point analysis (CPA) methods. Dashed lines represent spatial thresholds (36°N and 18°N) used in the S and AD methods. [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]



Figure 2. Violin plots of the distribution density of the start of (a) autumn and (b) spring migration; end of (c) autumn and (d) spring migration; and duration in days of (e) autumn and (f) spring migration obtained using different methods. Middle, lower and upper hinges of the boxplot correspond to the median, 25th and 75th percentiles, respectively. Whiskers correspond to the 95% confidence intervals. S, spatial threshold method; AD, absolute displacement method; SD, spatio-temporal displacement method; NSD, net squared displacement method; CPA, change point analysis.

migration of juvenile and adult White Storks tracked from their breeding areas in Portugal to their wintering areas in sub-Saharan Africa and back. Both autumn and spring migration are vulnerable to these differences (Figs 2f and 3b), with up to a 12-fold difference in autumn migration duration depending on the method used, from 10 days using the S method to 120 days using the NSD method (Table S3 of Appendix S7). Our study highlights the need to consider carefully the method used to determine migration phenology based on GPS tracking devices and to assess the sensitivity of the data to the method used.

The sensitivity to the method used varied depending on the phenological metric estimated; the start of autumn and spring migrations was more consistently estimated among methods (ICC = 0.89 and 0.92) than the end (ICC = 0.56 and 0.55). Importantly, we found that the NSD and CPA methods were significantly different from the S, AD and SD methods in most estimates. This could be explained by several differences between these two groups of methods: (1) NSD and CPA make minimum *a priori* assumptions, whereas AD and SD require prior assumptions about daily displacement during migration; and (2) NSD and CPA are based only on animal movement, whereas S, AD and SD require ecological knowledge broadly to determine breeding and wintering areas.

Although we do not advocate a one-size-fits-all approach, our results suggest that the low level of ecological knowledge required by the NDS and CPA methods is detrimental to the estimation of the migration phenology of White Storks. The NDS and CPA methods fail to distinguish a realistic threshold in the breeding range, which, in this case, leads to autumn migrations only starting after crossing of the Strait of Gibraltar or spring migrations ending before crossing of the Strait.

The results also show that the S method produced similar estimates to the AD and SD methods, but it does not capture the spatial variability of individual breeding and wintering sites within the species' breeding and wintering ranges. Thus, in the northern hemisphere for species with large wintering or breeding ranges, individuals breeding in the northernmost and wintering in the southernmost areas of their ranges could have their estimated migration period cut short by multiple days.

	ONSET	S	AD	SD	NSD	CPA
	S		2 (3)	4.5 (20)	4.5 (79)	6.5 (64)
	AD	1.5 (4)		3 (17)	4 (77)	5 (64)
	SD	5 (14)	3.5 (13)		4 (70)	5.5 (55)
	NSD	3.5 (31)	3.5 (29)	7 (29)		7 (71)
	СРА	4 (20)	1 (23)	1 (23)	6 (28)	
(t	)					
		S	AD	SD	NSD	CPA
	S		0 (2)	6 (48)	34 (88)	34.5 (87)
	AD	2 (11)		6 (48)	34 (88)	34.5 (87)
	SD	5 (11)	0 (4)		50 (136)	50.5 (112)
	NSD	8 (69)	4 (65)	3.5 (61)		1 (12)
	СРА	4 (12)	1 (5)	1 (2)	2.5 (60)	
(0	:)					
	AUTUM	S	AD	SD	NSD	CPA
	S		2 (13)	12.5 (53)	33 (83)	31.5 (84)
	AD	4 (5)		8.5 (48)	32 (85)	33.5 (86)
	SD	10.5 (29)	6.5 (28)		44.5 (133)	51 (111)
	NSD	4 (110)	4 (106)	10 (99)		3.5 (9)
	СРА	13 (70)	11 (69)	11 (56)	10 (99)	
Median0-45-10>10 days						

(a)

₋∟

**Figure 3.** Median (maximum) difference in number of days of the estimated start and end of (a) autumn and (b) spring migration between methods; and (c) median (maximum) difference in the duration of autumn and spring migrations. S, spatial threshold method; AD, absolute displacement method; SD, spatio-temporal displacement method; NSD, net squared displacement method; CPA, change point analysis. [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

Although the AD and SD methods yielded similar results, SD performed better for individuals that had short stops within the breeding or wintering range before the end of migration. Both methods require the establishment of arbitrary thresholds: spatial, displacement and temporal (SD only). Therefore, we suggest (1) a preliminary exploration of the movement data, to estimate the displacement and temporal thresholds during migration; and (2) to use GPS locations obtained during the breeding and wintering periods to perform kernel density estimates that will identify the breeding and wintering area boundaries and reduce the arbitrariness of spatial thresholds adopted.

We recommend that similar studies, comparing the efficacy of these methods in determining the phenology of migration, should be conducted for other bird species. Our results suggest that expert knowledge is needed to determine appropriate spatial, displacement and temporal thresholds. The choice of method used to determine migration phenology can influence the conclusions, especially if parts of the migratory journey are excluded. This is particularly important for studies that examine the start or end of migration at the individual level, or the importance of weather conditions during migration. In this study, some methods would not enable us to account for the crossing of the Mediterranean Sea at the Strait of Gibraltar, an important geographical barrier for White Storks.

In light of the increasing number of species and individuals that have their migratory journeys recorded using GPS data (see Table S1 of Appendix S1 for examples), a certain degree of standardization of the definition of migration, and the method used to estimate it, is required to obtain consistent estimates across studies. To facilitate comparisons between studies, we think that errors associated with estimates of migration phenology should be considered, particularly in interspecific studies that use tracking data from multiple sources. More importantly, we encourage researchers to make data available in data repositories and to report accurately the methods used. We hope this contribution will raise awareness of the challenges associated with the study of migration phenology using GPS tracking data and help researchers find appropriate methods to analyse their data.

This work was financed by the FEDER Funds through the Operational Competitiveness Factors Program — COMPETE and by National Funds through FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology within the scope of the project 'POCI-01-0145-FEDER-028176', by InBIO (UID/BIA/50027/2013 and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006821) and FCT/MCTES, and by the National Environmental Research Council (NERC), via the EnvEast DTP, and NERC and Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), via the NEXUSS CDT Training in the Smart and Autonomous Observation of the Environment. I.C. was supported by contract 383 DL57/2016/

CP1440/CT0023 from FCT. We thank Carlos Pacheco and everyone who provided field assistance and José Manuel Reyes-González for his advice on the statistical analyses.

#### DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

#### **Data availability statement**

Tracking data are stored in Movebank. R code is available in the Supporting information.

#### REFERENCES

- Ahola, M.P., Laaksonen, T., Eeva, T. & Lehikoinen, E. 2007. Climate change can alter competitive relationships between resident and migratory birds. *J. Anim. Ecol.* **76**: 1045–1052.
- Both, C., Bouwhuis, S., Lessells, C.M. & Visser, M.E. 2006. Climate change and population declines in a long-distance migratory bird. *Nature* 441: 81.
- Both, C., Van Turnhout, C.A.M., Bijlsma, R.G., Siepel, H., Van Strien, A.J. & Foppen, R.P.B. 2010. Avian population consequences of climate change are most severe for longdistance migrants in seasonal habitats. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 277: 1259–1266.
- Buechley, E.R., Oppel, S., Beatty, W.S., Nikolov, S.C., Dobrev, V., Arkumarev, V., Saravia, V., Bougain, C., Bounas, A., Kret, E., Skartsi, T., Aktay, L., Aghababyan, K., Frehner, E. & Şekercioğlu, Ç.H. 2018. Identifying critical migratory bottlenecks and high-use areas for an endangered migratory soaring bird across three continents. J. Avian Biol. 49: e01629.
- Burnside, R.J., Collar, N.J. & Dolman, P.M. 2017. Comparative migration strategies of wild and captive-bred Asian Houbara *Chlamydotis macqueenii*. *Ibis* 159: 374–389.
- Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Blas, J., Pokrovsky, I., Kaatz, M., Mitropolsky, M., Aghababyan, K., Fakriadis, I., Makrigianni, E., Jerzak, L., Azafzaf, H., Feltrup-Azafzaf, C., Rotics, S., Mokotjomela, T.M., Nathan, R. & Wikelski, M. 2016. Costs of migratory decisions: a comparison across eight White Stork populations. *Sci. Adv.* 2: e1500931.
- Gilbert, N.I., Correia, R.A., Silva, J.P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P.W., Gill, J.A. & Franco, A.M.A. 2016. Are White Storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident White Storks (*Ciconia ciconia*) from a partially migratory population. *Mov. Ecol.* 4: 7.
- Hewson, C.M., Thorup, K., Pearce-Higgins, J.W. & Atkinson, P.W. 2016. Population decline is linked to migration route in the Common Cuckoo. *Nat. Commun.* 7: 12296.
- Illan, J.G., Wang, G., Cunningham, F.L. & King, D.T. 2017. Seasonal effects of wind conditions on migration patterns of soaring American White Pelican. *PLoS ONE* 12: e0186948.
- King, D.T., Wang, G., Yang, Z. & Fischer, J.W. 2017. Advances and environmental conditions of spring migration phenology of American White Pelicans. *Sci. Rep.* 7: 40339.

- Limiñana, R., Soutullo, A. & Urios, V. 2007. Autumn migration of Montagu's Harriers *Circus pygargus* tracked by satellite telemetry. *J. Ornithol.* 148: 517–523.
- López-López, P., Limiñana, R., Mellone, U. & Urios, V. 2010. From the Mediterranean Sea to Madagascar: are there ecological barriers for the long-distance migrant Eleonora's Falcon? *Landscape Ecol.* **25**: 803–813.
- Lukas, J. & Marc, K. 2003. Timing of autumn bird migration under climate change: advances in long-distance migrants, delays in short-distance migrants. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 270: 1467–1471.
- Madon, B. & Hingrat, Y. 2014. Deciphering behavioral changes in animal movement with a 'multiple change point algorithmclassification tree' framework. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 2: 30.
- Møller, A.P., Rubolini, D. & Lehikoinen, E. 2008. Populations of migratory bird species that did not show a phenological response to climate change are declining. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **105**: 16195–16200.
- Monti, F., Grémillet, D., Sforzi, A., Sammuri, G., Dominici, J.M., Bagur, R.T., Navarro, A.M., Fusani, L. & Duriez, O. 2018. Migration and wintering strategies in vulnerable Mediterranean Osprey populations. *Ibis* 160: 554–567.
- Newson, S.E., Moran, N.J., Musgrove, A.J., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Gillings, S., Atkinson, P.W., Miller, R., Grantham, M.J. & Baillie, S.R. 2016. Long-term changes in the migration phenology of UK breeding birds detected by large-scale citizen science recording schemes. *Ibis* 158: 481–495.
- Oppel, S., Dobrev, V., Arkumarev, V., Saravia, V., Bounas, A., Kret, E., Velevski, M., Stoychev, S. & Nikolov, S.C. 2015. High juvenile mortality during migration in a declining population of a long-distance migratory raptor. *Ibis* **157**: 545–557.
- Rodríguez-Ruiz, J., de la Puente, J., Parejo, D., Valera, F., Calero-Torralbo, M.A., Reyes-González, J.M., Zajková, Z., Bermejo, A. & Avilés, J.M. 2014. Disentangling migratory routes and wintering grounds of Iberian Near-Threatened European Rollers *Coracias garrulus*. *PLoS ONE* 9: e115615.
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Resheff, Y.S., Turjeman, S.F., Zurell, D., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Flack, A., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F., Wikelski, M. & Nathan, R. 2016. The challenges of the first migration: movement and behaviour of juvenile vs. adult White Storks with insights regarding juvenile mortality. J. Anim. Ecol. 85: 938–947.
- Rotics, S., Kaatz, M., Turjeman, S., Zurell, D., Wikelski, M., Sapir, N., Eggers, U., Fiedler, W., Jeltsch, F. & Nathan, R. 2018. Early arrival at breeding grounds: causes, costs and a trade-off with overwintering latitude. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 87: 1627–1638.

- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Loon, E.V., Alon, D., Alpert, P., Yom-Tov, Y. & Leshem, Y. 2006. Is there a connection between weather at departure sites, onset of migration and timing of soaring-bird autumn migration in Israel? *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 15: 541–552.
- Singh, N.J., Allen, A.M. & Ericsson, G. 2016. Quantifying migration behaviour using net squared displacement approach: clarifications and caveats. *PLoS ONE* 11: e0149594.
- Spitz, D.B., Hebblewhite, M. & Stephenson, T.R. 2017. 'MigrateR': extending model-driven methods for classifying and quantifying animal movement behavior. *Ecography* 40: 788–799.
- Usui, T., Butchart, S.H.M. & Phillimore, A.B. 2017. Temporal shifts and temperature sensitivity of avian spring migratory phenology: a phylogenetic meta-analysis. J. Anim. Ecol. 86: 250–261.
- Vansteelant, W.M.G., Bouten, W., Klaassen, R.H.G., Koks, B.J., Schlaich, A.E., van Diermen, J., van Loon, E.E. & Shamoun-Baranes, J. 2015. Regional and seasonal flight speeds of soaring migrants and the role of weather conditions at hourly and daily scales. J. Avian Biol. 46: 25– 39.
- Vansteelant, W.M.G., Shamoun-Baranes, J., van Manen, W., van Diermen, J. & Bouten, W. 2017. Seasonal detours by soaring migrants shaped by wind regimes along the East Atlantic Flyway. J. Anim. Ecol. 86: 179–191.
- Wolak, M. 2015. ICC: Facilitating estimation of the intraclass correlation coefficient. Available at: http://github.com/matthe wwolak/ICC (accessed 15 October 2019).

Received 3 August 2019; revision accepted 26 November 2019. Associate Editor: Auriel Fournier.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. List of methodologies used to estimate migration phenology.

- Appendix S2. Spatial threshold method.
- Appendix S3. Absolute displacement method.
- Appendix S4. Spatio-temporal displacement method.
- Appendix S5. Net squared displacement method.
- Appendix S6. Change point analysis method.
- Appendix S7. Comparison among methods.

– Appendix 2 –

# Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird

# Publication

Soriano-Redondo, A., Franco, A. M. A., Acácio, M., Martins, B. H., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2021). Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird. *Science of The Total Environment*, 782, 146843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843

![](_page_210_Picture_1.jpeg)

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Science of the Total Environment

![](_page_210_Picture_4.jpeg)

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

# Flying the extra mile pays-off: Foraging on anthropogenic waste as a time and energy-saving strategy in a generalist bird

![](_page_210_Picture_7.jpeg)

Andrea Soriano-Redondo <sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Aldina M.A. Franco <sup>c</sup>, Marta Acácio <sup>c</sup>, Bruno Herlander Martins <sup>a,b,c</sup>, Francisco Moreira <sup>a,d</sup>, Inês Catry <sup>a,b,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> CIBIO/InBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado, Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, Rua Padre Armando Quintas, 4485-601 Vairão, Portugal

<sup>b</sup> CIBIO/InBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade de Lisboa, 1349-017 Lisbon, Portugal <sup>c</sup> School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, NR4 7TJ Norwich, UK

<sup>d</sup> REN Biodiversity Chair, CIBIO/InBIO-UP, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, Rua Padre Armando Quintas, 4485-601 Vairão, Portugal

#### HIGHLIGHTS

#### GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Foraging on landfill waste is a time- and energy-saving strategy.
- Birds travelled further to exploit waste while breeding, but spent less energy.
- Exploiting waste reduces foraging time and an increase in foraging efficiency.
- Upon landfill closure, storks will have to radically change their behaviour.

![](_page_210_Picture_18.jpeg)

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 January 2021 Received in revised form 25 March 2021 Accepted 25 March 2021 Available online 30 March 2021

Editor: Elena Paoletti

Keywords: Landfill closure Landfill waste Foraging ecology Predictable anthropogenic food subsidies White storks

#### ABSTRACT

Food waste disposal represents a major global source of predictable anthropogenic food subsidies and is exploited by many organisms. However, the energetic cost-benefits of foraging on these food subsidies have remained largely unexplored. Here we investigate the year-round foraging decisions of resident white storks, *Ciconia ciconia*, in Iberia, and assess the energetic and time cost-benefits of foraging on both landfill waste and natural food sources. To do so, we use GPS and acceleration data from 55 individuals tagged in southern Portugal between 2016 and 2019. We find that the probability of attending landfill sites was 60% during the non-breeding season and 44% during the breeding season. Moreover, foraging on landfill waste is a time- and energy-saving strategy; although birds had to travel 20% further to exploit this resource during the breeding period, they spent overall 10% less energy than when foraging on natural prey. We show that this relationship could be mediated by a reduction in foraging time and an increase in foraging efficiency while exploiting landfill waste. Surprisingly, we do not find any evidence that landfill specialists experienced any competitive advantage during landfill exploitation over birds that visit landfills occasionally. These insights are key to predict how species that rely on landfills can be affected by waste reduction initiatives planned by the European Union, and implement the necessary management strategies.

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

\* Corresponding author at: CIBIO/InBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Laboratório Associado, Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, Rua Padre Armando Quintas, 4485-601 Vairão, Portugal.

E-mail address: asorianoredondo@outlook.com (A. Soriano-Redondo).

#### 1. Introduction

Humans produce enormous quantities of food waste; estimates suggest that 30–40% of all food produced is wasted (Parfitt et al., 2010) and deposited in locations where it can be accessible to wildlife. These predictable anthropogenic food subsidies (PAFS), in the form of organic waste on landfills, fisheries discards or crop residuals, generate impacts on animal populations at multiple scales, from the individual to the ecosystem (Oro et al., 2013). Individuals from numerous animal species have modified their movements, activity, geographical range, and home range size in response to PAFS (Gilbert et al., 2016; López-López et al., 2014; Newsome et al., 2015; Patrick et al., 2015; van Donk et al., 2019); which can affect survival and reproduction rates, and subsequently the demography of these populations (Plaza and Lambertucci, 2017).

Landfill sites, in particular, can potentially sustain high densities of scavenging individuals (Oro et al., 2013). The spatial and temporal predictability, accessibility, and nutritional value of anthropogenic food waste can provide abundant food resources for wildlife, and has been shown to be responsible for the demographic explosion of generalist animals (such as foxes, rats and gulls), but also for the sustenance of some endangered species (Plaza and Lambertucci, 2017). Landfill use has been associated with increased body mass in black vultures (Coragyps atratus) (Plaza and Lambertucci, 2018), kelp gull (Larus dominicanus) nestlings (Lenzi et al., 2019), and grizzly bears (Ursus arctos horribilis) (Blanchard, 1987). Landfill use has also been linked to higher reproduction performance; for example, white storks (Ciconia ciconia) had larger clutch sizes (Djerdali et al., 2008), glaucous gulls (Larus hyperboreus) experienced higher fledging rate (Weiser and Powell, 2010), and laughing gull (Leucophaeus atricilla) chick growth and survival was enhanced (Dosch, 1997), compared to conspecifics foraging in more natural landscapes.

According to the optimal foraging theory animals choose to forage in sites that maximize energy intake while minimizing energy and time expenditure (Stephens and Krebs, 1986; Ydenberg et al., 1994). Landfill waste offers large quantities of high-energy food (Patenaude-Monette et al., 2014; van Donk et al., 2019) but is localised in space; hence trade-offs exist between time spent in landfills sites and energetic costs of travelling, especially for central-place foragers during the breeding season (Gilbert et al., 2016). Foraging in landfill sites is likely to exacerbate inter and intraspecific competition (through agonistic interactions and food-robbing), which increases energetic costs, since they attract large numbers of individuals and at high densities (Oro et al., 2013). On the other hand, on natural heterogeneous landscapes, prey is often patchily distributed and intraspecific competition is likely to be low since individuals tend to forage in smaller groups (Catry et al., 2017). These dynamics could lead to the emergence of individual foraging strategies and specialisation, with less competitive individuals avoiding landfill sites. Despite many studies focusing on the fitness benefits for individuals exploiting landfill waste, the energetic cost-benefits of landfill use have not yet been fully quantified.

Use of landfill resources, together with the global increase of temperature due to climate change, has likely facilitated the establishment of non-migratory white stork populations in Iberia (Catry et al., 2017). Resident individuals rely on food waste disposal sites for foraging and no longer complete their annual migrations to and from their sub-Saharan wintering grounds. In two decades the number of resident white storks in Portugal has increased from 1187 individuals (18% of the breeding population) in 1995 to 14,434 (62% of the breeding population) in 2015 (Catry et al., 2017). White storks' use of landfill resources in Iberia has been investigated, and evidence shows that storks nesting close to landfill sites heavily relied on them (Gilbert et al., 2016). Moreover, breeding success for these individuals was higher than for individuals nesting further away (Gilbert, 2015).

While this increasing number of white storks in Iberia is widely attributed to their high adaptability and behavioural plasticity, new EU directives (1999/31/UE and, more recently, 2018/850/UE), regulating waste disposal, can greatly revert this trend. These directives have established new circular economy targets aiming to reduce municipal waste landfilled to 10% in the next decade. Recent evidence shows that landfill closure can lead to a decline on survival, body mass, egg volume and/or clutch size in several gull species (Payo-Payo et al., 2015; Pons and Migot, 1995; Steigerwald et al., 2015) (but see Katzenberger et al., 2019). Therefore, it is crucial to understand foraging decisions, and how animals search for and exploit landfill waste, as opposed to natural prey, to predict how animal populations might respond when food waste is drastically reduced, and to develop appropriate conservation and management strategies.

Here we investigate (i) the foraging decisions of resident white storks feeding on PAFS and natural food sources in Iberia; (ii) the energetic and time cost-benefits of these foraging decisions during the breeding and non-breeding seasons; and (iii) whether birds highly specialised on landfills gain a competitive advantage while exploiting PAFS, by increasing their foraging efficiency and decreasing the foraging time necessary to meet their energetic requirements, over birds that only visit landfills occasionally. These insights will be key to understand the drivers of landfill use and to predict how storks - and to some extent other birds found regularly in large numbers at landfills (e.g. egrets, herons, gulls and some raptors) - may be affected by reductions in PAFS. This understanding is key for a species that has substantially increased in numbers in the last decades due to the exploitation of landfills (Catry et al., 2017), and for which density dependent effects of food depletion are associated with high nestling mortality (Denac, 2006; Zurell et al., 2015).

In this study we examine 4 years of GPS and tri-axial acceleration data from resident white storks in Iberia and determine their behaviour, energy expenditure, foraging decisions, and landfill use. We use structural equation models (SEM) (Lefcheck et al., 2016; Lefcheck, 2016) to understand the relationships among foraging movements, energy expenditure and behaviour. We hypothesize that the choice of food resources (anthropogenic waste or natural prey) will lead to different foraging strategies, for example at landfills sites birds will reduce the time devoted to foraging and increase energy efficiency given the spatiotemporal predictability of organic waste deposition. Moreover, we predict that foraging strategies might differ between the breeding and non-breeding season, as breeding birds will have to return to the nest frequently, so their foraging range will be reduced, and landfill sites might then be outside the range. In this context, fundamental tradeoffs between energetic and nutritional requirements in parental provisioning strategies are expected (Wright et al., 1998). Finally, we predict that landfill specialists will have competitive advantage over birds that only use landfills occasionally.

#### 2. Material and methods

#### 2.1. Bird capture and GPS tracking

Our dataset included GPS data with tri-axial acceleration from 55 resident adult white storks, tagged between 2016 and 2019 in southern Portugal. Resident individuals overwintered in the Iberian Peninsula and did not cross the Strait of Gibraltar. Storks were tagged with 'Flyway 50' GPS/GSM loggers from Movetech Telemetry (4 different models varying slightly in weight) and 'Ornitrack-50' GPS/GSM loggers from Ornitela. Adult birds were caught at multiple landfill sites using nylon leg nooses, and at several breeding colonies using a remotely activated clap net at the nests. Birds were measured and ringed, and the devices were mounted on the back of the birds as backpacks with a Teflon harness. The tag and harness together weighted 60–90 g, which represented 1.5–3.7% of a given bird's body mass at the time of tagging. Most birds were resignted in the days following tag deployment and no abnormal behaviour or adverse effects due to tagging were observed. The procedure was approved by the Instituto da Conservação da

Natureza e Florestas (Portugal). The tags were programmed to record 9 consecutive GPS positions at 1 Hz every 20 min, and concurrently a 9 s tri-axial acceleration burst at 1 Hz. We kept the first GPS position recorded, thus location and acceleration matched. GPS data was visually examined to detect potential outliers, which were subsequently removed, together with the associated acceleration burst. We identified 75 nest locations for the tagged birds across the years after visually inspecting the GPS tracks and visiting the sites. The nests were situated between 1.5 and 40.2 km away from the closest landfill site (mean = 17.3 km).

#### 2.2. Data selection and processing

From each acceleration burst we derived two metrics, ODBA (overall dynamic body acceleration,  $1 \text{ G} = 9.8 \text{ m/s}^2$ ), a proxy of energy expenditure invested in locomotion, and behaviour (Gleiss et al., 2011; Shepard et al., 2008b). ODBA was obtained from tri-axial acceleration bursts by subtracting the smoothing of total acceleration, using a running-mean of 4 s, from the total acceleration, as recommended in Gleiss et al. (2011) and Shepard et al. (2008a, 2008b). To determine the bird behaviour at each burst, we used the tri-axial acceleration data to train random forest machine-learning algorithms (R package 'randomForest' ver. 4.6 (Liaw and Wiener, 2002)). Movetech Telemetry tags and Ornitela tags differ in their sensor characteristics (e.g. position of the sensor and axes orientation) hence we created device specific algorithms. We characterised four behaviours: foraging, resting (including preening), flapping, and soaring flight (including gliding and orographic and thermal soaring). To train the algorithm we manually labelled 250 tri-axial acceleration bursts for each behaviour and tag type; 70% of the data was used for training the algorithm and 30% for testing it. To label the training data we compiled information from several sources: (i) 9 tags that were programmed to continuously record GPS and acceleration data which allowed a detailed understanding of the birds' movements and behaviour, (ii) video recordings of captive white storks that were fitted with the tracking devices, and (iii) from the 9 consecutive GPS locations that allowed to infer birds' speed and movement during the acceleration burst. The random forest model had 96% accuracy for Movetech Telemetry tags data and 97% accuracy for Ornitela tags data. For this study, flapping and soaring flight were aggregated and considered as flying, as both behaviours occurred infrequently, representing only 5.7% of locations.

Landfill sites were determined through visual inspection of satellite images, and in all cases, they were confirmed by visits or contact with local authorities. Each GPS location was classified as either inside or outside a landfill. Subsequently, using the behavioural and GPS data, we created daily foraging strategy metrics for each individual stork. We only included in the analyses days with more than 10 daylight GPS positions and acceleration bursts (median GPS positions per day was 29) and with more than 4 positions classified as 'foraging' to guarantee representative metrics.

We built two different datasets for the subsequent analyses. First, to assess individual and seasonal differences in attendance to landfill sites, we created a 'daily attendance dataset'. In this dataset each day was classified as a 'landfill attendance day' when at least one foraging location occurred on a landfill in the corresponding 24-h period, or as a 'non-landfill attendance day' when no foraging locations occurred on landfills. Second, to understand the foraging movements, behaviour and energy expenditure of feeding on anthropogenic waste or natural prey we built a 'daily foraging strategy dataset' that only included days where birds displayed either one or the other strategy, thus removing days where birds foraged on both waste and natural prey. To do so, we created a variable, 'foraging site' with two levels: 'landfill foraging day', when 70% of the daily foraging positions occurred in landfill sites, and 'non-landfill foraging day', when 70% of the foraging positions for a given day occurred outside landfill sites. We chose this threshold as it ensured birds spent most of the day in one of the two areas, while it minimized the number of days that had to be removed from the dataset to less than 20%.

The activity and energetic trade-offs between foraging on landfills vs natural prey were explored using several metrics: (i) daily distance travelled (km), calculated as the summed distance between consecutive locations for each day; (ii) daily relative flight time, calculated by dividing the number of burst classified as flying by the total of bursts obtained in a day; (iii) mean ODBA (G) as a proxy of daily energy expenditure (Gleiss et al., 2011), calculated as the mean ODBA of the accelerometer bursts obtained in a day; (iv) daily relative foraging time, calculated by dividing the number of burst classified as foraging by the total of burst in a day; and (v) mean foraging ODBA (G), as a proxy for foraging efficiency (lower mean foraging ODBA values indicate higher foraging efficiency), calculated as the daily mean ODBA for the foraging bursts. Daily distance travelled and relative flight time were highly correlated (Pearson correlation = 0.75), which indicates that the metrics

![](_page_212_Figure_8.jpeg)

Fig. 1. Foraging areas of tracked white storks in southern Iberia (Portugal and Spain) between 2016 and 2019 during a) the breeding and b) the non-breeding periods. Stars indicate landfill sites.

were largely insensitive to the number of fixes; we only retained daily distance travelled in further analyses.

To account for the potential effect of season on the foraging site choice (landfill sites or non-landfill sites), we located the nesting site of each individual, and using the GPS data, we defined the beginning of the breeding season as the first three consecutive days that an individual occupied the nest; and the end of the breeding period as last three consecutive days the nest was occupied.

To explore if birds that visited landfill sites more often had a competitive advantage when exploiting this resource, we used the 'daily attendance dataset' to create a landfill specialisation index, from 0 (natural prey specialist; never visits landfill sites) to 1 (waste specialist; only forages on landfill sites), for each individual. We divided the number of days that the bird attended a landfill by the total numbers of days that the bird was tagged.

#### 2.3. Statistical analysis

To understand seasonal variability in foraging site attendance we fitted a generalised linear mixed-effects model (GLMM) with foraging site attendance (landfill or non-landfill) as the response variable and season (breeding or non-breeding) as the explanatory variable, using the glmmPQL function with a binomial structure (R package 'MASS' ver. 7.3 (Ripley et al., 2013)); the model included bird ID nested in tag type (5 levels: 4 types of Movetech tags and 1 type of Ornitela tag) as random effects and an autocorrelation structure of order 1 to account for the potential temporal correlation between consecutive days. Subsequently, to understand the potential constraints of reproduction in the choice of foraging site, we used the data from the breeding season to fit a GLMM with a binomial structure, using the glmer function (R package 'Ime4' ver. 1.1-21 (Bates et al., 2015)). We considered foraging site attendance as the response variable, and included as explanatory variables, distance from the nest site to the closest landfill site, and its quadratic term, to account for potential non-linearity in the relationship; we also included bird ID nested in tag type as random effects. We used the R package 'MASS' when the inclusion of an autocorrelation structure was necessary as 'lme4' does not allow the implementation of GLMMs with that structure.

![](_page_213_Figure_6.jpeg)

Fig. 2. Estimates from GLMMs explaining the probability of white storks attending a landfill during the breeding season as a function of the distance from the nesting site to the closest landfill.

Using the 'daily foraging strategy dataset', we explored the effect of landfill use on time and energy budgets, by implementing 3 linear mixed-effects models (LMM) with daily distance travelled (km), mean ODBA (G), and mean foraging ODBA (G) as response variables and foraging site (landfill or non-landfill), season (breeding or non-breeding), and its interaction, as explanatory variables, using the *lme* function (R package 'nlme' ver. 3.1 (Pinheiro et al., 2017)). The model with daily distance travelled as response variable, included an additional covariate, the number of GPS positions, to account for its the potential effect on the response. We implemented a GLMM with the *glmmPQL* function for relative foraging time with a binomial structure that included foraging site, season, and its interaction as fixed effects as well. All four models included bird ID nested in tag type as random effects and an

#### Table 1

Estimates from LMMs and GLMM explaining (a) total distance travelled, (b) mean overall dynamic body acceleration (mean ODBA), (c) relative foraging time, and (d) mean foraging ODBA. Reference level for season is 'breeding', and for foraging site is 'landfill'.

	Estimate	SE	t	р
(a) Distance travelled				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	20.32	1.50	13.58	< 0.001
Season	-13.90	0.81	-17.15	< 0.001
Foraging site	-5.001	0.71	-7.07	< 0.001
Season:Site	7.65	0.87	8.83	< 0.001
GPS positions	0.23	0.04	6.05	< 0.001
Random effects				
Bird ID   Tag type	4.98			
lag type	0.01			
AR(I)	0.50			
Residual Variance	15.50			
Marginar K	0.08			
Conditional R	0.17			
(b) Mean ODBA				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	0.09	0.01	10.36	< 0.001
Season	-0.02	0.00	-16.24	< 0.001
Foraging site	0.01	0.00	12.57	< 0.001
Season:Site	0.00	0.00	-1.78	0.0755
Random effects	0.01			
Bird ID   Tag type	0.01			
lag type	0.02			
AK(1) Residual variance	0.54			
Marginal R <sup>2</sup>	0.03			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.17			
conditional K	0.40			
(c) Relative foraging time				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	-0.83	0.06	14.08	< 0.001
Season	-0.20	0.03	-5.82	< 0.001
Foraging site	0.33	0.03	11.91	< 0.001
Season:Site	-0.03	0.03	-0.90	0.3694
Random effects	0.25			
Bird ID   Tag type	0.25			
lag type	0.05			
AK(1) Residual variance	0.59			
Marginal P <sup>2</sup>	1.36			
Conditional P <sup>2</sup>	0.01			
Conditional K	0.05			
(d) Foraging ODBA				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	0.17	0.01	15.46	< 0.001
Season	-0.02	0.002	-9.59	< 0.001
Foraging site	0.02	0.002	15.42	< 0.001
Season:Site	-0.02	0.002	-8.71	<0.001
Random effects	0.01			
BITCID   Lag type	0.01			
AP(1)	0.02			
Residual variance	0.52			
Marginal R <sup>2</sup>	0.05			
Conditional P <sup>2</sup>	0.15			
	0.44			

Science of the Total Environment 782 (2021) 146843

autocorrelation structure of order 1. Subsequently, we calculated for each model the coefficient of determination  $R^2$  (Nakagawa et al., 2017).

We explored the relative contribution of individuals' foraging decisions into the overall energy expenditure when using different foraging sites and during different seasons. To do so, we implemented multigroup analysis for piecewise SEM with foraging site and season as grouping variables, using the functions *psem* and *multigroup* (R package 'piecewiseSEM' ver. 2.1 (Lefcheck et al., 2016; Lefcheck, 2016)). The SEM included two sub-models: 1. an LMM with mean ODBA as the response variable, and daily distance travelled, relative foraging time and mean foraging ODBA as explanatory variables; and 2. a GLMM with relative foraging time as the response variable, and mean foraging ODBA as explanatory variables. Both models included random effects and autocorrelation structure as described above. The global structure of the SEM model was well supported according to the global goodness-of-fit: Fisher's C = 0.098 with *p* = 0.952.

To test the role of landfill specialisation on landfill exploitation we selected only days classified as landfill foraging days. We modelled a LMM with mean foraging ODBA and a GLMM with relative foraging time as the response variables, and season and specialisation index as explanatory variables. We used random effects and an autocorrelation structure as previously specified. Normality of the residuals was checked for all LMMs performed.

#### 3. Results

We obtained two datasets of movement and acceleration data; the 'daily attendance dataset' contained data of 12,616 stork-days (median  $\pm$  SE; 162  $\pm$  28 days per individual); and the 'daily foraging strategy dataset' of 10,183 stork-days (136  $\pm$  22 days per individual, see detailed information in Tables S1 and S2). During both the breeding and nonbreeding season foraging occurred in southern Portugal, but during the non-breeding season white storks increased their foraging range towards southern Spain (Fig. 1). All individuals but one foraged both on landfill sites and outside of landfill sites. The probability of attending landfill sites varied with season (estimate = 0.63; SE = 0.07; p < 0.001); it was 60% during the non-breeding season and 44% during the breeding season. Moreover, during the breeding season, the probability of attending a landfill was constrained by the distance from the nest to the closest landfill site (estimate = -0.16; SE = 0.03; p < 0.001) in a linear way (quadratic term was non-significant;  $\chi 2 = 2.882$ ; p = 0.09), with individuals nesting closer to a landfill site foraging there more often (Fig. 2).

![](_page_214_Figure_8.jpeg)

**Fig. 3.** Predicted values and 95% confidence intervals from GLMMs explaining (a) daily distance travelled, (b) mean overall dynamic body acceleration (ODBA), (c) relative foraging time, and (d) mean foraging ODBA of foraging white storks, as a function of season (breeding or non-breeding) and foraging site (landfill or non-landfill).

#### Table 2

Estimates from structural equation models (SEM) explaining the relationship among total distance travelled, mean overall dynamic body acceleration (ODBA), relative foraging time, and mean foraging ODBA. Estimates for (a) the whole model, (b) breeding period outside landfills, (c) non-breeding period outside landfills, (d) breeding period in landfills, and (e) non-breeding period in landfills.

	Predictor	Estimate	SE	р		
(a) Model-wide interactions						
Response						
Mean ODBA	Distance travelled			< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Relative foraging time			< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Foraging ODBA			< 0.001		
Relative foraging time	Foraging ODBA			< 0.001		
(b) Breeding, non-landfill						
Response						
Mean ODBA	Distance travelled	0.0005	0.0000	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Relative foraging time	0.1049	0.0020	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Foraging ODBA	0.3150	0.0091	< 0.001		
Relative foraging time	Foraging ODBA	0.8266	0.2827	0.0035		
(c) Non-breeding, non-lan	dfill					
Response						
Mean ODBA	Distance travelled	0.0005	0.0000	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Relative foraging time	0.1016	0.0020	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Foraging ODBA	0.2536	0.0091	< 0.001		
Relative foraging time	Foraging ODBA	1.6589	0.3157	< 0.001		
(d) Breeding landfill						
Response						
Mean ODBA	Distance travelled	0.0006	0.0000	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Relative foraging time	0.0985	0.0068	< 0.001		
Mean ODBA	Foraging ODBA	0.2218	0.0184	< 0.001		
Relative foraging time	Foraging ODBA	-0.0627	0.5119	0.9026		
(a) Non broading landfil						
(e) Non-Dreeaing, Ianajili Besponse						
Mean ODBA	Distance travelled	0.0004	0.0000	<0.001		
Mean ODBA	Relative foraging time	0.0004	0.0000	<0.001		
Mean ODBA	Foraging ODRA	0.0001	0.0033	< 0.001		
Relative foraging time	Foraging ODBA	-0.7308	02773	0.0085		
iterative isruging time	. stuging obbit	5.7500	0.2775	0.0000		

White storks travelled further during the breeding season to visit landfill sites (estimate  $\pm$  SE; 27.02  $\pm$  0.98 km) than when foraging outside landfill areas (22.01  $\pm$  0.79 km); while during the non-breeding season, storks travelled less overall, and birds that used landfills travelled shorter distances  $(13.11 \pm 0.82 \text{ km})$  than those feeding outside of landfills (15.76  $\pm$  0.80, Table 1, Fig. 3). The results for mean ODBA, relative foraging time and mean foraging ODBA were similar. The three parameters were higher during the breeding season in days that birds foraged outside landfill sites (mean ODBA 0.10  $\pm$  0.01 G; relative foraging time 0.37  $\pm$  0.05; mean foraging ODBA 0.19  $\pm$  0.01 G, Table 1, Fig. 3), and decreased during the non-breeding season and in days that birds foraged in landfill sites, reaching the lowest values when both conditions occurred (mean ODBA 0.07  $\pm$  0.01 G; relative foraging time 0.26  $\pm$  0.05; mean foraging ODBA 0.15  $\pm$  0.01 G, Table 1, Fig. 3). Thus, mean ODBA, relative foraging time, and mean foraging ODBA decreased 34.6%, 30.1%, and 12.4%, respectively, from the days that birds foraged outside landfills during the breeding season to days that birds foraged in landfills during the non-breeding season.

The multigroup analysis for piecewise SEM indicated that mean ODBA increased when white storks had to travel further, when they spent a higher proportion of time foraging, and for storks that presented higher mean foraging ODBA (Table 2). The effect was stronger when foraging occurred outside of landfills during the breeding season (Fig. 4). The relationship between relative foraging time and mean foraging ODBA differed depending on the foraging site (Table 2). When foraging on outside of landfills, an increase on mean foraging ODBA led to a significant increase in relative foraging time; while on landfill sites, an increase on mean foraging ODBA led to slight decrease in foraging time (Fig. 5).

Finally, we did not find any relationship between relative foraging time and landfill specialisation, and between mean foraging ODBA and landfill specialisation when birds foraged on landfill waste (Table 3).

## 4. Discussion

This study unravels some of the mechanisms that determine landfill use in a generalist and opportunistic species. In Iberia, expansion and population growth of white storks is widely attributed to their high adaptability and behavioural plasticity, which allow them to efficiently use opportunities provided by anthropized environments such as landfills (Catry et al., 2017; Elliott et al., 2020). Here, we show that foraging on landfill waste is a time- and energy-efficient strategy for white storks compared to foraging on natural habitats. Remarkably, although storks had to travel further to exploit this resource during the breeding period, they spent overall less energy in terms of locomotion than when foraging on natural prey (Fig. 3). Our results indicate that this could be mediated by a reduction in foraging time and an increase in foraging efficiency (i.e. a decrease in mean foraging ODBA) while exploiting landfill waste (Fig. 3). These findings contrasts with previous evidence from herring gulls (Larus argentatus), which increase energy expenditure 34% when foraging on PAFS compared to natural prey (van Donk et al., 2019). These differences between species are likely to be ascribed to their flight mode; while herring gulls tend to use flapping flight, which is energetically costly, white storks soar, which allow them to fly longer distances to reach landfill sites at a cheaper energetic cost, especially at certain times of day when flight conditions (e.g. uplift) are favorable (Duriez et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, we find that white storks experience constraints during the breeding season and reduce landfill attendance to 44% of days compared to 60% in the non-breeding period. This reduction is mostly a function of distance to nest location, as location white storks nesting further to landfill sites visit them less often than birds nesting closer (Fig. 2). These differences in foraging site preference indicate that the energetic compensation of longer flights, with increased foraging efficiency and decreased foraging time at landfill sites, compensate for longer flights only up to a certain limit, after which it is no longer beneficial to travel further to forage at landfills.

The hindrance imposed by reproduction is reflected on all the parameters that we studied; storks increased distance travelled, energy expenditure, foraging time, and mean foraging ODBA during the breeding season (Fig. 3). These parameters are likely to increase in response to the spatial restrictions that impose returning to the nest frequently and the higher energetic demands derived from raising chicks (Johst et al., 2001). On the contrary, during the non-breeding period, storks are not constrained by nest location and often roost closer to landfill sites, thus reducing daily distances travelled. Moreover, foraging just to meet their own energy demands could be leading to a reduction in foraging time and daily energy expenditure.

Our results show that daily energy expenditure is highly influenced by distance travelled, foraging time and foraging efficiency, with higher energy expenditure with increasing distance travelled and foraging time and decreasing foraging efficiency (Fig. 4). The slopes of these relationships were maintained when foraging at landfill sites and nonlandfill sites, both during the breeding and non-breeding season. However, in all cases the intercept was lower when foraging at landfill sites, indicating that there could be other unaccounted factors decreasing the daily energy expenditure on days that birds forage at landfill sites, such as a reduction on flight energetics, a change of flight mode (soaring vs flapping), or a decrease on time spent preening.

Interestingly, we found that the relationship between relative foraging time and energy efficiency differed depending on the foraging site. At natural sites, birds with high levels of energy expenditure (low energy efficiency) during foraging, increased the time spent foraging. On the contrary, at landfill sites, birds that were less energy-efficient during foraging spent less time foraging, this effect was stronger during the nonbreeding season (Fig. 5). This divergence is likely to steam from the different characteristics of foraging on landfill waste versus natural prey. Individuals foraging at landfill sites, where large numbers of white storks congregate, are likely to experience easy access to food but also density


**Fig. 4.** (a) Graphical explanation of the structural equation model (SEM) showing the relative contribution of white storks' foraging decisions into the mean overall dynamic body acceleration (ODBA). Black arrows indicate relationships represented in the figure and the grey arrow relationship not represented in the figure. Mean ODBA as a function of daily distance travelled for (b) the breeding season and (c) the non-breeding season; mean ODBA as a function of relative foraging time for (d) the breeding season and (e) the non-breeding season; and mean ODBA as a function of mean foraging ODBA for (f) the breeding season and (g) the non-breeding season. Solid line on landfill sites and dashed line on non-landfill sites.



**Fig. 5.** (a) Graphical explanation of the structural equation model (SEM) showing the relative contribution of white storks' foraging decisions into the mean overall dynamic body acceleration (ODBA). Black arrows indicate relationships represented in the figure and the grey arrow relationship not represented in the figure. Relative foraging time as a function of mean foraging ODBA for (b) the breeding season and (c) the non-breeding season. Solid line on landfill sites and dashed line on non-landfill sites.

dependence effects, such as direct competition from conspecifics (Oro et al., 2013). This could lead to an increase of energy expenditure during foraging due to antagonistic interactions with other individuals, but also to a reduction in foraging time, since birds could be displaced from optimal foraging sites (Burger, 1981). On natural areas, however, white storks hunt large invertebrates and small vertebrates and do not aggregate in such large numbers (Elliott et al., 2020). Thus, an increase of mean

#### Table 3

Estimates from GLMM and LMM explaining (a) relative foraging time, and (b) mean foraging overall dynamic body acceleration (ODBA), while foraging on landfills. Reference level for season is 'breeding'.

	Estimate	SE	t	р
(a) Relative foraging time				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	-1.21	0.11	-11.29	< 0.001
Season	-0.03	0.09	-0.28	0.7795
Specialisation index	0.31	0.19	1.65	0.1062
Season:Specialisation index	-0.11	0.14	-0.79	0.4323
Random effects				
Bird ID   Tag type	0.14			
Tag type	0			
AR(1)	0.25			
Residual variance	1.01			
(b) Foraging ODBA				
Fixed effects				
Intercept	0.16	0.01	11.22	< 0.001
Season	-0.02	0.01	-2.51	0.0120
Specialisation index	0.01	0.01	0.42	0.6756
Season:Specialisation index	0.01	0.01	0.82	0.4142
Random effects				
Bird ID   Tag type	0.01			
Tag type	0.02			
AR(1)	0.10			
Residual variance	0.03			

foraging ODBA is likely to be linked to active hunting, which could then favor an increase in relative foraging time.

Surprisingly, we did not find any evidence that landfill specialists experienced any competitive advantage during landfill exploitation in terms of foraging time and energy efficiency. Thus, our results suggest that landfill use is mainly driven by distance from the nest to the nearest landfill site, rather than by the ability of individuals to exploit this resource. Therefore, it is likely that white storks compete for nests located in close proximity to landfill sites (Itonaga et al., 2011; Janiszewski et al., 2015).

In this study we have quantified one of the aspects required to define optimal foraging strategies: time allocation and energy expenditure related to locomotion. However, we could not quantify energy intake, a key aspect for energetic balances. Natural prey is patchily distributed, and energetic values can be variable. For example, the energetic value of red-swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*), an invasive alien species that occurs in rice fields and is widely consumed by white storks (Ferreira et al., 2019; Negro et al., 2000; Tablado et al., 2010), is ~3 kJ/g (Elvira et al., 1996). On the other hand, landfill waste is abundant, easily accessible and predictable in space and time, and highly energetic (up to 10–25 kJ/g (van Donk et al., 2019, 2017)). Recent evidence shows that white stork nestlings in lberia whose parents exploit landfill sites present better body condition and nutritional status than nestlings whose parents feed on natural resources, which complements our findings (Pineda-Pampliega et al., 2021).

Landfill waste exploitation can also have associated costs, such as higher exposure to heavy metals, poisons, pathogens, and plastics (Ahlstrom et al., 2018; de la Casa-Resino et al., 2014; Plaza and Lambertucci, 2017; Tongue et al., 2019). For example, a recent study of white storks in Iberia found that nestlings from birds foraging on landfill waste had a higher presence of antibiotic-resistant *Escherichia coli* than nestlings from birds feeding on natural resources (Pineda-Pampliega et al., 2021); while another found that nestlings from white storks near landfill sites presented higher blood levels of lead, mercury, selenium,

iron, zinc, and arsenic, which can be toxic at high concentrations (de la Casa-Resino et al., 2014). Moreover, the occurrence of plastics in landfills can lead to their ingestion, which can damage the digestive organs of the birds (Peris, 2003).

Overall, our study shows that white storks nesting in the proximity of landfill sites and foraging there frequently save energy and time, thus exploiting landfill waste can be an advantageous strategy. Increased breeding success and population growth driven by waste exploitation has been described for other bird species (Bialas et al., 2020; Djerdali et al., 2008; Gilbert, 2015; Tauler-Ametller et al., 2017), thus a potential reduction of landfill waste could have dramatic impacts on the population, since alternative food resources might not be available to meet the energetic requirements of such large number of individuals (but see Katzenberger et al., 2019). In light of the European Union directives that will lead to a substantial reduction of landfill waste in the next few years, our results indicate that species that heavily rely on landfill waste will be severely affected and will have to radically change their behaviour, for example by increasing foraging time and energy expenditure while foraging, affecting energetic and time balances. However, it is currently unknown whether alternative foraging resources will be able to sustain these populations in the future.

## Funding

This work was financed by the FEDER Funds through the Operational Competitiveness Factors Program — COMPETE and by National Funds through FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology within the scope of the project 'POCI-01-0145-FEDER-028176', by InBIO (UID/ BIA/50027/2013 and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006821) and FCT/MCTES. ASR, BHM and IC were supported by FCT [grant numbers PTDC/BIA-ECO/28176/2017, DL57/2016/CP1440/CT0023 and SFRH/BD/145323/ 2019]. AMAF was supported by the by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) [grant number NE/K006312], Norwich Research Park Translational Fund, University of East Anglia Innovation Funds and Earth and Life Systems Alliance funds. MA was supported by the NERC [grant number NE/N012070/1]. FM was supported by FCT [grant number IF/01053/2015] and the REN Biodiversity Chair.

#### **CRediT** authorship contribution statement

ASR conceived the study, carried out the statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript; AMAF and FM coordinated the study, and critically revised the manuscript; MA processed data, collected field and behavioural data, and critically revised the manuscript; BHM collected field and behavioural data, and critically revised the manuscript; IC conceived the study, coordinated the study and helped draft the manuscript. All authors gave final approval for publication.

## **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare no competing interests.

## Acknowledgements

We are grateful to João Paulo Silva and Phil Atkinson for assistance in programming the devices, and to Carlos Pacheco, and students and volunteers that have helped tagging and monitoring white storks over the years.

# Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146843.

### References

- Ahlstrom, C.A., Bonnedahl, J., Woksepp, H., Hernandez, J., Olsen, B., Ramey, A.M., 2018. Acquisition and dissemination of cephalosporin-resistant E. coli in migratory birds sampled at an Alaska landfill as inferred through genomic analysis. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25474-w.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss. v067.i01.
- Bialas, J.T., Dylewski, Ł., Tobolka, M., 2020. Determination of nest occupation and breeding effect of the white stork by human-mediated landscape in Western Poland. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 4148–4158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-06639-0.
- Blanchard, B.M., 1987. Size and growth patterns of the Yellowstone grizzly bear. Bears: Their Biology and Management 7, 99–107. https://doi.org/10.2307/3872615.
- Burger, J., 1981. Feeding competition between laughing gulls and herring gulls at a sanitary landfill. Condor 83, 328–335. https://doi.org/10.2307/1367501.
- Catry, I., Encarnação, V., Pacheco, C., Catry, T., Tenreiro, P., da Silva, L.P., Moreira, F., 2017. Recent changes on migratory behaviour of the White stork (Ciconia ciconia) in Portugal: towards the end of migration. Airo 24, 28–35.
- de la Casa-Resino, I., Hernández-Moreno, D., Castellano, A., Pérez-López, M., Soler, F., 2014. Breeding near a landfill may influence blood metals (Cd, Pb, Hg, Fe, Zn) and metalloids (Se, As) in white stork (Ciconia ciconia) nestlings. Ecotoxicology 23, 1377–1386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1280-0.
- Denac, D., 2006. Intraspecific exploitation competition as cause for density dependent breeding success in the white stork. Cowa 29, 391–394. https://doi.org/10.1675/ 1524-4695(2006)29[391:IECACF]2.0.CO;2.
- Djerdali, S., Tortosa, F.S., Hillstrom, L., Doumandji, S., 2008. Food supply and external cues limit the clutch size and hatchability in the White Stork Ciconia ciconia. Acta Ornithologica 43, 145–150. https://doi.org/10.3161/000164508X395252.
- Dosch, J.J., 1997. Diet of nestling laughing gulls in Southern New Jersey. Waterbirds 20, 273–281.
- Duriez, O., Kato, A., Tromp, C., Dell'Omo, G., Vyssotski, A.L., Sarrazin, F., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2014. How cheap is soaring flight in raptors? A preliminary investigation in freelyflying vultures. PLoS One 9. e84887. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084887.
- Elliott, A., Garcia, E.F.J., Boesman, P.F.D., 2020. White Stork (Ciconia ciconia), version 1.0. Birds of the World. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Elvira, B., Gnicola, G., Almodovar, A., 1996. Pike and red swamp crayfish: a new case on predator-prey relationship between aliens in central Spain. J. Fish Biol. 48, 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1996.tb01438.x.
- Ferreira, E., Grilo, F., Mendes, R., Lourenço, R., Santos, S., Petrucci-Fonseca, F., 2019. Diet of the White Stork (Ciconia ciconia) in a heterogeneous Mediterranean landscape: the importance of the invasive Red Swamp Crayfish (Procambarus clarkii). Airo 26, 27–41.
- Gilbert, N., 2015. Movement and Foraging Ecology of Partially Migrant Birds in a Changing World (Doctoral thesis). University of East Anglia.
- Gilbert, N.I., Correia, R.A., Silva, J.P., Pacheco, C., Catry, I., Atkinson, P.W., Gill, J.A., Franco, A.M.A., 2016. Are white storks addicted to junk food? Impacts of landfill use on the movement and behaviour of resident white storks (Ciconia ciconia) from a partially migratory population. Movement Ecology 4, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0070-0.
- Gleiss, A.C., Wilson, R.P., Shepard, E.L.C., 2011. Making overall dynamic body acceleration work: on the theory of acceleration as a proxy for energy expenditure. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00057.x.
- Itonaga, N., Köppen, U., Plath, M., Wallschläger, D., 2011. Declines in breeding site fidelity in an increasing population of White Storks Ciconia ciconia. Ibis 153, 636–639. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2011.01131.x.
- Janiszewski, T., Minias, P., Wojciechowski, Z., 2015. Selective forces responsible for transition to nesting on electricity poles in the White Stork Ciconia ciconia. Arde 103, 39–50. https://doi.org/10.5253/arde.v103i1.a4.
- Johst, K., Brandl, R., Pfeifer, R., 2001. Foraging in a patchy and dynamic landscape: human land use and the white stork. Ecol. Appl. 11, 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2001)011[0060:FIAPAD]2.0.CO;2.
- Katzenberger, J., Tabur, E., Şen, B., İsfendiyaroğlu, S., Erkol, I.L., Oppel, S., 2019. No shortterm effect of closing a rubbish dump on reproductive parameters of an Egyptian Vulture population in Turkey. Bird Conservation International 29, 71–82. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0959270917000326.
- Lefcheck, J.S., 2016. piecewiseSEM: piecewise structural equation modelling in r for ecology, evolution, and systematics. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 573–579. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/2041-210X.12512.
- Lefcheck, J., Byrnes, J., Grace, J., 2016. Package 'piecewiseSEM.' R Package Version 1.1.
- Lenzi, J., González-Bergonzoni, I., Machín, E., Pijanowski, B., Flaherty, E., 2019. The impact of anthropogenic food subsidies on a generalist seabird during nestling growth. Sci. Total Environ. 687, 546–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.485.
- Liaw, A., Wiener, M., 2002. Classification and regression by randomForest. R News 2, 6.
- López-López, P., García-Ripollés, C., Urios, V., 2014. Food predictability determines space use of endangered vultures: implications for management of supplementary feeding. Ecol. Appl. 24, 938–949. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2000.1.
- Nakagawa, S., Johnson, P.C.D., Schielzeth, H., 2017. The coefficient of determination R2 and intra-class correlation coefficient from generalized linear mixed-effects models revisited and expanded. J. R. Soc. Interface 14, 20170213. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2017.0213.
- Negro, J.J., Tella, J.L., Blanco, G., Forero, M.G., Garrido-Fernández, J., 2000. Diet explains interpopulation variation of plasma carotenoids and skin pigmentation in nestling white storks. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 73, 97–101. https://doi.org/10.1086/316724.

- Newsome, T.M., Dellinger, J.A., Pavey, C.R., Ripple, W.J., Shores, C.R., Wirsing, A.J., Dickman, C.R., 2015. The ecological effects of providing resource subsidies to predators. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 24, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12236.
- Oro, D., Genovart, M., Tavecchia, G., Fowler, M.S., Martínez-Abraín, A., 2013. Ecological and evolutionary implications of food subsidies from humans. Ecol. Lett. 16, 1501–1514. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12187.
- Parfitt, J., Barthel, M., Macnaughton, S., 2010. Food waste within food supply chains: quantification and potential for change to 2050. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365, 3065–3081. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2010.0126.
- Patenaude-Monette, M., Bélisle, M., Giroux, J.-F., 2014. Balancing energy budget in a central-place forager: which habitat to select in a heterogeneous environment? PLoS One 9, e102162. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102162.
- Patrick, S.C., Bearhop, S., Bodey, T.W., Grecian, W.J., Hamer, K.C., Lee, J., Votier, S.C., 2015. Individual seabirds show consistent foraging strategies in response to predictable fisheries discards. J. Avian Biol. 46, 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00660.
- Payo-Payo, A., Oro, D., Igual, J.M., Jover, L., Sanpera, C., Tavecchia, G., 2015. Population control of an overabundant species achieved through consecutive anthropogenic perturbations. Ecol. Appl. 25, 2228–2239. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-2090.1.
- Peris, S., 2003. Feeding in urban refuse dumps: ingestion of plastic objects by the White Stork (Ciconia ciconia). Ardeola: revista ibérica de ornitología 50.
- Pineda-Pampliega, J., Ramiro, Y., Herrera-Dueñas, A., Martinez-Haro, M., Hernández, J.M., Aguirre, J.I., Höfle, U., 2021. A multidisciplinary approach to the evaluation of the effects of foraging on landfills on white stork nestlings. Sci. Total Environ. 145197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145197.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., Heisterkamp, S., Van Willigen, B., Maintainer, R., 2017. Package 'nlme.' Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models, Version 3.
- Plaza, P.I., Lambertucci, S.A., 2017. How are garbage dumps impacting vertebrate demography, health, and conservation? Global Ecology and Conservation 12, 9–20. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2017.08.002.
- Plaza, P.I., Lambertucci, S.A., 2018. More massive but potentially less healthy: black vultures feeding in rubbish dumps differed in clinical and biochemical parameters with wild feeding birds. PeerJ 6, e4645. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4645.
- Pons, J.-M., Migot, P., 1995. Life-history strategy of the herring gull: changes in survival and fecundity in a population subjected to various feeding conditions. J. Anim. Ecol. 64, 592–599. https://doi.org/10.2307/5802.
- Ripley, B., Venables, B., Bates, D.M., Hornik, K., Gebhardt, A., Firth, D., Ripley, M.B., 2013. Package 'mass.' Cran R 538.
- Shepard, E.L.C., Wilson, R.P., Halsey, L.G., Quintana, F., Laich, A.G., Gleiss, A.C., Liebsch, N., Myers, A.E., Norman, B., 2008a. Derivation of body motion via appropriate smoothing of acceleration data. Aquat. Biol. 4, 235–241. https://doi.org/10.3354/ab00104.

- Shepard, E.L.C., Wilson, R.P., Quintana, F., Laich, A.G., Liebsch, N., Albareda, D.A., Halsey, L.G., Gleiss, A., Morgan, D.T., Myers, A.E., Newman, C., Macdonald, D.W., 2008b. Identification of animal movement patterns using tri-axial accelerometry. Endanger. Species Res. 10, 47–60. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00084.
- Steigerwald, E.C., Igual, J.-M., Payo-Payo, A., Tavecchia, G., 2015. Effects of decreased anthropogenic food availability on an opportunistic gull: evidence for a size-mediated response in breeding females. Ibis 157, 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12252. Stephens, D.W., Krebs, J.R., 1986. Foraging Theory. Princeton University Press.
- Tablado, Z., Tella, J.L., Sánchez-Zapata, J.A., Hiraldo, F., 2010. The paradox of the long-term positive effects of a North American crayfish on a European community of predators. Conserv. Biol. 24, 1230–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01483.x.
- Tauler-Ametller, H., Hernández-Matías, A., Pretus, J.L., Real, J., 2017. Landfills determine the distribution of an expanding breeding population of the endangered Egyptian Vulture Neophron percnopterus. Ibis 159, 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ibi.12495.
- Tongue, A.D.W., Reynolds, S.J., Fernie, K.J., Harrad, S., 2019. Flame retardant concentrations and profiles in wild birds associated with landfill: a critical review. Environ. Pollut. 248, 646–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.103.
- van Donk, S., Camphuysen, K.C.J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., van der Meer, J., 2017. The most common diet results in low reproduction in a generalist seabird. Ecology and Evolution 7, 4620–4629. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3018.
- van Donk, S., Shamoun-Baranes, J., van der Meer, J., Camphuysen, K.C.J., 2019. Foraging for high caloric anthropogenic prey is energetically costly. Movement Ecology 7, 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-019-0159-3.
- Weiser, E.L., Powell, A.N., 2010. Does garbage in the diet improve reproductive output of glaucous gulls? Condor 112, 530–538. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2010.100020.
- Wright, J., Both, C., Cotton, P.A., Bryant, D., 1998. Quality vs. quantity: energetic and nutritional trade-offs in parental provisioning strategies. Journal of Animal Ecology 67, 620–634.
- Ydenberg, R.C., Welham, C.V.J., Schmid-Hempel, R., Schmid-Hempel, P., Beauchamp, G., 1994. Time and energy constraints and the relationships between currencies in foraging theory. Behav. Ecol. 5, 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/5.1.28.
- Zurell, D., Eggers, U., Kaatz, M., Rotics, S., Sapir, N., Wikelski, M., Nathan, R., Jeltsch, F., 2015. Individual-based modelling of resource competition to predict densitydependent population dynamics: a case study with white storks. Oikos 124, 319–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01294.